

2010



DEPARTAMENTO DE CIÊNCIAS DA VIDA

FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIA UNIVERSIDADE DE COIMBRA

Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal diversity and composition in pastures of the Azores: assessing the impact of management practices

Catarina Alexandra Drumonde Melo

2010

Catarina Melo



DEPARTAMENTO DE CIÊNCIAS DA VIDA

FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIA UNIVERSIDADE DE COIMBRA

Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal diversity and composition in pastures of the Azores: assessing the impact of management practices

Tese apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Biologia, na especialidade de Ecologia, realizada sob a orientação científica da Professora Doutora Helena Freitas (Universidade de Coimbra) e do Professor Doutor Paulo A. V. Borges (Universidade dos Açores)

Catarina Alexandra Drumonde Melo

2010

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank my supervisors Prof. Dr. Helena Freitas and Prof. Dr. Paulo Borges for their encouragement, patient supervision and constructive criticisms. I will always be grateful to Prof. Dr. Paulo Borges, for being the person who most contributed to my scientific training.

Special thanks to Prof. Dr. Raimundo Cabrera and Dr. Maria Jaizme-Vega for their friendship, help, advice, knowledge that provided a stimulating, productive and enjoyable work environment during part of my study period in ULL (Tenerife). I would like to thank to the Instituto Canario de Investigaciones Agrarias (ICIA) for logistical support to my experiences in Tenerife, especially to Mirriam and Paulito. I also thank to Susana for her advice, knowledge and suggestions with molecular techniques and helpful discussions, and for providing to me friendly working conditions in Coimbra Lab during part of my study period. I am grateful to Dr. C. Walker for his comments and help in spores' identification and description. Special thanks to my dearest friend Clara Gaspar, for her friendship, advices, help with statistical analysis and suggestions. I would also like to thank to all members of Centro de Biotecnologia dos Açores (CBA) for their friendship and understanding, especially to Prof. Dr. Artur Machado for his encouragement during the last step of my PhD.

I gratefully acknowledge financial support for this research that was provided by the Portuguese Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia to my PhD grant (SFRH/BD/18355/2004).

To my parents for keeping me motivated and for believing in me, especially to my mother for travelling with me during my study periods in Tenerife and Coimbra, and for taking care of my son Gustavo.

Special thanks to my husband Vasco for helping in all the field work, for his patience, understanding, love and encouragement during this task.

Finally, and "because the last are the first" to my sons, Martim and Gustavo for all the love and affection that helped me recover in the most difficult times of this task, and to Gustavo for all the companionship and sharing over the past 5 years.

Aos meus filhos.....

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Abstract	13
Resumo	15
Chapter I	19
General Introduction	21
1. The importance of soil microorganisms	21
2. Mycorrhizal fungi	22
3. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	23
3.1. The AMF life cycle	25
3.2. Paris- and Arum- type colonisation	26
3.3. Ecology of Arbuscular Mycorrhizae	28
3.3.1. Host specificity	28
3.3.2. Plant succession and mycorrhizal colonisation	29
3.4. Genetics of AMF	30
4. Arbuscular mycorrhiza	32
4.1. Nutritional benefits	32
4.2. Other beneficial features	34
5. Identification, systematic, phylogeny and diversity of the Glomeromycota	.35
5.1. Systematics and phylogeny of the Glomeromycota	35
6. Methods for AMF identification	39
6.1. Morphological methods	39
6.2. Molecular methods	41
6.2.1. Marker genes for AMF community studies	42

7. AMF and Agriculture	43
8. Study areas	45
8.1.1. Island overview	45
8.1.2. Studied pastures	46
8.2. Land use history and soil management	48
8.2.1. Land use in past	48
8.2.2. Land use today	50
9. Aims of this dissertation	52
Chapter II	
Species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in semi-natu pastures from Terceira Island (Azores)	ral and intensive
1. Introduction	55
2. Materials and methods	59
2.1. Study sites	59
2.2. Sample collection	61
2.3. Study plant	61
2.4. Soil analyses	62
2.5. Establishment of a trap culture	62
2.6. AMF spore extraction and identification	63
2.7. Data analysis	65
3. Results	66
3.1. AMF species recorded	66
3.2. Species descriptions	68
3.3. AMF species composition	77

3.4. Soil nutrient parameters	83
3.5. AMF spore density	84
4. Discussion	86
Chapter III	
Seasonal dynamics of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in roots of <i>Holc lanatus</i> L. in semi-natural and intensive pastures in Terceira island (Azores)	us 93
1 .Introduction	95
2. Materials and methods	99
2.1. Experimental design	99
2.2. Site description	99
2.3. Study plant	101
2.4. Rhizosphere extraction	102
2.5. Soil analyses	102
2.6. AMF root colonisation assessment	103
2.7. Diversity of AMF communities	103
2.7.1. Root sampling	103
2.7.2. DNA extraction from roots	103
2.7.3. PCR and DGGE analysis	104
2.8. Detection of dominant AMF species (Development of molecular	
markers)	104
2.8.1. Establishment of trap culture	104
2.8.2. Spore assessment	105
2.8.3. Culture of AMF	105
2.8.4. DNA extraction	105

2.8.5. PCR amplification	106
2.8.6. DNA purification and sequencing	
2.8.7. Molecular identification of AMF in the roots	107
2.9. Data analysis	107
3. Results	108
3.1. Root colonisation	108
3.2. Species richness	112
3.3. Incidence of Glomus etunicatum, Glomus intraradices, Glomus m claroideum and Glomus microaggregatum	osseae, Glomus 114
3.4. Soil nutrient parameters	122
4. Discussion	124
Chapter IV	
Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to control of root-feeding r the perennial grass <i>Holcus lanatus</i> L. in Terceira Island (Azores)	nematodes in 133
1. Introduction	135
2. Material and methods	138
2.1. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	138
2.2. AMF root colonisation assessment	139
2.3. Spore assessment	139
2.4. Nematode inoculation procedure	140
2.5. Experiment	140
2.6. Harvest and data collection	141
2.7. Statistical analysis	142
3. Results	142

3.1. Effect of AMF on plant development	142
3.2. Effect of AMF on root-feeders	146
3.3. Mycorrhizal colonisation	148
4. Discussion	149
Chapter V	
The productivity of the Azorean pastures benefits from the indigenous arb mycorrhizal fungi (AMF)	uscular 153
1. Introduction	155
2. Material and methods	159
2.1. Study plants	159
2.2. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi collection and culture	159
2.3. AMF root colonisation assessment	160
2.4. Spores assessment	160
2.5. Experimental design	161
2.6. Harvest and data collection	162
2.7. Data analysis	162
3. Results	163
3.1. Mycorrhizal colonisation	163
3.2. Mycorrhizal dependency	165
3.3. Effects of AMF species on plant growth	165
4. Discussion	170
Chapter VI	177
General conclusions	179
References	185

Abstract

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are ubiquitous, underground, symbiotic associations involving a wide diversity of plants (approximately 80%) and obligate symbiotic fungi of the phylum Glomeromycota thought to have originated 400–500 million years ago. In this intimate association the obligate biotrophic fungi provide terrestrial plants with minerals, nutrients (particularly inorganic phosphate) and water increasing the host resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, including pathogens, water limitation and environmental pollutants in return for photosynthates. Diversity of AMF is generally higher in natural and semi-natural systems than in more intensively managed agroecosystems, where it can be strongly reduced. The objective of this study was to investigate whether land use type can be characterized by their arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal (AMF) communities, and to test the potential effect of AMF indigenous as inoculants on crops productivity and host tolerance to root-knot *Meloidogyne incognita*.

AMF community structure associated to Holcus lanatus L. root was studied during two years in two land uses: semi-natural (Pico do Galhardo- PX; Terra Brava- TB) and intensive (Agualva 1- RP1; Agualva 2- RP2) pastures of Terceira Island (Azores). The spore community composition of AMF associated to Holcus lanatus L. root was determined by taxonomic identification of AMF spores. Thirthy-nine AMF species representing eight genera were detected in the land uses studied. The most representative genera of AMF spore community were Glomus, Acaulospora and Scutellospora. Land use type had no significant effect on AMF spore diversity and total abundance. This also was confirmed by molecular methods (PCR-DGGE) on roots of *H. lanatus*. In Azorean pastureland the input of fertilisers is lower than average inputs to pastures on the European mainland, which presumably did not contribute to occurrence of an evident pattern of AMF diversity. However, the reverse was observed for colonisation of different AMF structures (arbuscules, vesicles and hyphae) on H. lanatus root, where the highest of AMF colonisation was in semi-natural use. Colonisation of different AMF structures on *H. lanatus* root showed a seasonal pattern between sampling dates. The higher abundance of AMF structures in the summer than in autumn/winter could be related to nutrient exchanges, host metabolic pathway, phenology and climatic variations.

Striking differences were found in AMF spores composition between land uses. Species of *Glomus* were dominant in intensive land uses, while *Acaulospora* and Scutellospora predominated in semi-natural ones. Different strategies of colonisation among AMF and soil nutrient levels may be the most important factors influencing the AMF community. Members of Glomaceae have a highly infective extra-radical mycelium that could allow colonising immediately plant roots (early succession), while members of Gigasporaceae are only capable of propagation via spore dispersal, therefore colonize plant roots more slowly than members of Glomaceae. Both spore densities of Glomus, Acaulospora and Scutellospora genera, as well as root colonisation were related with soil nutrients (N, K, Mg, Ca, OM), but no correlation was found with soil phosphorus (P). Our results confirm that the degree of AMF benefit to a host plant depends on plant species. Lolium perenne L. was the most mycorrhizal dependent plant (DM= 62%), followed by Holcus lanatus L. (DM= 40%) which resulted in an increase of foliar biomass more than 30 % in both plant species caused by inoculation with native AMF. Conversely, Lolium multiflorum L. was the less mycorrhizal dependent (DM= 27%) plant and also the less colonised.

In more than 90% of the samples, inoculation with the native AMF conferred protection to *H. lanatus* from the root-knot *Meloidogyne incognita*. Among the mechanism proposed to explain the protective effect of AMF, we suggest that plant growth promotion by AMF, and direct competition between AMF and the nematode for host colonisation sites and photosynthates were involved.

We conclude that: either AMF spore diversity or AMF diversity on *H. lanatus* root were independent of land use intensity; However, in the intensive management regime, there was a trend to an increased incidence of certain AMF, especially from the *Glomus* indicating a potentially severe loss of ecosystem functions under this land use type; colonisation of different AMF structures was higher in semi-natural land use and showed a marked seasonal pattern, dependent of plant phenology and metabolic pathway and climatic conditions. Inoculation with indigenous AMF significantly increased plant productivity and tolerance to root-knot *M. incognita*, but degree of AMF benefit to a host plant varies in function of plant species. Thus, AMF may play an important role in ecosystems functioning, since their appropriate management can reduce the use of chemical and energy in agriculture and consequently lead to more economical and sustainable production systems.

Resumo

Os fungos micorrízicos arbusculares (FMA) são associações simbióticas envolvendo uma ampla diversidade de plantas (aproximadamente 80%), e fungos simbiontes obrigatórios do filo Glomeromycota cuja origem estima-se ter ocorrido há 400-500 milhões de anos. Nesta íntima associação o fungo biotrófico obrigatório supre a planta com minerais, nutrientes (particularmente fosfato inorgânico) e água, aumentando deste modo, a resistência da planta hospedeira a stresses bióticos e abióticos, incluindo agentes patogénicos, stress hidríco e poluentes ambientais em troca de produtos fotossíntetizados. A diversidade de FMA é geralmente mais elevada em sistemas naturais e semi-naturais do que em agro-ecossistemas mais intensivos, onde poderá ser fortemente reduzida. O objectivo deste estudo foi investigar se as comunidades de fungos micorrízicos poderão servir de ferramentas na caracterização do tipo de maneio do solo, e testar o potencial efeito da inoculação com fungos nativos na produtividade das culturas, bem como na sua tolerância a nemátodes formadores de galhas - *Meloidogyne incognita*.

A estrutura da comunidade micorrízica associada às raízes de Holcus lanatus L. foi estudada durante dois anos em dois sistemas de uso do solo: pastagens seminaturais (Pico do Galhardo- PX; Terra Brava- TB) e intensivas (Agualva 1- RP1; Agualva 2- RP2) da ilha Terceira (Açores). A composição da comunidade de FMA associada a H. lanatus foi determinada tendo em conta as características morfológicas dos esporos de FMA. Nos dois sistemas de maneio do solo foram detectadas 39 espécies de FMA distribuídas por 8 géneros. Os géneros mais representativos foram Glomus, Acaulospora e Scutellospora. A diversidade de esporos de FMA, assim como, a sua abundância não foi afectada pelo tipo de maneio do solo. Este resultado também foi confirmado por via molecular (PCR-DGGE), em relação à diversidade de espécies da comunidade fúngica nas raízes de H. lanatus. Os níveis de fertilizantes aplicados nas pastagens açorianas são em média muito mais baixos, do que os aplicados em pastagens do continente Europeu, o que presumivelmente não terá contribuído para a obtenção de um evidente padrão de diversidade micorrízica. Contudo, a quantificação da colonização das diferentes estruturas micorrízicas (arbúsculos, vesículas e hifas) exibiu o padrão diferente, tendo sido mais elevada nas pastagens semi-naturais do que nas intensivas. Além disso, as diferentes estruturas micorrízicas exibiram um marcado padrão sazonal entre épocas

de amostragem, tendo sido mais abundantes durante o Verão do que no Outono/Inverno. Este facto, poderá estar relacionado com as trocas de nutrientes, a via metabólica do carbono da planta hospedeira, o estado fenológico e com as variações climáticas. Foram encontradas profundas diferenças na composição de espécies entre os dois sistemas de uso do solo. Nos sistemas semi-naturais os géneros mais representativos foram Acaulospora e Scutellospora, enquanto nos intensivos dominaram as espécies pertencentes ao género Glomus. O tipo de estratégia de colonização adoptado pelos diferentes FMA, bem como, os níveis de nutrientes do solo, poderão ser os principais factores responsáveis por essas diferenças na comunidade micorrízica. Os membros da família Glomeraceae possuem um micélio extra-radicular altamente infectivo que lhes permite uma rápida colonização radicular, enquanto os membros da família Gigasporaceae, visto serem apenas capazes de se propagarem via dispersão dos esporos apresentam uma taxa de colonização mais lenta. A densidade de esporos dos géneros Glomus, Acaulospora e Scutellospora assim como, a colonização radicular estiveram correlacionados com o nível de nutrientes do solo (N, K, Mg, Ca, MO), excepto com o fósforo (P). Os nossos resultados confirmam que, os benefícios resultantes da relação simbiótica dependem da espécie de planta hospedeira. Lolium perenne L. foi a planta que exibiu maior dependência micorrízica (DM= 62%) seguida de Holcus lanatus L. (DM= 40%), o que originou um incremento na biomassa foliar superior a 30 % em ambas as espécies de plantas. Contrariamente, Lolium multiflorum Lam. foi a espécie de planta com menor percentagem de colonização micorrizica, e por conseguinte a menos dependente da micorrização (DM= 27%).

A inoculação com FMA nativos aumentou a tolerância de *H. lanatus* à infecção por *Meloidogyne incognita* em mais de 90 % das amostras. Entre os vários mecanismos propostos para explicar o efeito protector dos FMA, destaca-se o aumento no vigor da planta resultante da colonização micorrízica, e a competição por espaço e compostos fotossíntetizados que se estabelece entre o FMA e o nemátode.

Com base neste estudo podemos concluir que: quer a diversidade de esporos de FMA, como a diversidade de FMA que colonizam as raízes de *H. lanatus* não dependem da intensidade do sistema de maneio; no entanto, nos sistemas intensivos há uma tendência para uma maior ocorrência de certos FMA, especialmente os pertencentes ao género *Glomus*, assistindo-se por conseguinte a uma potencial perda

da funcionalidade dos ecossistemas neste tipo de maneio do solo; a colonização das diferentes estruturas micorrízicas foi mais elevada nas pastagens semi-naturais, e exibiu uma marca sazonalidade relacionada com a fenologia e metabolismo de carbono da planta hospedeira, e com as condições climáticas. A inoculação com FMA nativos aumentou significativamente a produtividade das plantas e tolerância à infecção por nemátodos galhadores – *M. incógnita*, mas todavia depende da especificidade da planta hospedeira. Deste modo, os FMA poderão desempenhar um papel importante na funcionalidade dos ecossistemas, uma vez que o seu uso adequado poderá reduzir a aplicação de produtos químicos, bem como, os custos energéticos na agricultura e consequentemente conduzir a uma agricultura mais sustentável e económica.

CHAPTER I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

General introduction

In almost all terrestrial ecosystems mutualistic interactions between plants and microorganisms in the soil play a major role for the structure and dynamics of plant communities (van der Heijden *et al.* 1998). An important group of mutualists are Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), an exceptional group of beneficial fungi. They are present in most soils and are capable of forming associations with the root systems of the great majority of plant species, where they act as bioregulators and protectors, and facilitate the uptake of mineral nutrients (Smith and Read, 1997).

1. The importance of soil microorganisms

Much of the terrestrial biosphere lives in the soil (Brussaard et al., 1997). Although soil provides a physical substrate for almost all human activities, the study of soil biota remains relatively uncommon, especially in systems such as conventional agriculture where soil is used exhaustively used (Whipps, 2001; Barea et al., 2005). This is inattention is partly to a lack of recognition of the role of soil biota on determining soil's chemical and physical properties and potential productivity (Whipps, 2001; Barea et al., 2005). In addition, knowledge of soil microbial diversity is partly limited by taxonomic and methodological challenges associated with studying these organisms (Torsvik and Øvreås, 2002; Kirk et al., 2004). The soil organisms are not only inhabitants of the soil, but they are also integral parts of it; they influence such diverse properties as hydrology, aeration and gas composition. These factors can have a major effect on primary production through the decomposition of organic residuals (Brussaard et al., 1997). The current shift toward sustainable land use, has contributed to an increasing awareness of soil biota among the planet's forms of life (Gianinazzi et al., 2008). Microorganisms' activities in the so-called "rhizosphere" promote the establishment, development, nutrition and health of plants, and are mutually, enabled by physical and nutritional support from the exudates of roots (Barea and Jeffries, 1995).

There are three main groups of beneficial microorganisms in soil-plant systems, and these groups are considered key to the sustainability of agro-ecosystems, namely: mycorrhizal fungi, N_2 -fixing bacteria, and plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria

(PGPR). N₂-fixing bacteria contribute to the symbiotic fixation of atmospheric N, which represent the essential access of nitrogen (N) in ecosystems (Barea and Olivares, 1998). Rhizobacteria which colonise the rhizosphere, are distinguished by their effects in promoting plant rooting and the biogeochemical cycling of plant nutrients (Barea, 1997). Mycorrhizal fungi are ubiquitous plant mutualists that comprise a large fraction of fungal biomass in the rhizosphere. These symbiotic organisms are found inside roots, in the rhizosphere itself and in the bulk soil, and they interact in all these zones with other organisms (Fitter and Garbaye, 1994; Azcón-Aguilar et al., 2002). The internal mycelium interacts principally with the root itself, though at the same time, it can interact with other organisms and even with pathogenic fungi. The AMF external mycelium developed in the soil improve plant's nutrient and water uptake and, interact with many organisms, such as bacteria, other fungi, protozoa, nematodes, arthropods and even large animal such as mammals (Fitter and Garbaye, 1994; Azcón-Aguilar et al., 2002). In this association, the obligate biotrophic fungi provides terrestrial plants with minerals, nutrients (particularly inorganic phosphate) and water, increasing the host resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, including pathogens, water limitation and environmental pollutants in exchange for photosynthates (Smith and Read, 1997).

2. Mycorrhizal fungi

Among favourable plant-microbe interactions, the mycorrhizal symbiosis is now known to be an essential component of any plant community due to the beneficial role of fungi on plant growth and protection (Smith and Read, 1997). The term "mycorrhiza" was proposed for the first time in 1985 by the botanist A.B. Frank, to describe the peculiar association between tree roots and ectomycorrhizal fungi. It comes from the (Greek) *mycos-rhiza*, which means "fungus-root". Fossil records from the Devonian of the first vascular plants show that arbuscular mycorrhizal associations were present in underground rhizomatous structures, confirming the presence of this mutualistic association at least 400 million years ago (Remy *et al.*, 1994). Evidence that the first land plants already possessed this association suggests that their aquatic ancestors also harboured these fungi. Redecker *et al.* (2000) have documented spores from the Ordovician period (460 Ma) that are similar to present-day spores of Glomalean fungi, indicating that earlier associations with non-vascular plants were likely.

Mycorrhizal fungi are present in almost all terrestrial habitats from aquatic (Nielsen *et al.*, 2004; Wolfe *et al.*, 2006) ecosystems to deserts (Díez *et al.*, 2002; Shi *et al.*, 2007) tropical forests (Husband *et al.*, 2002; Mangan *et al.*, 2004), at high latitudes and altitudes (Allen, 1991). It has been estimated that mycorrhizal fungi form symbiotic associations with more than 85 % of plant species (Smith and Read, 1997). Only a few botanic families as Crucifereae, Ciperaceae, Poligonaceae, Juncaceae and Chenopodiaceae have non-mycorrhizal plant species (Brundrett, 2002; Peterson *et al.*, 2004). There is evidence that these nonmycotrophic groups may have mycorrhizal fungal invasions, though the physiological relationships are not well understood (Allen, 1991; Peterson *et al.*, 2004).

Seven different categories of mycorrhizal symbiosis have been distinguished on the basis of their morphological characteristics and the fungal and plant species involved, namely: arbuscular mycorrhiza, ectomycorrhiza, ectendomycorrhiza, arbutoid mycorrhiza, monotropoid mycorrhiza, ericoid mycorrhiza and orchid mycorrhizas(Smith and Read, 1997; Peterson *et al.*, 2004; Finlay, 2008).

3. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

Arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (AMF) belong to the phylum Glomeromycota, and form association with most of land plants (about 80-90%) (Smith & Read, 1997). These fungi are obligate biotrophic symbionts, since they can only complete their life cycle in the presence of their host plant. The main morphological characteristic of these fungi is the repeated dichotomous branching as they penetrate the cortical cells of the root to form of arbuscules, highly branched tree-like structures typical of colonisation structures by these fungi. Initially, the fungus grows between the cortical cells, but it then rapidly penetrates the host cell wall of the host and develops inside the cortical cells.

In this type of association neither the cell walls of the fungus or the host cellular membrane are ruptured. As the fungus develops, the host cellular membrane invaginates and surrounds the fungus, forming a new compartment where material of high molecular complexity it is deposited (Bonfante & Perotto 1995). This apoplastic space prevents direct contact between the plant and the cytoplasm of the fungus, while allowing the transfer of nutrients between symbionts. Thus, arbuscules (Fig. 1)

are the main sites of metabolite exchange and the primary physiological structures of the symbiosis. They generally have a short life span (less than 15 days), after which they degenerate, returning the cell to normal activity (Smith and Smith, 1990).Other structures produced by some AMF include vesicles, auxiliary cells and asexual spores. Vesicles are globose, inter- or intracellular, between 30 to 100 mm in size and rich in lipids (Fig. 1). Their primary function is to reserve organs, however, they can also serve as reproductive propagules for the fungus.

All arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi form arbuscules, but some such as *Gigaspora* spp. or *Scutellospora* spp., do not form vesicles. This observation underlies, the argument to change the designation of "vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhiza" to "arbuscular mycorrhiza" (Walker, 1995). AMF can produce auxiliary cells in the extraradical mycelium (Peterson *et al.* 2004; Smith & Read 1997). Auxiliary cells are initiated as lateral branches that rapidly expand into globose structures of varying colour and with ornamented walls. They can occur singly or in clusters. Auxiliary cells formed in the soil may be "nodulated" or "coiled", and their function is unknown (Peterson *et al.*, 2004). Reproductive spores (Fig. 1) are produced on the extraradical hyphae, but they can also grow within the colonised roots, e.g. for *Glomus intraradices, Glomus clarum* and *Glomus fasciculatum* (Schenck & Smith 1982). Some AMF also form sporacarps or spore clusters (Redecker *et al.* 2007).



Figure 1. Structures of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi outside and within the root of the phytobiont. (Adapted from Brundrett and Abbott, 2002).

3.1 The AMF life cycle

AMF are obligate biotrophs that live symbiotically in the roots of the host plants. For the establishment of the symbiosis, the key events in the life cycle of AMF are spore germination and the pre-symbiotic mycelial growth phase, differential hyphal branching, appressorium formation, root colonisation and arbuscule development (Giovannetti *et al.* 1994).

Under favourable environmental conditions, the AMF spores germinate and the hyphae colonise susceptible roots (Smith and Read, 1997). AMF are able to distinguish their hosts from other species, both non-mycorrhizal or non-arbuscular mycorrhiza through chemical of signals emitted by the roots to the fungus. These signals promote a specific morphogenesis, of profuse hyphal branching and proliferation (Giovannetti *et al.* 1994). Among the compounds released in root exudates, flavonoids have been suggested to be involved in the stimulation of precontact hypal growth and branching (Giovannetti and Sbrana, 1998). However, these compounds are not strictly necessary for the establishment of mycorrhizal symbiose (Bécard *et al.*, 1995). Similar to the branching factors, which are produced by plants as a compatibility signal for the fungus, the branched fungal hyphae produced a diffusible signal to the roots (Kosuta *et al.* 2003). Thus, a "crosstalk" between the plant and the fungus is established.

After the recognising the host plant root, the hyphae form appressoria on the root epidermis (the root hair or other epidermal cell). AMF penetrate the root surface by enzymatic activity or mechanical force (Bonfante and Perotto 1995). The entry of the fungus is assisted by the plant by the establishment of a special cytoskeletal arrangement, the prepenetration apparatus (Genre *et al.* 2005). The appressorium formation is followed by hyphal penetration of the cell lumen and proliferation of the intraradical hyphae in the upper cell layers of the root cortex. Furthermore, the hyphae enter the middle and inner cortex of the root. However, the fungus never enters meristems or vascular cylinders, perhaps because of its inability to degrade suberin and lignin in the endodermal cell walls (Bonfante and Perotto 1995). When growing inside fungi are always surrounded by the intact plasma membrane of the plant host. In the deeper cortical layers, the fungal hyphae may form arbuscules. As part of this intracellular development, the periarbuscular membrane where nutrient exchange occurs between the plant and the wall of the fungus, is formed from the plasma

membrane (Gianinazzi-Pearson, 1996). Once fungal colonisation has been established in the root, extensive growth of the extraradical mycelium (ERM) begins. This is well adapted to the exploration of soil pores, mineral nutrient uptake and association with soil particles and, thus, stabilisation of soil aggregates. The ERM forms a complex network, that can link the roots of plants of the same or different species (Smith and Read 1997). The life cycle of the AMF is completed by the formation of spores or sporocarps on the ERM or rarely inside the roots.

3.2. Paris- and Arum- type colonisation

There are three important components of any mycorrhizal root systems: the root itself and two associated mycelial systems, one within the root apoplast and the other in the soil (Brundrett, 2004). The two mycelial systems grow and develop in diverse environments: the first it is very constant through root homeostasis, and the second is highly variable. According to Gallaud (1905), depending on the species of plant, mycorrhizal colonisation can fall into one of two general anatomical groups, the *Arum-type* and *Paris-type* (Figs. 2; 3).



Figure 2. The *Arum*-type of AMF. Root of *Holcus lanatus* L. stained with ink, 40- X magnification. The start shows the intracellular hyphae with intercellular branches forming arbuscules.



Figure 3. The *Paris*-type of AMF. Root of *Holcus lanatus* L. stained with ink, 40- X magnification. The start shows the intracellular hyphal coils.

In plants with *Arum* AMF associations (Fig. 2), the fungus spreads relatively rapidly in the root cortex via intercellular hyphae, which extend along well developed intercellular air spaces. Short side branches penetrate the cortical cells and branch dichotomously to produce characteristic arbuscules. Hyphal coils may be formed, particularly in the hypodermal (exodermal) cell layers of the root, but they are not usually a major component of the intraradical mycelium (Smith and Read, 1997; Brundrett, 2004). In contrast, in plants with *Paris* AMF associations (Fig. 3), colonisation of the roots is characterised by the extensive development of intracellular coiled hyphae that spread directly from cell to cell within the cortex. Arbuscules grow from these coils, and there is very little, if any, intercellular growth.

The two AMF types differ not only in their morphology but also in the kinetics of root colonisation. The development of *Paris*-type colonisation within the root is much slower than in the *Arum*-type organism (Azcon- Aguilar *et al.* 1994). However, the two types of colonisation have similar metabolic activity. Whereas arbuscules appear to be the main site of P transfer to Arum-type (Ezawa *et al.*, 2002), in the Paris-type, transfer might occur in both hyphal and arbuscular coils (Van Aarle *et al.*, 2005)

The type of AMF colonisation seems to be largely determined by the host plant genotype, as the same AMF species known to form the *Arum*-type in some host plant species, and produces the *Paris*-type in other (Demuth and Weber 1990; Sykorová *et al.* 2003; Ahulu *et al.* 2006).

3.3. Ecology of Arbuscular Mycorrhizae

3.3.1. Host specificity

The varying responses of plants to mycorrhizal infection have a profound impact on plant interactions and community structure. Depending on their response to mycorrhizal colonisation, plant species have been classified in three categories: obligate mycorrhizal, facultatively mycorrhizal or non-mycorrhizal, if they have high, intermediate or variable or no level of mycorrhizal association, respectively (Brundrett and Abbott, 2002; Brundrett, 2004). Obligate mycorrhizal plants are defined as those that will not survive to reproductive maturity in their natural habitats without their mycorrhizal fungi, while facultatively mycorrhizal plants have intermediate associations, where the plant's benefits are conditional on soil fertility.

Experiments have shown that these plants benefit from AMF only when soil P levels are relatively low. These plants typically have relatively long, narrow and highly branched roots with long root hairs compared to obligately mycorrhizal species. Facultatively mycorrhizal plants apparently have the capacity to limit the extent of their associations to reduce costs in cases where fungi provide little benefit (Koide & Schreiner, 1992). Non-mycorrhizal plants have roots that are highly resistant to colonisation by mycorrhizal fungi and do not form functional associations (Brundrett, 2002; Brundrett, 2004).

The responsiveness of plants to mycorrhizal colonisation further varies between species and cultivars and is markedly influenced by nutrient supply. This responsiveness is frequently referred to as mycorrhizal dependency and expressed as the percentage difference in dry matter between mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal plants grown in the same soil (Gerdemann, 1975). Responsiveness is strongly affected by both the capacity of the plant to absorb nutrients independently and its capacity to support a heterotrophic symbiont with 'excess' photosynthate are important and may be genetically and environmentally influenced (Read and Smith, 1997). Variation in mycorrhizal dependency among species, have potentially important applications to agroecosystem functioning and management.

3.3.2. Plant succession and mycorrhizal colonisation

In natural ecosystems, unrelated plant species with different nutrient uptake strategies and different AMF responsiveness occur together. Experimental evidence suggests that warm-season perennial C_4 grasses and perennial forbs are highly responsive to AMF colonisation (in terms of dry weight accumulation) and some even obligate mycorrhizal plants. Conversely, cool-season perennial C_3 grasses and annual and biennial forbs are both less responsive and somewhat less colonised (Wilson and Hartnett, 1998). The responsive warm-season grasses normally have less fibrous root systems, lower specific root length and a more plastic architecture than cool-season grasses, and their degree of branching is reduced when they become colonised. All of these characters are regularly associated with high responsiveness. Annual and biennial species with lower responsiveness are often associated with disturbed patches where interspecific competition is relatively low. In these environments investment in finer roots with high turnover rates appears to be a more advantageous strategy. Plant with facultative AMF status can presumably overcome occasional nutrient deficiencies and competitive stresses (Smith and Read, 1997).

AMF can thus influence the dominant plants in a community by mediating competition between plants of differing mycotrophy (Grime *et al.* 1987; Wilson and Hartnett 1998; van der Heijden *et al.* 1998; Hartnett and Wilson 1999; Eom *et al.* 2000; Hart *et al.*, 2003). This interaction can be extended to a model of succession where the mycotrophy of dominant plants changes as the community develops (Johnson *et al.* 1991).

During primary succession only non-mycorrhizal pioneer plants can colonise, due to the lack of AMF propagules which gives the advantage to these plants (Janos, 1980). During this time of dominance by non-mycorrhizal plants, succession may be slowed or completely arrested until the establishment of facultatively mycorrhizal plants begins to build a community of AMF. This period paves the way for the establishment of obligately mycorrhizal plants, which eventually dominate the community (Gemma and Koske1997). In this way, the mycotrophy of the dominant plants can be used to indicate the successional trajectory of a community (Reeves *et al.*, 1979).

There is evidence that AMF mediated sharing of nutrients (e.g., nitrogen and phosphorus) allows the survival of subordinate seedlings that act as nutrient sinks to

Chapter I

the dominant source plants (Grime et al. 1987). It has also been suggested that invasive plants can act as parasites, using the web of AMF to draw resources from native vegetation (Marler et al. 1999). Whatever the case, it is clear that AMF affect competition and thereby influence the level of diversity found in plant communities. Plant diversity can either be increased or decreased by the presence of AMF depending on the mycotrophy of the dominant species. Smith et al. (1999) reported that removal of the dominant warm-season C₄ grass species in a tall prairie, which exhibits high mycorrhizal responsiveness, increased plant diversity once the abundance of the dominant species declined in number, and subdominant coolseason C_3 grass and forb species increased in abundance. To generalize, increased diversity and spatial heterogeneity of AMF will increase the diversity of plants when a variation in host plant mycotrophy is present (van der Heijden et al. 1998; Hartnett and Wilson 2002). The diversity of AMF is affected by the diversity of the plant community (Eom et al. 2000). Monocultures of mycorrhizal plants may have lower AMF diversity than communities dominated by nonmycorrhizal plants (Johnson et al. 2004). While this pattern may seem counterintuitive at first, it is analogous to the situation where AMF increase the competitive dominance of mycorrhizal plants in tall grass prairies and, thereby reduce the overall diversity of the plant community. The successional status of the plant community also dramatically impacts AMF communities, with AMF diversity increasing along the successional gradient (Koske and Gemma 1997). Following the change in the level of diversity, there is a change in species composition, with a different group of AMF species represented in early and late successional communities (Johnson et al. 1991). The endomycorrhizal relationship is truly a two-way street; it is still unclear whether the AMF is the driver or the passenger in this relationship, or whether this distinction can be made (Hart et al. 2001).

3.4. Genetics of AMF

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi are obligate symbionts, and then only complete its life when associated to a compatible host. These fungi have an aseptate network (cenotytic) that enables them a quick drive cytoplasmic, facilitating the uptake of nutrients belonging to the depletion zone. Compared to others fungi, AMF have bigger spores, ranging between 22 and 1050 μ m (Schüßler *et al.*, 1994).

Chapter I

Depending of the species, these spores may have hundreds or thousands of nuclei (Bever and Morton, 1999; Pawlowska and Taylor, 2004). Hijri and Sanders (2005) characterised the size, complexity and ploidy of the genome of a strain of *Glomus intraradices*. Their results indicate this AMF is haploid and has a small genome of approximately 16.54 Mb, which is at the lower limit of eukaryotic genomes. However, it is important to emphasise that other glomeromycota showed genome larger than that of *G. intraradices*; like *Gigaspora margarita* has three times higher more nuclear content than *Glomus versiforme* (Bianciotto and Bonfante, 1992). Such differences in genome size probably reflect differences in ploidy in addition to the, amount of repetitive sequences.

Glomeromycota probably follow an asexual reproductive cycle (i.e., clonal reproduction) by spore formation or by formation of a coenocytic (multinucleate) hypal network. Only one case of sexual reproduction has been reported in Gigaspora decipiens (Tommerup and Sivasitham, 1990), but never was truly confirmed. There is evidence of recombination among the Glomeromycota (Vandenkoornhuyse, 2001; LoBuglio and Taylor, 2002; Pawloska 2005). Molecular evidence suggests AMF is haploid but there is some controversy about whether their genome structures is homoor heterokaryotic. Two basic organizational structures have been advocated. First, it is possible that all intra-cellular variation is present within individual nuclei and all of the nuclei within a cell are identical, i.e., homokaryosis (Pawlowska and Taylor 2004; Pawloska 2005). Alternatively, much of the genetic variation may be distributed between nuclei, with each cell containing multiple genomes, i.e., heterokaryosis (Bever and Morton 1999; Hijri and Sanders, 2005). These two scenarios have very different implications for our understanding of the inheritance and maintenance of genetic variation and maintenance of this genetic variation in AMF.

Pawloska (2005) argued that according to non- Mendelian genetic systems and, based on the heterokaryotic character of Glomeromycota (Sanders, 2002), these fungi must have developed a nuclear recombination process, identical to the first steps of the parasexual cycle. The parasexual cycle is characterised by occurrence of anastomoses followed by nuclear change among species or individual genetically different, but with vegetative compatibility. Initially, the parasexual cycle leads to heterokaryosis. However, heterokaryosis is an unstable condition; distinct nuclei fuse, resulting in a diploid nucleus that, may suffer chromosomal losses. These losses cause a return to haploid status (Schardl and Craven, 2003), and consequent to the homokaryosis.

The genetic structure of AMF is currently a topic of intense discussion. Further investigation is necessary to understand the mechanisms by which different genetic features shape the ecology, evolution and symbiotic efficiency of the Glomeromycota.

4. Arbuscular mycorrhiza:

4.1. Nutritional benefits

Some of the most interesting and important questions about mycorrhizae concern the nutritional benefits that these symbioses confer to each participant. The symbiosis between AMF and autotrophic plants is generally regarded as mutualistic; the mutualism assumed as the bidirectional transfer of nutrients. With the exception of a few achlorophyllous species, AM host plants are autotrophic and, although normally colonised by mycorrhizal fungi in the field, they are usually capable of satisfactory growth in the absence of colonisation, if mineral nutrient supplies are adequate. In contrast, AMF do not complete their life cycle in the absence of symbiosis with a host root. This limitation gives some insight into the role of AMF and their contribution to nutrient absorption (Smith and Read, 1997). In the absence of a host root, AMF germtubes stop growing and do not produce new resting spores, even when large number of carbon (C) forms is added to the culture medium. One proposed explanation is that AMF experiences a failure or deficiency of the C metabolism in the asymbiotic state thus, understanding C metabolism in this stage of AMF development is of potential practical importance (Pfeffer et al., 1999; Bago et al., 2000). In the symbiotic interaction, the fungus enters the inner cortical root cells to form specialised haustoria called arbuscules. There is increasing evidence that phosphate, translocated from the soil through the fungus, is deposited at the arbuscular interface, where it is taken up by plant transporters. However, little is known about where the exchange of carbon takes place (Pfeffer et al., 2001; Requena et al., 2003).

The assimilate transfer includes sucrose breakdown into glucose and fructose, their export across the plant plasma membrane and their active uptake by hexose transporters across the fungal plasma membrane, driven by an increased H⁺ ⁻ATPase

activity at the arbuscular membrane (Gianinazzi-Pearson *et al.* 2000). The function of H^+ 'ATPase is to generate the proton electrochemical gradient across the plasma membrane that is required for effective cellular function. The, enzyme thus provides the driving force for the uptake and efflux of ions and metabolites through an interface otherwise impermeable to them and allows for the regulation of intracellular pH (Requena *et al.*, 2003). The exchange of metabolites and ions across the plasma membrane is particularly important at the symbiotic mycorrhizal interface because it enables the control of exchanged nutrients between the soil, fungus and plant "compartments." This exchanges maintains the equilibrium that defines the association as mutualistic and not as parasitic. In plants, H⁺ 'ATPase is encoded by a large multigene family (Gianinazzi-Pearson *et al.* 2000; Ferrol *et al.*, 2002; Ezawa *et al.*, 2005) and may be recruited at different developmental stages to respond to the different requirements of symbiosis (Requena *et al.*, 2003).

In the fungal cytosol, the hexoses are converted into triacylglycerides or, amino acids or incorporated into glycogen pools. The major storage forms of carbon in spores and hyphae are lipids, trehalose and glycogen (Pfeffer *et al.* 1999).

Hyphae from colonised roots extend into the soil and aid root hairs in absorbing water and mineral nutrients. AMF are recognised for their ability to stimulate plant growth via enhanced uptake of phosphate despite its low mobility and availability in soil, and they thus play important roles in the terrestrial phosphorus cycle (Ezawa et al., 2002). In the symbiotic phase, AMF take up inorganic phosphate (Pi) from the soil through fungal phosphate transporters, which in an extensive network of extraradical hyphae is rapidly converted into inorganic polyphosphate (polyP) and transported into the intraradical hyphae (Ezawa et al., 2004). In the arbuscules, polyphosphate is hydrolysed by enhanced phosphatase activity and released into the periarbuscular space (Ohtomo and Saito 2005). Phosphate is then taken up by the plant through a transmembrane transporter. As with carbon, the uptake of phosphate and other nutrients by arbuscular plant cells may be linked to the high plant and fungal H⁺-ATPase activity observed at the periarbuscular membrane (Gianinazzi-Pearson et al. 2000). Although most of the nutrient transfer between the two symbiotic partners takes place in the arbuscules, they do not seem to be the sole site of nutrient exchange (Van Aarle et al., 2005).

4.2. Other beneficial features

This symbiosis is characterised by the bidirectional flow of nutrients. The plant through the compounds photosynthates promotes the growth and reproduction of the fungus. In turn, the fungus enhances the uptake of water and nutrients, especially immobile nutrients like phosphorus that are present beyond the depleted zones that develop around plant roots (Allen, 1991; Smith & Read, 1997).

However these fungi can also provide many other benefits to the host including: increased resistance to foliar-feeding insects through a reduction in the palatability of plant tissues, alteration in nutritional quality, or increase in the concentrations or types of defence compounds in the plant tissue (Gange and Weast, 1994; Master and Brown, 1997; Borowicz, 1997; Gange et al., 1999; Goverde et al., 2000; Wearn and Gange, 2007). AMF colonisation may also lead to an increased in overall plant fitness and resistance against nematodes (de la Peña et al., 2006; Rodriguez-Romero et al., 2005; Rodriguez-Echeverria et al., 2009) and pathogens (Smith et al., 1999; Klironomos et al., 2000; Idoia et al., 2004). These effects can, to a certain extent, reduce the need for pesticides and other synthetic chemical in agricultural practices. AMF also improves crops' tolerance of abiotic stresses, such as drought (Augé et al., 2001). The resistance to water stress is likely associated with the extraradical network of hyphae which are far more resistant to drought than fine roots and can resume growth immediately after drought conditions cease (Miller et al., 1995). AMF can also increase tolerance to salinity and heavy metals (Al-Karaki et al., 2001; Mohammad et al., 2003). Furthermore, AMF contributes to soil aggregation not only through the development of hyphal network builds into a macroporous structure that facilities circulation of water and air and prevents erosion but also through the action of glomalin, a glycoprotein produced AMF (Rilling et al., 2003; Piotrowski et al., 2004; Cavagnaro et al., 2006; van der Heijden et al., 2006). Another important role of AMF is their contribution as drivers of plant community composition (Grime et al., 1997; Wilson and Hartnett, 1997; van der Heijden et al., 1998; Hartnett and Wilson, 1999).

5. Identification, systematic, phylogeny and diversity of the Glomeromycota

5.1. Systematics and phylogeny of the Glomeromycota

Before 1974, most of AMF were included in the genus *Endogone*, until Gerdemann and Trappe (1974) placed them in four different genera in the order Endogonales: Glomus, Sclerocystic, Gigaspora and Acaulospora. Previously, AMF had been assigned to the order Glomales, which included six genera and in the phylum Zygomycota (Morton and Benny 1990). The Zygomycota is no longer accepted as a monophyletic clade. However, based on their obligate symbiotic habit, the apparent lack of zygospores (i.e., spore produced through the conjugation of specialised hyphae during sexual reproduction) and the DNA ribosomal (rDNA) phylogeny, Schüßler et al. (2001) defined the phylum Glomeromycota as a sister clade of Basidiomycota and Ascomycota. Glomeromycota currently comprises approximately 200 described species distributed among ten genera, most of which were defined primarily based on the morphology of their spores or spore-bearing structures (http://www.lrz.de/~schuessler/amphylo/).

Recently, DNA sequences have also been used to describe some AMF taxa and their phylogenetic relationships (e.g. Schwarzott et al. 2001; Redecker and Raab 2006). However, the possible sequence variation within individuals makes it difficult to interpret molecular community data when sequences are obtained from colonised plant roots, especially when studies were made on organisms that were not well characterised and correctly identified. As a result, about half of the described species are not actually known from their molecular characters, and some are barely known from morphology because of very poor descriptions and lack of definable type material (C. Walker personal communication). Hence, a conservative approach in the evaluation of phylogenetic analyses is advisable; e.g. such as defining a monophyletic, well-supported sequence cluster as an AMF phylotype (i.e., sequence type). Presently, the phylogeny of all genera of AMF is largely based on analyses of small subunit of the ribosomal DNA gene (SSU rDNA). Although additional genes have begun to be sequenced from some taxa (e.g. Helgason et al. 2003; Corradi et al. 2004; Redecker and Raab 2006), phylogenetic hypotheses based on multilocus DNA sequence data have yet to be incorporated into the AMF classification. Four orders, containing nine families and fourteen genera have been described within the Glomeromycota (Figs. 4).



Fig. 4. Phylogenetic tree reflecting recent changes in the taxonomy of the Glomeromycota. The tree is based on SSU rDNA sequences. Some often used 'model species' are shown in blue. From http://www.lrz-muenchen.de/~schuessler/amphylo/.

The largest genus within this phylum, *Glomus, w*as originally defined by spore morphology and formation and was later revealed by molecular data to be polyphyletic (Schwarzott *et al.* 2001). Therefore, this genus was divided into the following five genera: *Glomus, Paraglomus, Archaeospora* (Morton and Redecker 2001), *Pacispora* (Oehl and Sieverding 2004) and *Diversispora* (Walker and Schübler. 2004).

Schwarzott *et al.* (2001) further analysed this largest genus of the AMF and established a new family structure by dividing the remaining Glomeraceae into the Diversisporaceae and Glomeraceae. The Glomeraceae family contain the subgroups "*Glomus* group A" (including e.g., *G. intraradices, G. proliferum, G. clarum* and *G. mosseae*; Fig. 5) whose members are the dominant and most diverse AMF in many field sites (Öpik *et al.* 2006), and "*Glomus* group B" (including e.g., *G. claroideum, G. etunicatum G. lamellosum*; see Fig. 5) whose members are difficult to distinguish **36**

(Rodriguez *et al.* 2005). These two subgroups form two clades, that are separated phylogenetically by a distance equal to that found between others families (Fig.5).



Figure 5. Phylogenetic tree (based on SSU rDNA sequences) of *Glomus* group A (GIGrA) and *Glomus* group B of the Glomeracecae. Modified from Schwarzott *et al.* (2001).

A further change was the establishment of the Ambisporaceae within the paraphyletic genus *Archaeospora*, while the family Archaeosporaceae was maintained with its type species (Walker *et al.* 2007). A new family Entrophosporaceae, was established (Sieverding and Oehl 2006), but its phylogenetic position is unclear. It is not included in the phylogenetic tree implementing the most recent phylogenetic analysis of the Glomeromycota (Fig. 4). Other recently erected families and genera have arisen from the by splitting of the Gigasporaceae (Oehl *et al.* 2008); their status is strongly debated in the scientific community (Morton & Msiska in press) and they are not included Fig. 4.

Several AMF genera share morphological spore features, which are easy to observe but might represent plesiomorphic characters (e.g., the mode of spore formation; Redecker & Raab 2006). Therefore, detailed microscopic analyses are required for the identification of anatomical subtleties, such as spore wall layers.

Spore formation has been an important criterion for the identification of genera. Members of *Glomus* (Berch and Fortin 1984), *Pacispora* (Oehl and Sieverding 2004), *Diversispora* (Walker and Schüßler 2004), *Ambispora* (Walker *et al.* 2007) and *Paraglomus* (Morton and Redecker 2001) develop spores by blastic expansion of a hyphal tip (glomoid spores). However in *Ambispora*, a second spore type occurs (even within the same "dimorphic" species) that is typical of *Acaulospora* (Gerdemann and Trappe 1974) and *Archaeospora* (*A. trappei*; Morton and Redecker 2001); a sporiferous saccule forms blastically at the hyphal tip, and the acaulosporoid spore is develops at the "saccule neck" (the side of the subtending hypha). *Entrophospora* (Ames & Schneider 1979) develops spores directly from the saccule neck, not laterally but within the subtending hypha (the entrophosporoid mode of spore formation). The fourth, gigasporoid, type of spore formation characterises both *Gigaspora* (Gerdemann and Trappe 1974) and *Scutellospora* (Walker and Sanders 1986). Spores are formed from a morphologically specialised bulbous base (25-50 µm in size) that is continuous with the structural spore wall.

Other distinguishing characteristics besides of spores are the presence or absence of flexible inner walls and type of germination, which occurs through the hyphal attachment (e.g. *Glomus*) or through the spore wall. In the latter mode of germination, germ tubes can arise from i) a germination orb (*Pacispora*); ii) a germination shield (*Scutellospora*) a structure that is occurs before spores germinate by penetrating the spore wall; or iii) a warty layer, typical for *Gigaspora*. The mode in which the spore is formed on the hypha ("mode of spore formation") has been an important criteria for defining genera and families; the number of walls, the structure of their layers and ornamentation have been used to distinguish species (Walker, 1983). Although these characteristics may be specific, they can differ according to environmental conditions and by the stage of the spore. Aged, dry or decaying spores can look different, even if they belong to the same species. However, many of these characteristics are just generic or significant only at the higher level, such as family (C. Walker personal communication). Moreover, it is quite difficult and requires expert knowledge to

distinguish and classify spores by their morphology, and, there is no coherent systems that allows the non-taxonomist to determine species with accuracy (C. Walker, personal communication).

Geosiphon pyriformis is a glomeromycotan species belonging to the order Archaeosporales. It is the only fungus in the Glomeromycota currently known to form a symbiosis with a cyanobacterium: it produces bladders that harbor symbiotic *Nostoc punctiforme* (Schüβler *et al.* 1994). Despite its different morphology and life strategy, molecular phylogenetic analysis has shown that *Geosiphon* is a member of the *Glomeromycota* (Schwarzott *et al.* 2001).

6. Methods for AMF identification

6.1. Morphological methods

Breakthroughs in AMF taxonomy were obtained after the taxonomic reviewed of Endogonaceae by Gerdemann and Tappe (1974). These authors not only restructured the relationships of genus and family but also established a basis for species identification and description. Previously to identify AMF such characteristics as presence of a subtending hypha, colour, diameter, and the presence of inner walls were used. However, Walker (1983) introduced the concept of "murographs" to describe and compare the layered structure of spore walls more easily. Thereafter, the descriptions of new AMF followed this methodology, but when they did not easily fit the "murographs" concept, the new AMF species found were described by others authors (Morton 1986; Walker, 1986; Spain et al., 1989). The AMF identification is still based on the patterns described by Walker (1983). Morton (1988) extensively reviewed the concepts and characters used in AMF identification. The way the spore is formed on the hypha has been an important criterion with which to circumscribe genera and families, and the layered structure of the spore walls is used to distinguish species. However, despite the progress in AMF taxonomy, many species were described before the formulation of these traditional taxonomic concepts; thus, additional description of these taxa is necessary to decrease the challenges of found on identification (Walker, 1992).

A new model of AMF description based on spore ontogeny was proposed (Franke and Morton, 1994; Bentivenga and Morton, 1995; Morton, 1995; Stürmer and Morton, 1997; 1999). According to this model, the wall of the spore is divided into two main groups: the "structural wall" and "germinal wall", and each group bis subdivided into layers. Despite its complexity, the ontogenic method is more coherent and logical. In addition, the morphology of the spore, and the vegetative structures, can be used on the family identification of some genera. However, traditional studies on AMF have showed methodological limitations. Taxonomic identification of AMF spores collected directly from the field is quite difficult because they are often unidentifiable due to degradation or parasitism by other organism. AMF are obligate symbionts, thus they cannot be cultivated in the absence of their host. Catch plants are often used to produce identifiable spores (Bever et al., 2001). Although useful for the isolation and propagation of some AMF species, this indirect culture strategy is time-consuming. It also introduces biases by plant preferences for particular AMF species, different growth conditions and other environmental factors. These limitation hinder its suitability in characterising AMF communities (Jansa et al., 2002; Oehl et al., 2003). Furthermore, mycorrhizal root colonisation and spore numbers (Clapp et al. 1995) might not reflect AMF populations in the soils, but only the sporulation stage of the AMF life cycle (a dormant phase) rather than activity within a symbiosis. This result of the fact that not all AMF present as spores form active mycorrhizas and many taxa present in the roots may not be sporulating. Moreover, fungal spore diversity differs seasonally, with some fungi sporulating in late spring and others at the end of summer. In most cases, taxonomic identification to the species level thus requires a very experienced investigator.

However, an advantage of analysing spore numbers and morphology is that they can indicate over longer time periods (e.g., over months) the structures of the AMF community (Douds and Millner,1999; Oehl *et al.* 2003) with the exception of putative non-sporulating AMF species. Additionally, extracting spores from the soil can be done rapidly, and it may reveal taxa not easily detected by molecular methods, and provided the user has reasonable taxonomic expertise. Intensive soil sampling, including the use of successive trap culturing, typically takes much longer but reveals significantly greater diversity than 'one-off' methods of spore extraction (Oehl *et al.*, 2004).
6.2. Molecular methods

Molecular methods allow the AMF to be identified in the host plant roots or directly in the soil. However, because Glomeromycota are obligate symbionts, it is difficult or even impossible to obtain their pure biomass, which is necessary for the development of molecular markers. Only some AMF can be cultivated in sterile conditions using transformed plant roots (Fortin *et al.* 2002), while others must be cultivated in non-sterile greenhouse pot cultures (Oehl *et al.* 2005) or are probably completely non-cultivable or non-sporulating. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that AMF spores or sporocarps from filed or trap cultures can host numerous non-Glomeromycotans including other fungi and bacteria (Hijri *et al.*, 2002).

Molecular markers have been employed to characterise AMF communities genetically. Molecular markers include: i) analysis of isoenzymes (Sander *et al.*, 1992); ii) and; analysis of the genomic profile of the rDNA (ribosomal DNA) (White *et al.*, 1990; Lanfranco *et al.*, 2001) and mtDNA (mitochondrial DNA) (Bruns *et al.*, 1991). Most molecular research investigating AMF identification and detection at species and isolate level has used techniques based on PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction), which allow the characterisation of nucleic acids from small amounts of fungal DNA (White *et al.*, 1990). These molecular techniques include: RAPD (Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA) (Wyss and Bonfante, 1993), RFLP (Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism) (Sanders *et al.*, 1995; Helgason *et al.*, 1998; Redecker, 2000; Appoloni *et al.*, 2008), DGGE (Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis) (Kowalchuk *et al.*, 2002; Ma *et al.*, 2005; Santos *et al.*, 2006; Wu et al., 2007) and qRT-PCR (Quantitative real-time PCR) (Alkan *et al.*, 2004; 2006; Jansa *et al.*, 2008).

All molecular tools described above have proven to be useful tools for characterizing the AMF community, and in the future they could be combined with avaible morphological tools to yield a better understanding of AMF community structure (Redecker *et al.*, 2003). However, these molecular tools are costly and time-consuming, and they lack sufficient sensitivity to quantify AMF (Oehl *et al.*, 2004; Egerton-Warburton *et al.*, 2007). Hijri *et al.* (2006) noted that not all AMF taxa present as spores were detected in roots by PCR, probably because not all taxa were symbiotically active at the time or because they colonised the roots at levels below the detection threshold. There is, still uncertainty as to whether there are other AMF present that remain undetected because they are occur infrequently in intraradical

structures, or if there are other reasons why techniques still partly fail (Oehl *et al.*, 2004; 2010).

6.2.1. Marker genes for AMF community studies

Since Clapp *et al.* (1995) initiated field studies using molecular tools, several different molecular markers have been developed; improvements are still nede and in development. Target genes are the nuclear-encoded small subunit (SSU) ribosomal RNA sequences (Helgason *et al.* 1998), and the large subunit (LSU) ribosomal RNA sequences (Van Tuinen *et al.*, 1998; Kjøller and Rosendahl 2000; Wu *et al.* 2007). The polymorphism of the latter is higher and, LSU is therefore more suitable for the development of group-specific primers (Rosendahl 2008; Robinson-Boyer *et al.* 2009). The first designed AMF-specific-primer, the VANS1 primer for the 5' end of the SSU (Simon *et al.* 1992), does not amplify all glomeromycotan lineages (Clapp *et al.*, 1995). Helgason *et al.* (1998) designed the AM1 primer, which in combination with the universal primer NS31 amplifies the variable central region of the SSU. However, it does not amplify this region in Archaeosporaceae, Paraglomeraceae or *Glomus* group B.

In another approach, Lee *et al.* (2008) developed the primer pair AML1/AML2 which targets the SSU and claimed that this marker detects all published AMF sequences in this gene region except for Archaeospora trappei. Generally, the resolution of phylotypes from this gene region is lower than in approaches using internal transcribed spacers (ITS). Several markers targeting the ITS have been developed and applied in field studies. For example, Renker *et al.* (2003) used a nested PCR for the ITS with an intermediate restriction digest, designed to prevent the amplification of other fungi than AMF that contain the restriction site. However, in a later publication, these authors clarified that the restriction digest misses certain AMF species in the detection procedure (Hempel *et al.* 2007).

Furthermore, this method amplified yeast species relatively frequently, which paradoxically allowed investigation of the biodiversity of basidiomycete yeasts inhabiting AMF-colonised roots or AMF spores (Renker *et al.* 2004). Other authors have constructed primers targeting the LSU of rDNA (Kjoller and Rosendahl 2000;

Gollotte *et al.* 2004). Similar to the AM1/NS31 primer pair, these primers also amplify only a subset of the Glomeromycotan taxa.

To reduce the risk of missing AMF species in plant roots, Redecker (2000) developed group-specific nested PCR approaches for the SSU-ITS, covering all families of the Glomeromycota. Like the approach of Renker *et al.* (2003), this method was applied in several studies (Wubet *et al.*, 2003; Hijri *et al.* 2006; Appoloni *et al.*, 2008). Öpik *et al.* (2006) and Robinson-Boyer *et al.* (2009) summarised several of these studies using different target genes mentioned so far. It is obvious that all of these approaches have their advantages and disadvantages. The best approach depends on the scientific aim, e.g., if a resolution on the genus or species level is required.

Recently, Krüger *et al.* (2009) developed a nested PCR approach to overcome several of these problems. To avoid the need for several PCR reactions to detect all members of the Glomeromycota, mixed primer sets were used in the same reaction and successfully tested against several members of AMF families spanning the whole phylum. The target fragment includes all ribosomal gene regions that have been broadly used in other studies, resulting in approximately 1800 bp in the first and 1500 bp in the second PCR. Therefore, this approach permits comparison with previous studies on the same taxonomic level. In particular, the SSU fragment allows broad phylogenetic analyses, as this gene region exists in the majority of different AMF taxa (Rosendahl 2008). The ITS region allows resolution to the species level. However, his approach has still to be tested intensively under field conditions as possible primer matches have been found in other fungi and plants, even though no misamplifications were observed in few initially tested environmental samples (Krüger *et al.*, 2009).

The approach of Krüger *et al.* (2009) might lead to considerable sequence information about many unknown AMF taxa from various environments.

7. AMF and Agriculture

Agricultural practices have dramatic impacts on soil and soil organisms, and AMF are no exception. Several studies have shown that agriculture reduces the diversity of the AMF community (Helgason *et al.* 1998; Daniell *et al.* 2001; Oehl *et al.* 2003). This reduction has been attributed to physical disturbance from tilling (Kabir *et al.*, 1997;

Jansa et al., 2003), the effects of supplemental fertilisers (Linderman and Davis 2004) and the use of fungicides and soil fumigants (Menge 1982). Tillage has been shown to have a significant influence on AMF colonisation (Douds and Miller, 2000; Jansa et al., 2003; Schalamuck et al., 2006; Garcia et al., 2007). The extra-radical network of AMF mycelium functions as both the nutrient absorbing organ of mycorrhizae and as inocula for the colonisation of new roots. Thus, disruption caused by tillage can result in delayed or reduced root colonisation, and a decrease in the soil volume exploited by the AMF which may affect nutrient uptake by mycorrhizae (Evans and Miller, 1990; Boddington and Dodd, 2000). Moreover, tilling transports hyphae and colonised root fragments to the upper soil layer, decreasing and diluting their activity as viable propagules for subsequent crops. A potentially opposing effect is that phosphorus (P) uptake is generally increased with tillage, due partly to an improved distribution of P and increased P availability (Borie et al., 2006; Garcia et al., 2007). Not only agricultural practices such as tilling and fertilising cause a decline in AMF diversity; but there is also substantial evidence that they produce a shift in the composition AMF community (Boddington and Dodd 2000; Egerton-Warburton and Allen 2000; Jansa et al., 2003). Evidences suggests a homogenisation of AMF community structures under high-input fertiliser systems, which tend to be dominated by generalist AMF species such as *Glomus*, due to their large ecological plasticity to support disturbed systems. This plasticity could be related to differences in propagative units between the glomalean families (Hart and Reader, 2002; Jansa et al., 2003; Castillo et al., 2006). Conversely, the non-Glomus species have a tendency to inhabit niches characterised as specialist as they are only present in specific soil types preferentially organic soils (Oehl et al., 2010).

However, these agriculturally adapted AMF have been shown to be slower to infect, faster to sporulate, and to produces fewer arbuscules (Johnson 1993; Scullion *et al.*, 1998; Oehl *et al.*, 2003). These findings all suggest that the altered AMF community is draw more resources from the plant while providing less in return. The ramifications of these altered AMF communities may not be especially great as long as the field is kept under agricultural production.

Soil types differ in their soil chemical and physical characteristics. It has been well documented that pH (Ezawa *et al.*, 20001; Oehl *et al.*, 2010), nitrogen (N) (Jonhson *et al.*, 2003; Egerton-Warburton *et al.*, 2007) organic matter (OM) (Boddington and Dodd

2000) and soil phosphorus (P) availability (Oehl *et al.*, 2004) influence the composition of AMF communities. An extreme pH (Clark *et al.*, 1999; Ezawa *et al.*, 2001; Khanam *et al.*, 2006) may also create conditions in which AMF confers for little or no benefit to the host plant. Some AMF species (e.g., *Glomus*) prefer alkaline and neutral soil, while others (e.g., *Acaulospora*) sporulate more abundant in acid soils (Gai and Li, 2003). Also Oehl *et al.* (2010) reported that pH had a strong influence on AMF species genus and on the relative density of *Glomus* species. In addition to affecting plant performance, these factors also influence the host's plant dependency on AM symbiosis and the level of root colonisation.

Grazing has also been found to dramatically reduce AMF colonisation and spore density (Gange *et al.*, 1993; Gehring *et al.*, 1994; Lugo and Cabello, 2002; Dhillion and Gardsjord, 2004). This trend may be due to a decrease in leaf area and an increase in root/shoot ratio resulting in a decreased source capacity to satisfy root and AM fungi sink demands.

8. Study areas

8.1.1. Island overview

This study was conducted in the Terceira Island, the third island of the Azorean archipelago in terms of size (402 km²). Terceira is a roundish island formed by four main volcanic complexes (Serra de Santa Bárbara, Serra do Morião, Pico Alto and Serra do Cume) (Zbyszewski *et al.*, 1971). The highest point (Serra de S. Bárbara, 1023 m) is simultaneously the most recent of the three major island's complexes of 0.025 Ma B.P. (Martins, 1993). The eastern flatted part of the island is its older part of about 3.52 My (Borges *et al.*, 2009). Recent historical volcanic activity is evident in the western part of the island, where several well preserved lava tubes and volcanic chimneys are present (Borges *et al.*, 1993). The Azores archipelago have a temperate oceanic climate characterised by high levels of relative atmospheric humidity that could reach 95% at high altitude native forests and ensures slight thermal variations throughout the year (Azevedo *et al.*, 1999). The average temperature is 17.5° C in low altitudes, while the maximum temperature is in August and minimum in February (Azevedo, 1996). Angra do Heroísmo (47 m): 969 mm year (140

mm in January and 40 mm in July) and Serra de S. Bárbara (1,023 m): 3,000 mm year (Borges, 1997).

8.1.2. Studied pastures

The sampling areas were cattle-grazed upland pastures of two different types: seminatural pastures (managed for more than 50 years, with a higher diversity of grasses and forbs; see Borges and Brown 2001) and intensive pastures (managed for more than 20 years, characterised also by a poor vascular flora of five or less dominant species).The semi-natural pastures are included in a site of communitarian interest (SIC- Serra de Santa Barbara e Pico Alto) inside of Rede Natura 2000: Pico Galhardo (PX) (Latitude 38° 41' 51.71" N; Longitude 27° 13' 25.34" W) and Terra Brava (TB) (Latitude 38° 41' 59.74" N; Longitude 27° 12' 41.37" W) (Fig. 6).

These pastures show a high floristic diversity, and they are dominated by the grasses *Holcus lanatus* and *Agrostis castellana*, perennial grasses that covers around 100% of sites (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). Frequently present in these pastures are also other grasses like *Anthoxanthum odoratum*, *Lolium multflorum*, *Holcus rigidus* and *Poa trivialis* and spontaneous species without forage value as: *Lotus uliginosus*, *Rumex acetosella* ssp. *angiocarpus*, *Potentilla anglica*, *Hydrocotyle vulgaris*, *Plantago lanceolata*, *Lobelia urens*, *Cerastium fontanum*, *Conyza bonariensis*, *Anagallis arvensis*, *Hypochoeris radicata*, *Ranunculus repens*, *Pteridium aquilinum*, *Juncus effusus* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).

The intensive pastures are included on exotic forest of Eucalyptus. Agualva 1(RP1) is located at: Latitude 38° 45' 27.18" N; Longitude 27° 11' 41.55" W; and Agualva 2 (RP2) at: Latitude 38° 45' 24.44" N; Longitude 27° 11' 42.24" W (Fig. 6). In these pastures the dominant grasses are usually *Holcus lanatus* and *Lolium perenne* (plant cover of 100%). Another species with high cover is *Trifolium repens* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). In these pastures, other common species are: *Plantago lanceolata*, *Cyperus esculentus, Mentha suaveolens, Cerastium fontanum, Rumex conglomeratus*, etc. (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).

Semi-natural pastures ΤВ ΡX Intensive pastures RTP1 RTP2

Figure 6. Aerial photograph of the study sites at Terceira Island. Semi-natural (PX – Pico Galhardo; TB- Terra Brava) and intensive (RP1- Agualva 1; RP2- Agualva 2) pastures.

8.2. Land use history and soil management

8.2.1. Land use in past

At the time of islands Human settlement, early colonizers have developed subsistence crops, namely wheat and vegetables were produced, as well as, the cattle that, in most cases, were released in native forest. The development of the islands Human population took place with these new European crops: sugar cane, pastel, wheat, wine and citrus fruits (Brito & Poeira, 1991). Sugar cane cultivation was also tested in this period, but, unlike Madeira, the climatic conditions in the Azores, mild temperatures and high cloudiness, did not help to develop this culture and so, the agricultural tendency of the Azores was itself divided between the area sown to cereals (wheat, rye, barley) and pastures (Brito & Poeira, 1991). Due to the small size of the islands and the high humidity levels of the cereal stubble, the livestock sector has been gradually adapting to the island environment (Armas, 1982).The cycle of cattle breeding, milk production, dairy and meat persists since the 19th century.

The cultural system then was based on livestock and agricultural production in the recent mobilized soils, so it can be considered as an agro-pastoral system, with a focus on export and subsistence in areas of low to medium altitude. In higher altitudes, the system consists in a silvopastoral, where the livestock left free in the middle of natural vegetation in the forest, called the "criações" (creations) or "serra aberta" (open mountain) as is known in Pico, Faial and Sao Jorge. On the island of Terceira, in these areas of open field, has been always created the wild cattle and goat cattle.



Figure 7. Location of the semi-natural (PX- Pico Gallhardo; TB- Terra Brava) and intensive (Agualva 1- RP1; Agualva 2- RP2) pastures in the Terceira land-use (extracted from DROTRH 2008)

The Azorean agriculture was based in the family system of land uses, relatively balanced with the natural environment, which modulate a landscape of fenced fields divided by stone walls, mostly in the lowland and medium altitude where soils are more productive. The stone-walls are the first building structure of the organization of agrarian space, which consist in limited fields. In the higher altitudes, the permanent pastures are dominant, characterized by closed fields in large dimensions with wooded fencerows of *Cryptomeria japonica*, whose suitability of the soil is agro-forestry. In the case of Terceira, this stratification is very clear: in the lowlands, from the coast to the mean average elevation of 200 to 300 m, the pastures are dominant in rotation with corn; in the middle altitudes, the multi-sown and the spontaneous pastures (Gomes, 2010); at higher altitudes (> 400 m), major permanent pasture fields ("bacia leiteira") with wooded Cryptomeria japonica fencerow, which is a communal lands, designated as "baldios" under Forest Service administration (Gabriel, 1994).

In lowland from the coastline up to 200 m, a period of dormancy of two months occurs during the summer. Between 200 and 400 m, the grasslands do not present a cycle of vegetative dormancy, but an annual production of grass for 9 to 10 months. From 400

m to 600 m, the pastures have a winter dormant period of 3 months. In uplands (> 600 m) grass production is limited by a dormant period of at least 5 months, restricting it only in summer (Oliveira, 1989).

8.2.2. Land use today

The current Azorean farming system is based on a Ley farming ruled by rotations of sown grasses and leguminous pastures and corn crops for silage (Altieri, 1998). This system is based on multi-annual pasture (grasses and leguminous intercropping) with a rotation of annual crops - corn for fodder during spring-summer and autumn such as *Lollium multiflorum* Lam. and *Avena sativa* L., according to altitudinal zoning of land altitude and the season of the year. This farming system creates serious problems of soil conservation, since it is unprotected during the winter, when the erosion is more intense (PRA, 2001). However, this system permits increase production levels with little annual and seasonal fluctuation in rotational grazing system with pasture, corn silage, grass silage, bales and concentrates to ensure economic stability and comfort of farmers.

About 83 % of utilized agricultural area of the Azores is occupied by pasture (Lopes, 1999). According to North- American Land Use Land Classification, that was adapted to the Azores, and according to Pinheiro *et al.* (1987), there are seven classes, whose limit of intensity increases from I to VII, and the first four classes correspond to arable land and the others to non-arable land. In the case of Terceira Island, 45% of its soils are arable land (classes I to IV).

When Portugal joined the European Union Market, in 1986, there was a gradual specialization of the farming system from the traditional Azorean to the Ley farming system in detriment of other arable cultures, caused a deep impact on the economy and land use. In these islands with favorable soil and with weather conditions optimal for the production of milk and meat, farmers faced a new and major challenge to optimize production to levels to reach the level of large agricultural or farming regions of northern Europe. The quota system of milk production imposed by EU as membership served as a driving mechanism for the modernization of farms.

The agricultural policy then, encouraged farmers to intensify production with the first Community Support Framework. With the second and third EU framework in action, demands to reverses the situation of intensification and advances to an extensive production, and diverse cultures implementation and agro ecosystems balance in order to implement a sustainable agriculture.

In the dairy production, the certification was implemented and denomination of geographical protected origin of cheeses was created, especially for São Jorge cheese. Meat production is also regulated and classified as a protected geographical origin.

Nowadays, the implementation of a sustainable agriculture is associated with plant cultivation. So, the first explorations of organic farming emerge together with a growing local market demand. On the other hand, the conventional agriculture is dominant, heavily dependent on imported inputs, such as fossil fuels, imported seeds of pasture and maize, fertilizers and specialized agricultural machinery, with increasing water consumption by livestock due to increased stocking. Agri-livestock farms have been declining in number, but have been increasing its utilized arable superficies to meet the technical requirements of the farming system and market. The closed fields tend to be resized with the removal of stone walls between parcels and have increased the number of contiguous parcels.

The stocking rate average is 2.1 animals per hectare in the Azores. Terceira has a higher stocking rate of 2.5, but under the current common agricultural policy the island aim at reducing to the value of 2.0 animals per ha in the coming years (PRA, 2001).

However, the cultural landscape of the Azores is moving to a uniform system of land use patterns, characterized by pastures, planted forests and wooded fencerows of *Cryptomeria japonica* (PROTA, 2000), associated with losses of biodiversity, of natural resources, environmental quality and aesthetic and cultural values.

9. Aims of this dissertation

The aims were to:

1) Study the AMF species composition and diversity using the classic characteristics of spore morphology, to highlight both qualitative and quantitative differences in seminatural and intensive pastures on Terceira Island in the Azores archipelago;

2) Study the effect of land use type on AMF diversity using molecular tools, and analyse the occurrence of seasonal patterns in colonisation of AMF associated with the host plant *Holcus lanatus* L. in the two land use systems. *Holcus lanatus* L. was the selected for its commonness in the two land use systems and the Azores;

3) Assess the control mechanisms of AMF in protecting *Holcus lanatus* L. from the root-knot nematode;

4) Address the question of the preferences of these root-colonising AMF for the three most abundant grasses used in pastures of the Azores: *Holcus lanatus* L., *Lolium multiflorum* Lam. and *Lolium. perenne* L.; and identify the implications for plant productivity.

CHAPTER II. SPECIES COMPOSITION OF ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI IN SEMI-NATURAL AND INTENSIVE PASTURES FROM TERCEIRA ISLAND (AZORES)

1. Introduction

AMF are ubiquitous, underground, symbiotic associations involving a wide diversity of plants (approximately 80%) and obligate symbiotic fungi of the phylum Glomeromycota thought to have originated 400–500 million years ago (Schülbler *et al.*, 2001). In this intimate association the obligate biotrophic fungi provide terrestrial plants with minerals, nutrients (particularly inorganic phosphate) and water increasing the host resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, including pathogens, water limitation and environmental pollutants in return for photosynthates (Smith and Read, 1997).

These beneficial effects of AMF are important in natural ecosystems, although they may be unimportant in high-input agriculture (Barea and Jeffries 1995; Galvez *et al.* 2001). Clearly, agricultural practices such as the intensity of cultivation, the quality and quantity of fertilisers applied and the plant protection strategies used may have dramatic impacts on soil and soil organism, and the AMF community structure is not an exception (Sieverding, 1989; Douds and Millner, 1999; Oehl *et al.*, 2003; Li *et al.*, 2007).

There have been some recent reports comparing the AMF community structures within farming systems differing in management practices such as tillage, fertiliser input, pesticide use and crop rotation (reviewed by Douds and Millner, 1999). Some agricultures practices, such as tillage and fertilisation, can affect the structure of communities causing a decline in AMF diversity and producing a shift in the AMF composition (Boddington and Dodd, 2000; Egerton-Warburton and Allen, 2000; Jansa *et al.*, 2002; 2003).

The extra-radical network of AMF mycelium functions as both the nutrient absorbing organ of mycorrhizae and as inocula for the colonisation of new roots. Thus disruption caused by tillage can result in delayed or reduce root colonisation, and a decrease in the soil volume exploited by AMF which may affect nutrient uptake by mycorrhizae (Miller *et al.*, 1995).

In addition, Jansa *et al.* (2002) reported that tillage affected significantly the community structure of AMF, decreasing the sporulation of some non-*Glomus* like *Gigaspora*, *Scutellospora* and *Entrophospora* in tilled treatment.

Also Oehl *et al.* (2004) found that differences between land use systems (conventional *versus* organic) did not only reflect in species richness but also in species composition.

Although they have detected no change in abundance of *Glomus* species between land uses, the same pattern was not observed in relation to spore abundances of *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* species which were more abundant in organic systems. These findings suggest that in high-input fertilisers systems tend to occur a homogenisation of AMF community composition, almost dominated by AMF generalist species, since the non-*Glomus* species have a tendency to inhabit determinate niches being characterised as specialist as they are only present in specific soil types, preferentially organic soils (Oehl *et al.*, 2010). It have been shown these agriculturally adapted AMF have slower rates of infection, are faster to sporulate and to produce fewer arbuscules, the site of nutrients transfer to the host (Johnson, 1993; Scullion *et al.* 1998; Oehl *et al.* 2003). These findings suggest that the altered AMF community is draw more resources from the plant while providing less in return. Thus, we could assist to a loss in AMF species diversity during agricultural use which may result in a diminished biodiversity of the reestablishing plant community (Van der Heijden *et al.* 1998).

Soil types differ in soil chemical and physical characteristics. Recent works have showed that pH (Ezawa et al., 2001; Oehl et al., 2010), nitrogen (N) (Jonhson et al., 2003; Egerton-Warburton et al., 2007) organic matter (OM) (Boddington and Dodd 2000) and phosphorous (P) availability (Oehl et al., 2004) influence the composition of AMF communities. It has been showed in several studies that pH it is an important factor influencing the AMF species composition. Some AMF species (e.g., *Glomus*) prefer alkaline and neutral soil, while other (e.g., Acaulospora) sporulate more abundantly in acid soils (Gai and Li, 2003). Also Oehl et al. (2010) reported that pH had strongly influence in AMF species genus and on relative density of Glomus species. Nitrogen (N) has also proved to be a preponderant factor in determining AMF composition via carbon (C) allocation. This way, N enrichment generally decreases allocation to AMF structure at the field site with ample soil, but it increases allocation to mycorrhizae at sites with P-deficient soils (Johnson et al., 2003). Extraradical structures are more responsive to N enrichment than are intraradical. Hence, one time that Gigasporaceae produce more extraradical hyphae than Glomacaeae and Acaulosporaceae, both Gigasporaceae spores and extraradical hyphae decrease with N-enrichment in high-P soil and the opposite occurred in low-P soils (Johnson et al. 2003).

Organic matter (OM) is also susceptible to influence AMF composition via increase or decrease the species abundance of some AMF. Zhang *et al.* (1999) reported that frequency of occurrence of *Glomus mosseae* decreased with increasing OM content, while *Glomus sinuosum* and *Glomus taiwanense* were found only when soil organic matter content was less than 1.5%.

Some authors have suggested that differences in AMF composition between conventional and organic systems can be explained by balance of nutrients applied which combined produce variables levels of soil P (Eason et al., 1999; Oehl et al., 2004). The largest effect of AMF is on P nutrition. It is well know that higher soil P can reduce AMF formation and the inhibition may be due to a direct effect on external hyphal growth or be indirect associated with host P status (Sanders, 1975). Glomus due to its large ecological plasticity is generally the genus with greater number of species found in intensively management (Oeh et al., 2003; 2004). Johnson (1993) detected an increase on relative abundance of Glomus intraradices in response in fertilisation witch classify it in P-tolerant, as well as, a decrease in relative abundance of Gigaspora gigantea, Gigaspora margarita, Scutellospora calospora and Paraglomus occultum. Also Bhadalung et al. (2005) showed that long-term fertilisation caused decreases in AMF total spore numbers and also relative spore abundance varied with species and sampling time. They found a decreased in absolute number of species Intraspora scheckii, Glomus mosseae, Glomus sp.1, Glomus geosporum-like and Scutellospora fulgida with fertilisation, which were classified as AMF species insensitive to fertilisation.

Despite ecological importance of AMF community, little is known about their population biology and diversity in natural ecosystems. Due to methological limitations, only about 200 morphospecies were described. Inoculum of AMF in soil appears in three forms: spores, soilborne hyphae and colonised roots. Traditional studies on AMF diversity are based mainly on spore morphology (Walker, 1992). However, taxonomic identification of AMF spores collected directly from the field is quite difficult because they are often unidentifiable due to degradation or parasitism by other organism, and thus do not necessarily reflect the AMF populations in soil (Clapp *et al.*, 1995). Adding, fungal spore diversity differs seasonally, with some fungi sporulating in late spring and others at the end of summer.

However, an advantage is that spore numbers are indicators over a longer time period, i.e. over months, which allow us to described AMF community structures based on

spore morphology (Douds and Millner, 1999; Oehl et al., 2003), with the exception of putative non-sporulating AMF species. Providing the user has reasonable taxonomic expertise, the extraction of spores from soil is a rapid method, and it may reveal taxa not easily detected by molecular methods. Moreover, intensive soil sampling, including the use of successive trap culturing, takes much longer but reveals significantly greater diversity than a 'one-off' spore extraction (Oehl et al., 2004). Recently, alternative molecular methods have been developed (Clapp et al., 1995; Helgason et al., 1998; Redecker, 2000). These molecular tools have proved to be useful tools for characterising of the AMF community, and in the future could be combined with the morphological tools available to a better understanding of AMF community structure. However, the molecular tools are costly and time-consuming, and AMF populations cannot as yet be quantified by these techniques, because they lack sufficient sensitivity detecting only the most abundant taxa (Oehl et al., 2004; Egerton-Warburton et al., 2007). Hijri et al. (2006) noted that neither all AMF taxa present as spores were detected in roots by PCR, probably because they were not symbiotically active at the respective time or because they colonise the roots at levels below the detection threshold. Then, it is still uncertain whether there are other AMF that remain undetected because their percentage of intraradical structures are low, or if there are other reasons for these techniques still partly to fail (Oehl et al., 2004).

The Azores archipelago has an extended area of pastures (Martins, 1993) including natural, semi-natural and intensive pastures (see Borges *et al.*, 2008). Trough time, native forests have been destroyed by human activities and replaced by agricultural land. These disturbances can significantly alter the proportion of mycotrophic versus nonmycotrophic plant species in a community, and consequently affect the dynamics of the AMF community and its sporulation patterns (Violi *et al.*, 2008). After several economical cycles, and some catastrophic experiences with different types of monocultures (e.g. wheat *Triticum* spp.; "Pastel" *Isatis tinctoria* L.; orange-tree *Citrus* spp.) (Martins, 1993), during the second half of the 20th century cattle milk production has grown in importance (Martins, 1993; Borges, 1997). In order to respond to the high density of cattle milk, pastures became the dominant landscape in the Azores archipelago, covering 67.7 % of the arable land, and there are also semi-natural pasture comprising 11.2 % of the total area (Garcia and Furtado, 1991). Most semi-natural pastures are located at high altitude in recent infertile acid volcanic soils (e.g.

Terceira and Pico), or in more mature but still poor soils (e.g. S. Maria) (Borges, 1997). The floristic composition of pastures is dominated by introduced grasses and leguminous forbs, while native forbs (e.g. *Lotus uliginosus*), grasses, rushes, sedges and ferns are more frequent in the poorly managed old semi-natural pasture (Borges, 1997).

To date, little is known about the diversity and composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal (AMF) communities in this environment as affected by changing land use. Therefore, in this study we assessed the AMF community structure based on the classic spore morphology characteristics in order to highlight both qualitative and quantitative differences in semi-natural and intensive pastures in Terceira Island (Azores).

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study sites

This study was conducted in the Terceira Island, the third island of the Azorean archipelago in terms of size (402 km²). Terceira is a roundish island formed by four main volcanic complexes (Serra de Santa Bárbara, Serra do Morião, Pico Alto and Serra do Cume) (Zbyszewski et al., 1971). The highest point (Serra de S. Bárbara, 1023 m) is simultaneously the most recent of the three major island's complexes of 0.025 Ma B.P. (Martins, 1993). The eastern flatted part of the island is its older part of about 3.52 My (Borges et al., 2009). Recent historical volcanic activity is evident in the western part of the island, where several well preserved lava tubes and volcanic chimneys are present (Borges et al., 1993). The Azores archipelago have a temperate oceanic climate characterised by high levels of relative atmospheric humidity that could reach 95% at high altitude native forests and ensures slight thermal variations throughout the year (Azevedo et al., 1999). The average temperature is 17.5° C in low altitudes, while the maximum temperature is in August and minimum in February (Azevedo, 1996). The pluviometric regime reaches its peak in January-February and minimum and July (Azevedo, 1996): Angra do Heroísmo (47 m): 969 mm year (140 mm in January and 40 mm in July) and Serra de S. Bárbara (1,023 m): 3,000 mm year (Borges, 1997).

The sampling areas were cattle-grazed upland pastures of two different types: seminatural pastures (managed for more than 50 years, with a higher diversity of grasses and forbs; see Borges and Brown 2001) and intensive pastures (managed for more than 20 years, characterised also by a poor vascular flora of five or less dominant species). The semi-natural pastures are included in a site of communitarian interest (SIC- Serra de Santa Barbara e Pico Alto) inside of Rede Natura 2000: Pico Galhardo (PX) (Latitude 38° 41' 51.71" N; Longitude 27° 13' 25.34" W) and Terra Brava (TB) (Latitude 38° 41' 59.74" N; Longitude 27° 12' 41.37" W) (Fig. 1).

These pastures show a high floristic diversity, and they are dominated by the grasses *Holcus lanatus* and *Agrostis castellana*, perennial grasses that covers around 100% of sites (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). Frequently present in these pastures are also other grasses like *Anthoxanthum odoratum*, *Lolium multflorum*, *Holcus rigidus* and *Poa trivialis* and spontaneous species without forage value as: *Lotus uliginosus*, *Rumex acetosella* ssp. *angiocarpus*, *Potentilla anglica*, *Hydrocotyle vulgaris*, *Plantago lanceolata*, *Lobelia urens*, *Cerastium fontanum*, *Conyza bonariensis*, *Anagallis arvensis*, *Hypochoeris radicata*, *Ranunculus repens*, *Pteridium aquilinum*, *Juncus effusus* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).

The intensive pastures are included on exotic forest of Eucalyptus. Agualva 1(RP1) is located at: Latitude 38° 45' 27.18" N; Longitude 27° 11' 41.55" W; and Agualva 2 (RP2) at: Latitude 38° 45' 24.44" N; Longitude 27° 11' 42.24" W (Fig. 1). In these pastures the dominant grasses are usually *Holcus lanatus* and *Lolium perenne* (plant cover of 100%). Another species with high cover is *Trifolium repens* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). In these pastures, other common species are: *Plantago lanceolata*, *Cyperus esculentus, Mentha suaveolens, Cerastium fontanum, Rumex conglomeratus*, etc. (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).



Figure 1. Location of the study sites at Terceira Island

2.2. Sample collection

Soil sample were collected in August 2007 from the root zones of the dominant and common plant species *Holcus lanatus* L., to a depth of 20 cm at 10 different locations in each sampling area (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2).

2.3. Study plant

The Azorean pastures are dominated by *Holcus lanatus* L. a non-indigenous plant with a frequency more than 50% (Dias, 1996; Silva and Smith, 2006; Kueffer *et al.*, 2010). In Terceira Island in a total of 30 exotic vascular plants, *H. lanatus* L. was the third more frequent (Silva and Smith, 2006). This plant is a C_3 perennial, 20–110 cm tall, tufted grass (Ross *et al.*, 2003). It is very common, growing in all kinds of soil but the

optimal growth occurs in moist conditions (Franco, 1984). *H. lanatus* grows well in very wet conditions and can survive moderate periods of drought (Franco, 1984).

2.4. Soil analyses

The soils of semi-natural and intensive pastures are andossols and sandy-loam (Pinheiro, 1990). The soil analyses were performed only with soil samples collected in August 2007. The 10 samples of rhizospheric soil from each site were pooled and analysed as a single sample. Chemical soil parameters for each soil are presented in Table 1. They were measured in the University of Azores Soil Laboratory (CITA-A), according to standard methods. Potassium, calcium and magnesium were extracted with sodium acetate (1/5) at pH 7, and were determined using a Varian ICP atomic emission spectrophotometer. Soil pH was determined on a soil/water paste (1/2.5) and available phosphorus as described by Olsen and Sommers (1982) by extraction with a 0.5 M NaHCO₃ solution at pH 8.5, using AAS. Total soil nitrogen content was estimated using the Kjehldahl method (Allen, 1989). The organic carbon (OC) and organic matter (OM) present in the soil were estimated using the dry ashing method.

Land use	field site	pН	P (Olsen) (mg kg ⁻¹)	K (mg kg ⁻¹)	N (%)	Ca (mg kg ⁻¹)	Mg (mg kg ⁻¹)	OM (%)	OC (%)	
Semi-natural										
	PX	5.7	7	143	0.55	93	84	24	13.92	
	TB	5.7	11	190	0.40	89	73	21	12.18	
Intensive										
	RP1	5.7	4	102	0.11	54	17	14	8.12	
	RP2	5.7	10	80	0.26	45	13	16	9.28	

Table 1. Chemical soil parameters at field sites differing in land use in August 2007. PX – Galhardo; TB – Terra Brava; RP1 – Agualva 1; RP2 – Agualva 2.

2.5. Establishment of a trap culture

Trap cultures were established from fresh soil samples mixed with autoclaved sand and "bagacina" (volcanic soil type) in a ratio of 2:1:1. A 1.5-kg aliquot of the mixture was placed in each pot to produce trap culture from each sample (Fig. 2). Corn (*Zea mays* L.) was used as host plant. Seeds of corn were surface sterilised by immersion in alcohol (96 %) for 30 sec, 4 % bleach for 2 min, and rinsed twice in sterile distilled

water. Then, they were sown in pots on sterilised sand soil and left to germinated in the greenhouse. After one week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to pots containing the fresh soil samples mix. A total of 4 seedlings were used per plot. Trap cultures in 40 plots were grown in glasshouse for 5 months and then harvested. All pots were watered every 2 days with distilled water, and no nutrient solution was added to the pots. One month before harvested, we left watering the pots to stimulate the sporulation.



Figure 2. Trap cultures with *Zea may* host, using original soil from the seminatural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures.

2.6. AMF spore extraction and identification

Spores were extracted from each soil sample using a centrifugation technique modified from that used for extracting nematodes from soil (Jenkins, 1964). A subsample of about 50 cm³ was weighed and sieved (2 mm) to remove some debris and lumps. Next, the sample was placed in an erlemeyer (1000 mL) containing a solution of sodium polyphosphate (NaPO₃)_n, stirred vigorously for 4 min on a stirrer and allowed to settle for 15 sec. Then, the supernatant was gently poured to a stack of 1000-, 500-, 250-, 100-, and 45 μ m sieves. This operation was repeated more than 2 times but it was used only distilled water as a solution. Then, we proceeded to the collection of the material found in each sieve to two 50-mL plastic centrifuge tubes, and centrifuged for 5 min at 4000 r.p.m. on horizontal centrifuge. The supernatant was discarded and the tubes were filled with sucrose solution at a concentration of 480 g/ L (specific gravity, 1.18). Their contents were then stirred thoroughly and centrifuged for 3 min at 3000 r.p.m. The supernatant was quickly poured onto a 38 μ m sieve and

Chapter II

sluiced with tap water to remove the sugar. The material retained on this last sieve was transferred to a 50-mL plastic centrifuge tube and stored at 4 °C in autoclaved distilled water until count could be made. After, tubes containing the spores were discharged into a glass Petri plate (9 cm diameter), all spores were counted into at a 2-mL plastic tube and stored at 4 °C in autoclaved distilled. Next each plastic tube containing all spore extracted from each sample (a total of 40 samples) were sent to a specialist, AMF spore in identification, Dr. Christopher Walker which made its morphological identification.

Species description was based on recommendations of Dr. C. Walker, as well as, on current species descriptions and identification manuals (International Culture Collection of Arbuscular and Vesicular-Arbuscular Endomycorrhizal Fungi [http://invam.caf.wvu.edu/Myc_Info/Taxonomy/species.htm]).

This work was a preliminary study of AMF diversity and composition only based on species extracted from trap culture, caused by low spore number, parasitism of spores, and age and environmental alteration of spores (e.g., discoloration) in field which could hinder accurate identification, Hence, it's probable that has occurred some bias from the use of this technique.

Discrepancies between trap culture roots and field-collected roots are likely to be the result of the conditions in the pot cultures, which may favor certain AMF taxa. Consequently, trap culture may provide a different picture of AMF communities than analysis of field-collected roots. Such a difference in AMF species composition between trapping and direct spore extraction had been report in several studies (Brundrett *et al.* 1999; Oehl *et al.* 2003). Brundrett *et al.* (1999) found that most species of *Scutellospora*, *Acaulospora* and *Gigaspora* were obtained primarily from field-collected spores, but only 50% of these culture attempts were successful. With *Glomus*, they found the opposite pattern. Several *Glomus* spp. rarely detected in field soil were dominant in trap cultures. Oehl *et al.*, (2004) reported three out of 35 species recorded at a field site failing to produce spores in traps. Hijri *et al.* (2006) noted that *Paraglomus* was never detected in trap cultures, although it occurred frequently in the field site experiment. However, the opposite was observed by them in relation to *Archaeospora trappei* which only be detected in trap cultures.

Also Wang et al., 2008 found a distinct difference in AMF diversity in the two sets of intensively managed agricultural soil in Sichuan Province of SE China. Only five

species out of thirty were detected both by direct extraction (soil set 2) from soil and by trap culturing (soil set 1).

However, despite all limitations of trap culture it's know that identification of species at a site and quantification of diversity, dominance, etc., actually it's limited to the sporulating species, and that non-sporulating species only can be detected via trap culture. The differences between isolation methods often is pronounced with prolonged (Oehl *et al.*, 2003) or repeated trapping (Stutz and Morton, 1996). However, it is clear that several isolation methods should be used simultaneously to obtain a more complete picture of the AMF species composition in soil. Brundrett *et al.* (1999) studied four different techniques for isolating AMF, i.e. (1) spores separated from soil, (2) soil trap cultures, (3) root samples or (4) transplanted seedlings. They found that all these techniques complemented each other because they often produced cultures dominated by different species from the same soil sample.

Furthermore, although morphological identification of AMF is the most widespread method and in many cases still unavoidable, it should be carried out concomitantly with other (e.g. molecular) methods for mutual confirmation.

2.7. Data analysis

Spore density, richness, occurrence and relative abundance were based on spore identification extracted from the trap culture. The ecological parameters were calculated as follows: i) spore density was expressed as number of fungal spores in 50 g dried soil; ii) relative of abundance was defined as the number of spore of a given specie or genus divided by the total number of spores in each soil type; iii) frequency of occurrence was calculated as the number of samples from which particular species or genus were isolated; iv) species richness was defined as the number of AMF taxa found in particular field site.

To analyse the relatedness of sampling sites in respect of AMF species composition a hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) using Ward's minimum variance method was performance in CAP 4 (Community Analysis Package 4, CAP4), to determine the similarity (more precisely: dissimilarity) with respect to AMF species composition between land use, based on the χ^2 distance. We also used Principal Correspondence in CAP 4, to study the contribution of each sampled site to the total variation based on

their AMF species composition, as well as the contribution from each AMF species based on their abundance along sampled sites.

Pearson correlations coefficients was calculated between chemical proprieties of each soil type and the total AMF density, as well as between AMF spore density of the more representative genera (*Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora*).

The sampling design was nested hierarchical, with field sites nested within land use type. Then, to investigate the variation on species richness between land uses and between field sites within each land use we used Nested ANOVA (Minitab, version 13.31, 2000). The same proceed was made to estimated the variation on total AMF spore density, and the variation on AMF spore density of the more representative genera (*Acaulospora, Glomus* and *Scutellospora*) between land uses and between field sites within each land use. All data were tested for normality when required to fulfil assumptions of the Nested ANOVA.

3. Results

3.1. AMF species recorded

Thirthy-nine AMF species representing eight genera were detected in two land uses studied (Table 2). Nineteen species could not clearly be named at the species level, the majority of them bellowed to the genus *Glomus* (13), *Paraglomus* (2) following by genera *Acaulospora*, *Ambispora*, *Gigaspora* and *Scutellospora* each with just one species not morphologically identified to the species level (Table 2).

The two most representative genera were *Glomus* and *Acaulospora* with 19 and 10 species respectively, following from the genera *Paraglomus* and *Scutellospora* with 3 species each. The other AMF species detected were two from the genus one species (Table 2).

Table 2. Occurrence of glomeromycotan species in semi-natural (PX and TB) and intensive(RP1 and RP2) pastures.

Fungal species recorded	PX	ТВ	RP1	RP2
Acaulospora delicata Walker, Pfeiffer & Bloss	x			
Acaulospora elegans Trappe & Gerd.			х	
Acaulospora excavata Ingleby & Walker		х		
Acaulospora cf koskei Blaszk.	х		х	х
Acaulospora laevis Gerd. & Trappe	х	х	х	х
Acaulospora myriocarpa Spain, Sieverd. & Schenck	х	х	х	х
Acaulospora cf paulinae Blaszk.	х	х	х	х
Acaulospora cf thomii Blaszk.	х			
Acaulospora tuberculata Janos & Trappe	х			х
Acaulospora sp.	х	х		
Ambispora sp.	х	х		
Entrophospora infrequens (Hall) Ames and Schneid.				х
Gigaspora sp.	х			
Glomus clarum Nicolson & Schenk	х	х		
Glomus cf etunicatum Becker & Gerd.		х	х	х
Glomus globiferum Koske & Walker			х	х
Glomus intraradices Schenck & Sm.	х			
<i>Glomus</i> cf <i>lamellosum</i> Dalpé, Koske & Tews <i>Glomus rubiforme</i> (Gerd. &Trappe) Almeida &				x
Schenck	х	х	х	х
Glomus sp. 1	х		х	
Glomus sp. 2	х			х
Glomus sp. 3		х		
Glomus sp. 4		х		
Glomus sp. 5			х	
Glomus sp. 6			х	
Glomus sp. 7			х	
Glomus sp. 8			х	
Glomus sp. 9				х
Glomus sp. 10				х
Glomus sp. 11				х
Glomus sp. 12				х
Glomus sp. 13				х
<i>Intraspora schenckii</i> (Sieverd. &Toro) Oehl & Sieverd. <i>Paraglomus brasilianum</i> (Spain & Miranda) Morton & Redecker	х		x	
Paradomus sp. 1	¥	¥	Ŷ	Y
Paraglomus sp. 2 Scutellospora calospora (Nicolson & Gerd) Walker &	Λ	~	~	x
Sanders Scutellospora pellucida (Nicolson & Schenck) Walker	х	х	х	х
and Sanders	х		х	х
Scutellospora sp.	х	х	х	х

3.2. Species descriptions

Acaulospora delicate Walker, Pfeiff. & Bloss

Spores subglobose, 80 x 73 μ m, subhyaline to pale yellow. Wall structure of 4 components in 2 groups (A and B). Wall group A of 2 components and wall of group B of 2 thin, hyaline flexible inner components which react to became purple in Melzer's reagent.

Fig. 3.1. a) Spore reacting in PVLG;
b) crushed spore in PVLG; c) spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing; d) spores in water showing variation in shape.

Acaulospora elegans Trappe & Gerd.

Spores subglobose, 150 x 130 µm, ochre to dark brown with a dull surface due to light scattering from surface ornamentation. Wall structure 4 components in 2 groups (A and B). Wall group A of 2 components and wall of group B of 2 hyaline, flexible components. **Fig. 3. 1. e)** Spore reacting in PVLG.



Figure 3.1. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.

Acaulospora excavata Ingleby & Walker

Spores broadly ellipsoid, 110 x 90 μ m, pale ochre to orange. Wall structure of 3 components in 3 groups (A, B and C). Wall group A of a unit component, ornamented by circular to subcircular to elliptical pits. Wall groups B and C both of a single component. **Fig. 3.1. f)** Spore reacting in PVLG.

Acaulospora koskei Blaszk.

Spores globose, 180 x 180 µm, pale yellow-brown to orange brown. Wall structure of 6 components arranged in 2 groups. Wall group A of 3 components and wall group B of 2 flexible hyaline inner components which reacted to became pale pinkish purple in Melzer's. **Fig. 3.2. a)** Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing; **b)** spores in water showing variation in shape.

Acaulospora laevis Gerd. & Trappe

Spores globose, 260 x 260 µm, yellow-brown to red-brown. Spores formed laterally in a neck of a hyaline single terminal sporiferous saccule. Wall structure composed of 5 components in 2 groups. Wall Group A of 3 components. Wall group B of a 2 flexible hyaline inner components, very thin. Fig. 3.2. c) Spore in PVLG with Melzer's; d) spore invaded by non-AM fungi in PVLG with Melzer's reagent; e) spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing.

Acaulospora myriocarpa Spain, Sieverd. & Schenck

Spores broadly ellipsoid, 70 x 60 µm in size, hyaline to pale yellow. Wall structure composed of 3 components in one group. **Fig. 3.2. f)** Spore reacting in PVLG.



Figure 3.2. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.

Acaulospora paulinae Blaszk

Spores globose, 75 x 75 μ m, hyaline to pale yellow. Wall structure composed 3 components in two groups. Wall group A of 2 components, and wall group B of a unit component which reacted to became purple in the Melzer 's reagent. **Fig. 3.2. g**)

Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent; **h)** spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing.

Acaulospora thomii Blaszk

Spores globose to subglobose, 280 x 280 μ m brownish orange to brown and shiny some with a thick outer hyaline wall component. Wall structure of 5 components arranged in 2 groups (A and B). Wall group A of 3 components and wall group B of 2 hyaline components.

Fig. 3.3. a) Spore cluster reacting in PVLG; **b)** crushed spore in PVLG; **c)** spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing; **d)** spores in water showing variation in shape.

Acaulospora tuberculata Janos & Trappe

Spores globose to subglobose, 120 x 110 µm, pale orange-brown to orange-brown. Wall structure of 3 components in

a single group.

Fig. 3.3. e) Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent; **f)** spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing.

Acaulospora sp.

Spore globose, 60 x 60 µm, colourless to white. Wall structure composed 3 components in two groups.



Wall group A of 2 components, and wall group B of a unit component which reacted to became slight pink in the Melzer's reagent. **Fig. 3.3. g)** Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent.

Ambispora sp.

Spores singly in the soil, globose, 70 x 70 μ m, pale pinkish cream, with a roughened appearance due to degradation of outer wall component. Spore wall structure of 3 groups. Group A of two components: component 1 evanescent, becoming roughened through degradation; component 2 laminated. Group 2 composed of a single flexible component. Group 3 of two tightly adherent flexible components. This appears to be an undescribed species in the genus *Ambispora* with some similarity to *A. fennica*, the type species of the genus, but the spores are much smaller and as yet no link has been made with a glomoid morphotype. Further work will be required to verify its identity though isolation followed by molecular and morphological study.

Fig. 3.4. a) Uncrushed spore in PVLG, showing aggregated spore contents, and debris adhering to the degrading evanescent wall component; b) crushed spore showing wall structure;
c) spores extracted from the soil in water.

Entrophospora infrequens (Hall) Ames & Schneid.

Spores globose to subglobose, 130 x 120 µm, orange-brown to dark orange-brown. Wall structure of 7 components arranged in two groups (A and B).

Wall of group A of 4 components and wall of group B of 3 hyaline and flexible.components. **Fig. 3.4. d; e)**; Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

50 μm 50 μm a) 50 μm b) 50 μm b) 50 μm c) 50 μm j 50 μm j 50 μm j

Figure 3.4. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.

Gigaspora sp.

The spore subglobose, 370 x 400 μ m, pale to brownish yellow. The bulbous subtending hypha formed terminally or laterally detached (presumably during extraction from the soil or substrate).

Wall structure of 2 components in a single group, a thin outer unit component and a main structural laminated component. **Fig. 3.4. f)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus clarum Nicolson & Schenck

Spores globose to subglobose, 70 x 70 μ m, hyaline to yellow brown, sometimes pale yellow to pale yellow brown. Wall structures of 3 components arranged in a single group. **Fig. 3.5. a)** uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus etunicatum Becker & Gerd.

Spores globose to subglobose, 120 x 110 μ m, orange to red brown. Wall structure of 2

components in group. **Fig. 3.5. b)** Spore uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus globiferum Koske & Walker

Spores globose, 80 x 73 µm, orange brown to brown red. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in a single group. **Fig. 3.5. c)** Spore uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus intraradices Schenck & Sm.

Spores broadly ellipsoid to ellipsoid, pale yellow (ochre) to yellow brown, 64 x 109 µm. Wall structure of 2 components in a single group. The outer component reacts in Melzer's to become pink, and the innermost surface reacts similarly. **Fig. 3.5. d)** Spores in PVLG in root; **e)** spores clusters reacting in PVLG with Melzer; **f)** spores extracted from the soil in water.



Glomus lamellosum Dalpé, Koske & Tews

Spores globose to subglobose, 85 x 80 μ m, cream to pale yellow. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in a single group. **Fig. 3.5. g)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus rubiforme (Gerd. & Trappe) Almeida & Schenck

Spores globose to subglobose, 80 μ m x 70 μ m, light brown to dark brown. This species showed hypogeous sporocarps in dense cluster. Wall structure of a single group. **Fig. 3.6. a)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG; **b)** Sporocarps in dense cluster extracted from soil in water.

Glomus sp. 1

Spores more or less globose, brown, 77-93 x 77-85 µm. Spores dead and much degraded. These darkly pigmented spore types are very common worldwide, and most often are found only as dead spores. They are commonly known as 'red brown laminate spores. **Fig. 3.6. c)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 2

Spores globose, 150 x 150 μ m, brown to red brown. Wall structure of 2 components in a single. **Fig. 3.6. d)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 3

Spores broadly ellipsoid, 85 x 75 μm, pale yellow to yellow. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in one group. **Fig. 3.6. e)** Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent.

Glomus sp. 4

Spores were globose to broadly ellipsoid, 20 x 25 µm in size hyaline. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in one group. **Fig. 3.6. f)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 5

Spores globose to subglobose, 120 x 110 µm, colourless. Wall structure of 2 thin components in only one group. **Fig. 3.6. g)** Crushed spore in PVLG.



Glomus sp. 6

Spores globose, 50 x 50 μ m, colourless to pale yellow. Wall structure of 2 rough components in one groups which reacted to became purple in the Melzer's reagent. **Fig. 3.7. a)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 7

Spores globose to subglobose, 80 x 80 μ m, colourless. Wall structure of 2 components in one group which reacting to become pink in Melzer's reagent. **Fig. 3.7. b)** Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent.

Glomus sp. 8

Spores subglobose, 100 x 85 µm, yellow to greyish yellow. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in a single group. **Fig. 3.7. c)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 9

Spores globose, 90 x 90 µm, orange to dark red. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in a single group. **Fig. 3.7. d)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 10

Spores subglobose, 130 x 125 µm, yellow to brownish yellow. Wall structure of 2 components in one group. **Fig. 3.7. e)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.



Figure 3.7. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.

Glomus sp. 11

Spores globose, 80 x 80 μ m, hyaline. Wall structure of 2 components arranged in a single group which reacting to become pink in Melzer's reagent. **Fig. 3.7. f)** Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent.

Glomus sp. 12

Spores were globose, 250 x 250 μ m in size, yellow to brownish yellow. Wall structure of 3 components in a single . **Fig. 3.8. a)** Crushed spore in PVLG.

Glomus sp. 13

Spores globose to subglobose, $120 \times 110 \mu m$, yellow to yellow pale. Wall structure of 2 components in a single. **Fig. 3.8. b)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Intraspora schenckii

(Sieverd. & S. Toro) Oehl & Sieverd Spores globose to subglobose, ellipsoid to ovoid, hyaline, 37-99 x 27-72 μm. Wall structure of 3 components arranged in one group. Fig. 3.8. c) Spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent; d) uncrushed spore in PVLG; e) spores in water showing variation in shape.

Paraglomus brasilianum (Spain & Miranda) Morton & Redecker

Spores globose to subglobose, 80 x 60 µm in size, subhyaline to cream. Wall structure of 3 components in a single. **Fig. 3.8. f)** uncrushed spore in PVLG

Paraglomus sp 1.

Spores broadly ellipsoid, 69 x 50 μm, hyaline to pale cream. Wall structure of 3 components in a single. **Fig. 3.8. g)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG.



Figure 3.8. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.

Paraglomus sp. 2

Spores globose to ellipsoid, 60 x 60 μ m, pale yellow to colourless. Wall structure of one group composed of 2 components wich reacting to become pink in Melzer's reagent. **Fig. 3.8. h)** uncrushed spore in PVLG.

Scutellospora calospora (Nicolson and Gerd.) Walker & Sanders

Spores broadly ellipsoid to ellipsoid, 250 x 210 µm, pastel yellow, formed terminally on a bulbous subtending hypha. Wall structure of 4 components (A and B). Wall group A of two components, an outermost unit component and a main structural laminated component. Wall group B of two colourless flexible components, reacting to become purple in Melzer's reagent. Bulbous base ovoid to clavate, pastel yellow to dark orange. Germination shield formed by wall group B, ovoid to oblong, hyaline to pale brown. **Fig. 3.9. a)** Crushed spore in PVLG, showing signs of invasion by (presumed) pathogen; **b)** spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing; **c)** spores in

water showing variation in shape.

Scutellospora pellucida (Nicolson & Schenck) Walker & Sanders

Spores globose to subglobose, 230 X 210 µm, colourless to white, yellow-brown, formed terminally on a colourless to yellow bulbous base. Wall structure of 4 components in 2 groups (A and B). Wall group A of 2 components (unit and laminated), and wall of 2 (perhaps 3) inner flexible and colourless components that formed a kind of 'endospore'. The laminated structural component Melzer's reagent to reacted to became red (more or less dextrinoid) whereas the innermost component reacted to that reagent to became purple (more or less dextrinoid).



Figure 3.9. Spores from semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures originating from trap culture.
These characteristics fit with the species description and with recent interpretations (C. Walker pers. comm). **Fig. 3.9. d)** Uncrushed spore in PVLG; **e)** spore reacting in PVLG with Melzer's reagent after crushing; **f)** spores in water showing variation in shape.

Scutellospora sp.

Spores broadly ellipsoid to ellipsoid, 270 x 170 µm, pastel yellow, formed terminally on a bulbous subtending hypha. Wall structure of 4 components in 2 groups (A and B). Wall groups A of 2 components, an outermost unit component and a main structural laminated component. Wall group B of 2 colourless flexible components. **Fig. 3.9. g)** Spore crushed in PVLG, showing contents degraded by parasitism or by saprobic organisms; **h)** intact spore showing bulbous base (lower left).

3.3. AMF species composition

The number of species found at both land uses types was almost identical, as the semi-natural and intensive pastures contained 24 and 28 AMF species respectively. Then, no significant differences was found between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 2.44; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.13) neither between field sites within each land uses (Nested Anova: F= 1.31; d.f= 1. 36; p= 0.28).

However, the AMF species composition appeared to differ between both land uses. The hierarchical cluster analyses showed that land use intensity was the dominating factors which separated the similarities in AMF species composition between field sites (Fig. 4). The semi-natural sites with lower levels of land use intensity (PX; TB), are clearly separated clearly from intensives sites (RP1; RP2).



Figure 4. Hierarchical, agglomerative cluster analysis (Ward's linkage, 1-sorensen dissimilarity measure) for the AMF species in the semi-natural (PX and TB) and intensive (RP1 and RP2) land uses.

The contribution of AMF spore abundance and land use type to the total variation in species composition was analysed via Principal Component Analyses (PCA) (Fig. 5). Figure 5 presents the biplot for the first and second PCA axes, which explained 76.2% of total variation. The first axis which contributed with 46.50 % to the variance in species composition separated clearly the 2 land use types. In fact, only 18% of AMF species had "a generalist" behaviour, having been detected in both land uses, like *Acaulospora paulinae*, *Acaulospora laevis*, *Acaulospora myriocarpa*, *Scutellospora calospora*, *Scutellospora pellucida*, *Glomus clarum* and *Glomus rubiformis*.



Figure 5. First and second axis in the Principal Correspondence Analysis for the abundance of AMF spores in the four field sites studied (PX and TB - semi-natural pastures; RP1 and RP2 – intensive pastures). AMF species are presented as vectors.

We detected that some AMF species occurred exclusively in just one land use type or in just one field site. In this way, *Acaulospora* sp. and *Ambispora* sp. were only observed in the semi-natural land use (Fig. 5) while *G. etunicatum* and *Paraglomus brasilianum* was only found in the intensive ones (Fig. 5). In fact, *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* were not only the two genera with higher frequency of occurrence (Fig. 6 a; 6 b) but also the most abundant (Fig. 7 a; 7 b) in semi-natural sites, having been *S. calospora* and *A. myriocarpa* the dominant species of these genera (Fig. 5). On the other hand, in intensive land use *Glomus* was the more frequent genus having been present in more than 90 % of the samples (Fig. 6 c; 6 d). *Glomus* was the most abundant genus (Fig. 7 c; 7 d), having contributed with about 40% of the total AMF spores density of intensive land use field sites. Between the various species of *Glomus*, *G. etunicatum* was the most representative species of this genus (Fig. 5). *Paraglomus* also was more frequent in intensive field sites than in semi-natural ones (Fig. 6 c; 6 d), as well as more abundant (Fig. 7 c; 7 d).

Interesting was the frequency of occurrence of *Acaulospora*, having been present in almost all samples of intensive land use (Fig. 6 c; 6 d), especially the relative density of *A. paulinae*, that made it in the dominant species of this genus in RP2 (Fig. 6 d).

Furthermore, other species were more or less restricted to specific field sites which contributed to enhance, the role of management systems as key factor in species composition between semi-natural and intensive land uses. Thus, in relation to the field sites of semi-natural land use we observed that *Acaulospora delicata*, *Acaulospora thomii*, *Glomus intraradices*, *Intraspora schenckii* and *Gigaspora* sp. only occurred in PX, whereas *Acaulospora excavata*, *Acaulospora tuberculata*, *Glomus* sp. 3 and *Glomus* sp. 4 were detected only in TB (Fig. 5). On the other hand, we also noted that some species exclusively occurred in RP1, like *Acaulospora elegans*, *Glomus* sp. 5, *Glomus* sp. 6, *Glomus* sp. 8 and *Glomus* sp. 9 (Fig. 5). Finally we observed that 9 AMF were only detected in RP1, most of them belong to genus *Glomus* sp. 11, *Glomus* sp. 12, *Glomus* sp. 13. Also only presented in RP2 field site were *Paraglomus* sp. 2 and *Entrophospora infrequens* (Fig. 5).



Semi-natural land use

Intensive land use



Figure 6. Frequency of occurrence of each AMF genus from each field site in semi-natural (a; b) and intensive (c; d) pastures.



Figure 7. Contribution of each AMF genus to total AMF spores density of each field in semi-natural (a.PX; b.TB) and intensive (c.RP1; d.RP2).

3.4. Soil nutrient parameters

The correlation coefficient of soil nutrient parameters which influenced the total AMF spore density as well as the AMF spore densities belong to the genera: *Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora* is present in the Table 3. The total AMF spore density was not significantly correlated with any soil nutrients. However, a different scenario was obtained when we analysed the AMF spore densities of the 3 more representative genera (*Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora*).

	Spore density					
	Total	Acaulospora	Glomus	Scutellospora		
Ν	0.084	0.446**	-0.502**	0.415**		
Р	-0.12	0.058	-0.282	0.001		
К	0.009	0.215	-0.404*	0.337*		
Mg	0.087	0.406**	-0.494**	0.461**		
Ca	0.086	0.383*	-0.474**	0.460**		
ОМ	0.09	0.443**	-0.508**	0.444**		

Table 3. Correlation coefficients of Total AMF spore density and AMF spore densities belong to the genera: *Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora* in semi-natural and intensives field sites and soil nutrient levels.

The AMF spore density belong to the *Acaulospora* genus was positively correlated with N (r= 0.446), Mg (r= 0.406) and OM (r= 0.443) at p< 0.01. Significant and positive correlations were also observed between *Acaulospora* spores density and Ca (r= 0.383, p< 0.05). Negative and significant correlations existed between *Glomus* spores density and all soil nutrients analyzed except with P, with which had also a negative but statistically insignificant correlation. Thus, *Glomus* spore density was negatively correlated with N (r= -0.502), Mg (r= -0.494), Ca (r= 0.474) and OM (r= -0.508) at p< 0.01 as well as with K (r= -0.404, p< 0.05). Contrary to *Glomus* spore density, AMF spore density belong to *Scutellospora* genus was positively correlated with all soil nutrients, except with P, with which expressed a positive but insignificant correlation. This way, *Scutellospora* spore density was positive and significantly correlated with N (r= 0.461), Ca (r= 0.460) and OM (r= 0.444) at p< 0.01. *Scutellospora* spore density also had a positive and significant correlation with K (r= 0.337, p< 0.05).

3.5. AMF spore density

The AMF spore densities did not differ among the two land use in question (Nested Anova: F= 0.16; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.696), neither between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 0.59; d.f= 2. 36; p= 0.558). Nevertheless, when we analysis the genus which had more weight to the spore density of each field site the result was interestingly different (Table. 4). The spore density of *Acaulospora* genus, *Glomus* genus and *Scutellospora* genus differed significantly among the various soil types and depended on land use. Then, the AMF spore density belong to *Acaulospora* genus varied significantly between management systems (Nested Anova: F= 6.70; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.014) (Table 4). However, there were no significant differences among field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 2.13; d.f= 2. 36; p= 0.134) (Table 4).

Table 4. F and p values from Nested ANOVA of dependent variables (AMF spore densities belong to the genera: *Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora*) to significance between land use (semi-natural and intensive) and field site within each land use (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2). * P < 0.05; P < 0.01; P < 0.001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	p
Genera		
a) Acaulospora		
Land use	6.70	*
Field site within land use	2.13	n.s
b) <i>Glomus</i>		
Land use	9.73	**
Field site within land use	1.53	n.s
c) Scutellospora		
Land use	9.06	**
Field site within land use	1.23	n.s

In fact, the relative abundance of *Acaulospora* genus was higher in the semi-natural land use than in intensive ones, having been the dominant genus in both semi-natural field sites, especially in PX with a relative abundance of 46% (Fig. 8). The same patterns of results was observed for the AMF spore density belong to the genus *Glomus*, which also varied significantly between the two managements systems (Nested Anova: F= 9.73; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.004) (Table 4). However, we did not observe significant differences among the field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 1.53; d.f= 2. 36; p= 0.231) (Table 4). *Glomus* was the most abundant genus in intensive land use, having contributed with more than 40 % to the AMF spore density of each intensive field sites (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. Contribution of *Acaulospora* genus, *Glomus* genus and *Scutellospora* genus to AMF spores density of each field site in semi-natural (PX; TB) and intensive (RP1; RP2) pastures.

Finally the AMF spore density belong to the *Scutellospora* genus, also was significantly influenced by the land use type (Nested Anova: F= 9.06; d.f= 2. 36; p= 0.005) (Table 4). But, there were no significant differences between field site within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 1.23; d.f= 2. 36; p= 0.303) (Table 4). Like *Acaulospora* genus, *Scutellospora* also was one of the most abundant genera in semi-natural land use, contributing with approximately 40% in the AMF spore density of each semi-natural field site (Fig. 8).

4. Discussion

AMF species diversity

Pasture management can affect the structure of AMF communities causing a decline in AMF diversity and producing a shift in the AMF community composition (Boddington and Dodd, 2000; Jansa *et al.*, 2003). In the current study we found that based on spore morphology there was no differences in AMF diversity in semi-natural and intensives pastures. A similar result was obtained in relation to AMF spore density, which although it was slightly higher in semi-natural systems was not statistically significant. Lack of consistent differences across the two managements practices investigated are opposite to previous reports of lower diversity and abundance of AMF spores in disturbed than in more pristine soils (Boddington and Dodd 2000; Oehl, *et al.*, 2003; Gai *et al.*, 2006). Among others, Eason *et al.* (1999) detected root colonisation and AMF spore density was significantly lower in conventional grassland than in organic ones. Oehl *et al.* (2004) noted that AMF spore abundance and species diversity was significantly higher in the organic than conventional systems. Also Castillo *et al.* (2006) observed that the number of AMF spore was affected by the tillage systems, have been higher under no-tillage than under no-tillage conditions.

Gai *et al.* (2009) found that the lowest species richness, spore density and Shannon index of AMF in the montane scrub could be explained by the intensity of land use, once these grasslands are severely disturbed as result of agriculture practices.

However our result was consistent with found by some authors. Among others, Jansa *et al.* (2002) found that spore abundance was not significantly affected by soil tillage. Also Sjoberg *et al.* (2004) did not find significant differences in spore densities between semi-natural grassland and ploughed fields. Schalamuk *et al.* (2006) found spores of at least 24 species belonging to 6 genera of AMF in non-tilled and tilled wheat soils in Argentina. In this study, tilling or fertilisation did not seem to affect the diversity of spores present, instead spore communities were affected by other factors particular wheat phenology.

More recently, Jefwa *et al.* (2009) found along a land use gradient, that land use type had not significant effect on AMF spore abundance.

AMF spore composition

However, striking differences were found in species composition between land uses. Species in *Glomus* were dominant in intensive land uses, indicating adaptability in adjusting patterns of sporulation to environmental conditions as evidenced by its global distribution (Gai *et al.*, 2009). Prevalence of *Glomus* species in agricultural soil is widely reported (Jansa *et al.*, 2002; Oehl *et al.*, 2003; Mathimaran *et al.*, 2005; Wang and Vestberg, 2008).

Oehl *et al.* (2003) found that some species that had a "generalist" behavior, most of them belong to *Glomus* genus, were prevalent in intensively managed systems. The same author pointed out not only a decreased in AMF species richness with increase of land use intensity, but also a preferential selection of species that colonised roots

slowly but formed spores rapidly. Also Jansa *et al.* (2003) found that in conventional tilled soils, almost exclusively AMF belonging to *Glomus* spp. were present, and that this could be explain by a stimulatory effect of tillage on hyphae growth and/or by the lower completion for root colonization cause by the absence of other AMF species. Lately, Castillo *et al.* (2006) in same field site conditions also noted that *Glomus* spp. constituted about 65 % of total spores in both cultivation systems. Mathimaran *et al.* (2005) only detected Glomus genus in Swiss agricultural soil.

Colonisation strategies of AMF

The dominance of *Glomus* genus in such disturbed systems could be related to differences in propagative units between the glomalean families (Jansa *et al.*, 2003; Castillo *et al.*, 2006). Members of Glomaceae have a highly infective extra-radical mycelium that could allow colonising immediately plant roots (Hart and Reader, 2002). Adding, *Glomus* forms anastomose between mycelia and possibility therefore has the ability to re-establish an interconnected network after mechanical disturbance (Daniell *et al.*, 2001). Contrary members of Gigasporaceae, those are only capable of propagation via spore dispersal or infection from an intact mycelium would colonise plant roots more slowly than members of Glomaceae. Spore dormancy and specific environmental conditions for spore germination probably slow the rate at which regenerating AMF can colonise plant roots (Hart and Reader, 2002). Then, these differences can explain the dominance of the Glomaceae over members of the Gigasporaceae in an environment with repetitive severe physical disturbance, for example ploughing between crop cycles.

The most striking effect of different managements systems concerned the spore abundance of AMF species not belonging to the genus *Glomus*. Many of these species appeared to prefer or even to be restricted to the semi-natural field sites. This was the case for most species of *Acaulospora*, *Scutellospora* as well as *Entrophospora*. Jansa *et al.* (2002) argued that tillage had a significant influence on sporulation of some species and non-*Glomus* AMF tend to be more abundant in the no-tilled soil. Then they have reported, although not significant, a slight increased in the incidence of *Gigaspora*, *Scutellospora* and *Entrophospora* in the no-tilled soil. The absence or lower abundance of non-*Glomus* AMF under tillage condition might be attributed to the yearly disruption of the extraradical hyphae of these fungi induced by this management practice (Jansa *et al.*, 2003).

This trend towards an increase in AMF belong to genera *Acaulospora*, *Scutellospora* as well as *Entrophospora* under long-term reduced tillage managements was also observed by Oehl *et al.* (2004) in organic farming. These authors argue that some species, especially *Acaulospora*, *Scutellospora*, *Cetrapora* and *Gigaspora* have specific and rather narrow, inhabitating preferably organic farming systems, which could be probably related with lower nutrient level (especially available P) in these agroecosystems (Oehl *et al.*, 2010).

Also Börstler *et al.* (2006) found in a study development in an extensively/ intensively farmed meadows that *Acaulospora* was only detected at the extensively ones.

However, despite *Acaulospora* has been not only the most abundant but also the more frequent genus in semi-natural land use, it is interesting to note that in intensive ones *Acaulospora* also was one of the most frequent genus and together with *Glomus* genus formed the highest proportion of spores in intensive field sites. A similar result was found by Castillo *et al.* (2006) who reported a tendency for a slightly higher relative presence of spore of *Acaulospora* spp. under conventional-tillage than under no-tillage sytems. Also, Jefwa *et al.* (2009) point out that AMF species spore abundance was a response to stress with Glomaceae and Acaulosporaceae responding to harsh conditions by producing spores, which making them to persist and dominate disturbed landscapes longer.

Soil nutrient availability

Nutrient availability affects the composition of AMF communities in the soil (Ezawa *et al.*, 2001; Titus and Leps, 2000). In fact, the density of 3 genera most representative *Acaulospora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora* was correlated with almost soil nutrients. Boddington and Dodd (2000) observed the development of indigenous AMF by adding organic matter. Khanam *et al.* (2006) also found in important available agricultural crops in Bangladesh a positive correlation between soil nutrients levels (N, K, OM) and spore numbers. Nevertheless, the opposite was observed in relation to total AMF spore density, which corroborated the generalisation that inorganic fertilisers always have a lowering effect on all glomale species (Jefwa *et al.*, 2006).

Among soil nutrients phosphorus is widely known to inhibit the composition and diversity of AMF communities as well as spore and mycelium densities in temperate and tropical systems (Agwa and Al-Sodany, 2003; Jansa *et al.*, 2005; Khanam *et al.*, 2006). Kahiluoto *et al.* (2001) demonstrated reduced AMF colonisation of roots and

AMF spore density in soil with increasing P fertilisation for several crops on two soils with low and intermediate concentrations of available P.

However in our study no correlation statically significant was obtained between AMF spore density and this soil nutrient. A similar result was reported by Mathimaran et al. (2005) who not found an effect of P fertilisation on spore density in field site and in trap culture, either by Rodriguez-Echeverria et al. (2007) who also not detected a correlation between AMF abundance and soil fertility. It is interesting to note that the P level in the two land use under study was low and below to the level considered prejudicial to AMF, this may have been reflect in the way how other soil nutrients, particularly nitrogen, may affect AMF community. Under P-limited conditions, the investment of a host plant in AMF genus or species should be strengthened to maintain the uptake of-limiting nutrients (Johnson et al., 2003). So as predicted by the functional equilibrium model, in low-P soil, relative allocation to arbuscules, coils and extraradical hyphae is generally increased by N enrichment and vice-versa (Johnson et al., 2003). Consequently, we can observe an increase in AMF productivity, species richness and diversity with N fertilisation, being in these conditions the most responsive AMF taxa Acaulospora, Scutellospora and Gigaspora. The opposite occur in P-rich with N fertilisation application, observing an intensification of AMF community due to the loss of rare AMF species and the increase on abundance of Glomus species (Egerton-Warburton et al., 2007). Then, changes in AMF community may be explained by changes in the soil N:P ratio.

Our results were consistent with found by Johnson *et al.* (2003) and Egerton-Warburton *et al.* (2007). In fact, the spore densities of *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* were positively correlated with N soil nutrient, but the opposite occurred with spore density of *Glomus* genus, which was reflected in a greater abundance of genera *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* in semi-natural land use, as well as, in higher abundance of *Glomus* genus in intensive ones.

We conclude that land use type had no significant effect on AMF spore diversity and total density. However clear differences were found in AMF spores composition between land uses. Species of *Glomus* were dominant in intensive pastures, while *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* predominated in semi-natural pastures. This could be explained through different strategies of colonisation adopted by AMF and by soil nutrient levels. Members of Glomaceae have a highly infective extra-radical mycelium

90

that could allow colonising immediately plant roots, while members of Gigasporaceae are only capable of propagation via spore dispersal, colonising plant roots more slowly than members of Glomaceae. Moreover, *Glomus* forms anastomose between mycelia therefore has the ability to re-establish an interconnected network after mechanical disturbance.

On the other hand, the spore densities of the three most representative genera – *Glomus, Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* were correlated with soil nutrients. Thus, the improvement of soil fertility, especially the availability of K, N, Ca and Mg, provided favourable environment for mycorrhizal formation and function in these systems. However, a correlation between spore density and soil P content was not found. The low level of soil P content and its implication on absorption of the other soil nutrients, particularly N, could explained some change in the AMF spore composition.

CHAPTER III. SEASONAL DYNAMICS OF ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGAL COMMUNITIES IN ROOTS OF *HOLCUS LANATUS* L. IN SEMI-NATURAL AND INTENSIVE PASTURES IN TERCEIRA ISLAND (AZORES)

1. Introduction

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are obligate mutualistic symbionts that colonise more than 85% of terrestrial plants (Smith and Read, 1997; Smith et al., 1999; Ronsheim and Anderson, 2001; Wilkinson, 2001). In addition AMF are essential components of soil microbiota in most agroecosystems (Smith and Read, 1997; Boddington and Dodd, 2000). By forming an extended hyphal network, AMF can improve the growth of different plant species due to enhanced nutrient uptake, particularly immobile nutrients like phosphorus, because the hyphae can reach farther that the nutrient depleted zones that build up around plant roots (Smith and Read, 1997; Clark and Zeto, 2000). As symbionts of plants, AMF fungi can indirectly affect herbivores by reducing acceptability of the plant tissue, altering the nutritional quality, or increasing concentrations or types of defence compounds in the plant tissue, which can alter host resistance to these enemies (Gange and Weast, 1994; Master and Brown, 1997; Borowicz, 1997; Gange et al., 1999; Goverde et al., 2000; Wearn and Gange, 2007). AMF colonisation commonly improves tolerance of crops to other forms of biotic stress, such as nematodes (de la Peña et al., 2006; Rodriguez-Romero et al., 2005, Rodriguez-Echeverria et al., 2009) and root pathogens (Smith et al., 1999; Klironomos et al., 2000; Idoia et al., 2004) as well as to a abiotic stresses, such as drought and metal toxicity (Gonzalez-Chavez et al., 2002). Furthermore, AMF contribute to soil aggregation because the hyphal network builds up of a macroporous structure that facilities penetration of water and air and prevents erosion (Rilling et al., 2003; Piotrowski et al., 2004; Cavagnaro et al., 2006; Van Der Heijden et al., 2006). Another important role of AMF is their contribution as drivers of plant community composition (Van der Heijden et al., 1998; Wolfe et al., 2006).

AMF are therefore beneficial for plant performance, playing a crucial role for the sustainability of natural and agriculture ecosystems (Bareae *et al.*, 2005). However, the distribution and colonisation by AMF are affected by various physico-chemical factors of soil such as pH, moisture and temperature (Abbott and Robson, 1981). Furthermore, agricultural practices like tillage, crop sequence and the composition and application of chemicals alter AMF populations, species composition and root colonisation (Eason *et al.*, 1999; Boddington and Dodd, 2000; Jansan *et al.*, 2002; Oehl *et al.*, 2003; Purin *et al.*, 2006). Tillage has been shown to have a significant influence on AMF colonisation (Douds and Miller, 1999; Jansa *et al.*, 2003; Schalamuck *et al.*, 2006; Garcia *et al.*,

2007). The AMF hyphal network is the main source of AMF inoculum in soils, and tillage causes severe disruption to the mycorrhizal network resulting in delayed or reduced root colonisation and a reduction in the volume of soil that is exploited by AMF (Evans and Miller, 1990; Boddington and Dodd, 2000). In the same way, hyphae and colonised root fragments are transported to the upper soil layer, decreasing and diluting their activity as viable propagules for subsequent crops. On the other hand, phosphorus (P) uptake by plants is generally increased with tillage, due partly to an improved distribution of P and increased P availability (Borie *et al.*, 2006; Garcia *et al.*, 2007). Castillo *et al.* (2006) reported that, under conditions of no tillage AMF root colonisation rates as well as the species richness and number of spores were higher than in tillage conditions. However, Jansa *et al.* (2002) found no significant effect of tillage on diversity indices of the AMF community, and Schalamuk *et al.* (2006) observed a higher number of AMF species in conventional tilled soils than in non-tilled soils cropped with wheat, suggesting that is not always detrimental to AM biodiversity.

Mycorrhizal benefits are usually reduced when soil nutrients are abundant. For instance, an increase in soil P availability negatively affects mycorrhizal colonisation of plant roots (Al-Karaki and Clark, 1999; Eason *et al.*, 1999; Bhadalung *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2006). Other edaphic factors such as an excess of nitrogen (N) (Blanke *et al.*, 2005; Bradley *et al.*, 2006; Porras-Alfaro *et al.*, 2007) and extreme pH (Clark *et al.*, 1999; Easwa *et al.*, 2001; Khanam *et al.*, 2006) may also create conditions in which there is little or no benefit to the host plant from AMF. In addition to affecting plant performance, these factors also influence host plant dependency on AMF symbiosis and the level of root colonisation.

Grazing has also been found to dramatically reduce AMF colonisation and spores densities (Gange *et al.*, 1993; Gehring *et al.*, 1994; Lugo and Cabello, 2002; Dhillion and Gardsjord, 2004). This may be due to a decrease in leaf area and an increase in the root/shoot ratio that results in a decreased source capacity that is insufficient to satisfy root and AMF sink demands. Indeed, Dhillion and Gardsjord (2004) found a significantly higher level of AMF colonisation in ungrazed grasslands than in grazed ones.

Nevertheless, Eom *et al.* (2000) found that root colonisation by AMF was greater under moderate and intense grazing in a tallgrass prairie when compared to ungrazed sites. Frank *et al.* (2003) also observed that mycorrhizal communities differed markedly in grazed and fenced grassland. The spore abundance, species richness and diversity of

AMF were all higher in grazed soil compared to ungrazed soil as result of grazing stimulating a greater allocation of energy belowground increasing the investment in the mycorrhizal symbiosis. Similarly, Wearn and Gange (2007) also found that moderate grazing by rabbits had a rapid and persistent positive effect on the mycorrhizal colonisation of roots of three grasses studied in two grasslands.

In many terrestrial ecosystems, temporal changes in AMF colonisation show a seasonal pattern correlated with several factors such as plant phenology, with the highest rates of colonisation occurring during flowering and fruiting (Titus and Leps, 2000; Lugo and Cabello, 2002; Böhrer *et al.*, 2004) when demand for phosphorus is high (Sanders and Fitter, 1992). Likewise, AMF colonisation is also influenced by the host metabolic pathway (Wilson and Hartnett, 1997; Lugo *et al.*, 2003; Busso *et al.*, 2008; Collins and Foster, 2009), because the growth responses of AMF fungal species depend on the particular host/fungus combination, i.e. whether the host species is a facultative (C_3) or an obligate (C_4) mycotroph. So, some symbiotic relationships are more favoured than others. Nutrient exchanges (Eom *et al.*, 2000; Titus and Leps, 2000) and climatic variations (Kachi and Rorison, 1990; Heinemeyer and Fitter, 2004; Gavito *et al.*, 2005) also have been reported to affect temporal changes in AMF colonisation.

The Azores archipelago has an extended area of grasslands (Martins, 1993), including natural grasslands, semi-natural pastures and intensive pastures (see Borges et al., 2008). Through time, native forests have been destroyed by human activities and replaced by agricultural land. After several economic cycles and some catastrophic experiences with different types of monocultures (e.g. wheat Triticum spp.; "Pastel" Isatis tinctoria L. and; orange-tree Citrus spp.) (Martins, 1993) during the second half of the 20th century cattle milk production has grown in importance (Martins, 1993; Borges, 1997). In order to respond to the high density of cattle milk farms, pastures became the dominant landscape in the Azores archipelago, covering 67.7 % of the arable land, and there are also semi-natural pastures that comprise 11.2 % of the total area (Garcia and Furtado, 1991). Most semi-natural pasture are located at high altitude in recent infertile acidic volcanic soils (e.g. Terceira and Pico), or in more mature but still poor soils (e.g. S. Maria) (Borges, 1997). The floristic composition of pastures is dominated by introduced grasses and leguminous forbs, while native forbs (e.g. Lotus uliginosus), grasses, rushes, sedges and ferns are more frequent in the poorly managed, old, seminatural pastures (Borges, 1997). Relatively little is known about the AMF community structure in these agroecosystems and their role in maintaining pasture productivity.

Whether there are differences in the AMF community between the semi-natural and intensively managed pastures is also unknown. Therefore, in order to better understand the basic biology of AMF and their role in these agroecosystems, it is necessary to analyse the AMF diversity and seasonal patterns of the AMF communities in these agroecosystems.

Several approaches have been developed to study AMF community structure. Traditional studies on AMF diversity are based mainly on spore morphology (Walker, 1992), but taxonomic identification of AMF spores collected directly from the field is quite difficult because they are often unidentifiable due to degradation or parasitisation by other organisms. Furthermore, as they are obligate symbionts, they cannot be cultivated in the absence of their host. Catch plants are often used to produce identifiable spores (Bever et al., 2001). Although useful for the isolation and propagation of some AMF species, this indirect culture strategy is time-consuming, and biases are often introduced by plant preferences for AMF species, different growth conditions, and other environmental factors, which hinder its suitability for the characterisation of AMF communities (Jansa et al., 2002; Oehl et al., 2003). Furthermore, mycorrhizal root colonisation results, as well as spore numbers (Clapp et al. 1995), do not necessarily reflect the AMF populations present in soils but only the sporulation stage of the AMF life cycle (a dormant phase) rather than the activity within a symbiosis. This results of fact, that not all AMF present as spores form active mycorrhizae and that many taxa present in roots may not be sporulating.

Recently molecular methods based on the amplification of DNA from soil or roots by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in combination with denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) have proved to be useful tools for characterising of AMF community (Kowalchuk *et al.* 2002; Ma *et al.* 2005; Santos *et al.* 2006). Kowalchuk *et al.* 2002 reported discrepancies between the AMF-like groups detected in spore population versus direct 18S rDNA (small subunit of ribosomal DNA) analyses of root material by DGGE, corroborating previous suggestions that spore inspection alone may poorly represent actual AMF population structure. Similarly, Zhu *et al.* (2007) found that PCR-DGGE profiles clearly revealed the difference between the native AMF community structures in roots at two different pH levels (5.0 and 6.0). They detected more bands in the samples from pH 5.0 pots than from pH 6.0 pots (Fig. 1), indicating higher diversity of the native AMF at pH 5.0, i.e. the pH value similar to their original environmental pH.

In this molecular approach, PCR amplicons sharing the same length are separated electrophoretically in a sequence-dependent manner based on their GC-content (Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.* 2009). The increasing gradient of denaturing components along the gel causes the double-stranded amplicons to denature into single stranded DNA through melting domains that decrease their mobility (and thus their position in the gel). A GC-clamp attached to the 5' end of one of the PCR primers prevents the amplicons from completely denaturing. Different sequences have different origins of melting domains and, consequently different positions in the gel where DNA fragments halt (Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.* 2009). This strategy provides a robust means of detecting and identifying AMF-like species without the use of trap plant cultivation methods (Kowalchuk *et al.* 2002).

The main objective of this study was to determine the effects of land use and the sampling time on the community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with *Holcus lanatus* L. (Poaceae) in two land use systems: semi-natural and intensive pastures.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental design

AMF community structure was studied during two years (2006, 2007) in two land uses: semi-natural and intensive pastures. Two sites were selected in each land use type: Pico do Galhardo (PX) and Terra Brava (TB) in the semi-natural pastures; Agualva 1 (RP1) and Agualva 2 (RP2) in the intensive pastures. In the first year of study, the study of AMF community structure was performed in two sampling dates (July and September), while in the second year of study was performed in August and November. Then, we have the fowling nested hierarchical design: 2 land uses x 2 sites x 2 sampling dates.

2.2. Site description

This study was conducted in the Terceira Island, the third island of the Azorean archipelago in terms of size (402 km²). Terceira is a roundish island formed by four main volcanic complexes (Serra de Santa Bárbara, Serra do Morião, Pico Alto and Serra do Cume) (Zbyszewski *et al.*, 1971). The highest point (Serra de S. Bárbara, 1023 m) is simultaneously the most recent of the three major island's complexes of 0.025 Ma B.P. (Martins, 1993). The eastern flatted part of the island is its older part of about 3.52

My (Borges *et al.*, 2009). Recent historical volcanic activity is evident in the western part of the island, where several well preserved lava tubes and volcanic chimneys are present (Borges *et al.*, 1993). The Azores archipelago have a temperate oceanic climate characterised by high levels of relative atmospheric humidity that could reach 95% at high altitude native forests and ensures slight thermal variations throughout the year (Azevedo *et al.*, 1999). The average temperature is 17.5° C in low altitudes, while the maximum temperature is in August and minimum in February (Azevedo, 1996). The pluviometric regime reaches its peak in January-February and minimum and July (Azevedo, 1996): Angra do Heroísmo (47 m): 969 mm year (140 mm in January and 40 mm in July) and Serra de S. Bárbara (1,023 m): 3,000 mm year (Borges, 1997).

The sampling areas were cattle-grazed upland pastures of two different types: seminatural pastures (managed for more than 50 years, with a higher diversity of grasses and forbs; see Borges and Brown 2001) and intensive pastures (managed for more than 20 years, characterised also by a poor vascular flora of five or less dominant species).The semi-natural pastures are included in a site of communitarian interest (SIC- Serra de Santa Barbara e Pico Alto) inside of Rede Natura 2000: Pico Galhardo (PX) (Latitude 38° 41' 51.71" N; Longitude 27° 13' 25.34" W) and Terra Brava (TB) (Latitude 38° 41' 59.74" N; Longitude 27° 12' 41.37" W) (Fig. 1).

These pastures show a high floristic diversity, and they are dominated by the grasses *Holcus lanatus* and *Agrostis castellana*, perennial grasses that covers around 100% of sites (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). Frequently present in these pastures are also other grasses like *Anthoxanthum odoratum*, *Lolium multflorum*, *Holcus rigidus* and *Poa trivialis* and spontaneous species without forage value as: *Lotus uliginosus*, *Rumex acetosella* ssp. *angiocarpus*, *Potentilla anglica*, *Hydrocotyle vulgaris*, *Plantago lanceolata*, *Lobelia urens*, *Cerastium fontanum*, *Conyza bonariensis*, *Anagallis arvensis*, *Hypochoeris radicata*, *Ranunculus repens*, *Pteridium aquilinum*, *Juncus effusus* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).

The intensive pastures are included on exotic forest of *Eucalyptus* sp.. Agualva 1(RP1) is located at: Latitude 38° 45' 27.18" N; Longitude 27° 11' 41.55" W; and Agualva 2 (RP2) at: Latitude 38° 45' 24.44" N; Longitude 27° 11' 42.24" W (Fig. 1). In these pastures the dominant grasses are usually *Holcus lanatus* and *Lolium perenne* (plant cover of 100%). Another species with high cover is *Trifolium repens* (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997). In these pastures, other common species are: *Plantago lanceolata*,

Cyperus esculentus, Mentha suaveolens, Cerastium fontanum, Rumex conglomeratus, etc. (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997).



Figure 1. Location of the study sites at Terceira Island

2.3. Study plant

The Azorean pastures are dominated by *Holcus lanatus* L. a non-indigenous plant with a frequency more than 50% (Dias, 1996; Silva and Smith, 2006; Kueffer *et al.*, 2010). In Terceira island in a total of 30 exotic vascular plants, *H. lanatus* L. was the third more frequent (Silva and Smith, 2006). This plant is a C_3 perennial, 20–110 cm tall, tufted grass (Ross *et al.*, 2003). It is very common, growing in all kinds of soil but the optimal growth occurs in moist conditions (Franco, 1984). *H. lanatus* grows well in very wet conditions and can survive moderate periods of drought (Franco, 1984).

2.4. Rhizosphere extraction

Samples were collected in July 2006, September 2006, August 2007 and November 2007. *Holcus lanatus* rhizospheric samples (including soil and root fragments) were collected at the depth of 20 cm. The distance between samples was approximately of 15 meters approximately.

2.5. Soil analyses

The soils of semi-natural and intensive pastures are andossols and sandy-loam (Pinheiro, 1990). The soil analyses were performed only with soil samples collected in August 2007. The 10 samples of rhizospheric soil from each site were pooled and analysed as a single sample. Chemical soil parameters for each soil are presented in Table 1. They were measured in the University of Azores Soil Laboratory (CITA-A), according to standard methods. Potassium, calcium and magnesium were extracted with sodium acetate (1/5) at pH 7, and were determined using a Varian ICP atomic emission spectrophotometer. Soil pH was determined on a soil/water paste (1/2.5) and available phosphorus as described by Olsen and Sommers (1982) by extraction with a 0.5 M NaHCO₃ solution at pH 8.5, using AAS. Total soil nitrogen content was estimated using the Kjehldahl method (Allen, 1989). The organic carbon (OC) and organic matter (OM) present in the soil were estimated using the dry ashing method.

Land use	field site	pН	P (Olsen) (mg kg ⁻¹)	K (mg kg ⁻¹)	N (%)	Ca (mg kg ⁻¹)	Mg (mg kg ⁻¹)	OM (%)	OC (%)
Semi-natural									
	PX	5.7	7	143	0.55	93	84	24	13.92
	TB	5.7	11	190	0.40	89	73	21	12.18
Intensive									
	RP1	5.7	4	102	0.11	54	17	14	8.12
	RP2	5.7	10	80	0.26	45	13	16	9.28

Table 1. Chemical soil parameters at field sites differing in land use in August 2007. PX – Galhardo; TB – Terra Brava; RP1 – Agualva 1; RP2 – Agualva 2.

2.6. AMF root colonisation assessment

The collected roots were stored in 50 % ethanol until staining. Roots were cleared in 2.5% KOH for 1h at 90 °C. Subsequently they were left to acidify overnight in 1% HCl. Staining was done with blue ink (Parker Quink) for 30 min at 60 °C, followed by distaining in lactoglycerol. The amount of colonisation was estimated using a grid-intersect method with examination of 100 intersects under a compound microscope at 200x magnification (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990). Root-intersects that contained vesicles, arbuscules or hyphae were scored as mycorrhizal. The decision to score hyphae as mycorrhizal was based on the absence of septate hyphae, and to presence of vesicles, arbuscules and spores associated. In total, 80 samples were examined to score 100 intersections in each (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990).

2.7. Diversity of AMF communities

2.7.1. Root sampling

In each sampling date (July-September/2006; August-November/2007) five out of ten samples of *Holcus. lanatus* roots collected from field were randomly selected. A total of 80 sampled roots were used for the molecular analysis. About 1g of fine roots per sample were stained with ink (see above) to access AMF colonisation and the remaining preserved in alcohol 48%, until to be use to DNA extraction.

2.7.2. DNA extraction from roots

DNA was extracted from 80 samples of *H. lanatus* roots using the REDExtract-N-Amp Plant PCR KIT (Sigma). Aliquots (1 g) of fresh roots sampled in each sample were firstly carefully cleaned with tap water and washed several times with sterile water to remove the alcohol, and then finely crushed, macerated and transferred into a 1,5-ml Eppendorf tube. After adding an equal volume of glass beads, the roots were macerated again, and stirred in a vortex for 4 min. Afterwards, 200 μ l of extraction solution was added to the extraction mix and the roots were incubated at 60 °C for 30 min. Then a dilution solution was added (200 μ l) to the roots, and the mix was stirred in a vortex for 30 sec. The supernatant was separated by root fragments by centrifugation (8000 r.p.m) and a 4 μ l aliquot was used for PCR amplification of 28 S ribosomal subunit gene.

2.7.3. PCR and DGGE analysis

A nested-PCR was used to selectively amplify fungal DNA from the extracts. The DNA purified was used to the first PCR amplification of the 5' end of Large subunit of rDNA (LSU rDNA) sequences. We used the primers LR1 (Trouvelot et al. 1999) specific of eukaryotic and FLR2 (van Tuinen et al. 1998) specific of fungi. A 25 µl reaction mix contained 12.5 µl of Red Extract solution, 1.25 µl each primer and 5 µl of PCR-grade water. PCR was performed on a Gene Amp. PCR system 2700 Thermo Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Faster City, California) and the program was a followed: 93 °C for 1 min, 58 °C for 1 min and 72 °C for 10 min (35 cycles), followed by 10 min at 72 °C. The PCR products were used as templates for the second PCR with the primer FLR3-GC (FLR3 plus a GC at the 5' end) and FLR4 under the same PCR condition. FLR3 and FLR4 were described by Gollote et al.(2004) as specific for Glomeromycota fungi. The PCR products were run on 2 % (W/V) agarose gel in 1 X TAE buffer and visualised under UV light after staining with ethidium bromide. About 0.4 µg of DNA from each sample was used for DGGE analysis (Rodriguez-Echeverria et al. 2009). Gels contained 8% (w/v) polyacrylamide (37:1 acrylamide/bis-acrylamide) and 1 X TAE. The linear gradient used was from 27% to 43% denaturant, where 100% denaturing is defined as containing 7M urea and 40% (v/v) formamide (Muyzer & Smalla, 1998). Electrophoresis was run at 20V for 15 min, and afterwards at 200V for 330 min with a constant temperature of 60 °C in a DGGE-2401 system from CBS Scientific (CA, USA). Afterwards, gels were stained with ethidium bromide and visualized in a UV transilluminator. Digital images were captured using a Vilber Loumat system and analyzed with GelCompar II version 4.0 (Applie dMaths, Kortrijk, Belgium).

2.8. Detection of dominant AMF species (Development of molecular markers)

2.8.1. Establishment of trap culture

Trap culture were established from fresh soil samples collected from each field site, mixed with sterilised sand and volcanic soil ("bagacina") in a ratio of 2:1:1. A 1.5 Kg aliquot of the mixture was placed in each pot to produce culture from each sample. *Zea mays* L. was used as host plant. Seeds of *Zea mays* L. were surface sterilised by immersion in 96% alcohol for 30 sec, 0.4% sodium hypochlorite for 2 min and rinsed twice in sterile distilled water. They were then sown in pots on a sterilised sand soil and left to germinate in greenhouse. After 1 week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to

the pots. Trap cultures in 40 pots (10/field site) were grown in a glasshouse for 5 month and then harvested. All pots were watered every 2 days with distilled water, and no nutrient solution was added to the pots. After 4 month of sowing we left watering the pots to stimulate the sporulation.

2.8.2. Spore assessment

AMF spores produced in the trap culture were extracted by sieving and decanting (Gerdemann and Nicolson, 1963). The procedure included the passage of 50 cm³ of harvested trap culture substrate from each pot through 1000-, 500-, 250-, 100-, and 45 μ m sieves. The material retained in 250 μ m, 100 μ m and 45 μ m was collected to different petri dish and AMF spores were counted under a stereoscopic microscope (Leica MZ 12).

2.8.3. Culture of AMF

Seeds of *H. lanatus* were surface sterilised using the same procedure applied to the *Z. mays* seeds (see above). Then, they were sown in boards on a sterilised sand soil and left to germinate in greenhouse. After 1 week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to pots containing 1.5 Kg of sterilised soil. Their roots were then carefully exposed and 250 spores and 1g colonised root pieces obtained from trapping or sieved materials were pipetted on to them. Sterilised sand was added to the surface of each pot to reduce the risk of cross-contamination. All pots were watered every 2 days and fertilized with Hoaglands-billeason nutrient solution monthly. Plants were harvested 5-6 months after sowing.

2.8.4. DNA extraction

DNA from 14 samples of *Holcus lanatus* roots collected from a trap culture was extracted using the REDExtract-N-Amp Plant PCR KIT (Sigma) following the protocol described above.

2.8.5. PCR amplification

The DNA isolated from the roots of *Holcus lanatus* collected from a trap culture was subject to a first PCR using the primer pair LR1/FLR2. A 20 μ l reaction mix contained 10 μ l of Red Extract solution, 1 μ l each primer and 4 μ l of PCR-grade water. PCR was performed on a Gene Amp. PCR system 2700 Thermo Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Faster City, California) and the program was a followed: 93 °C for 1 min, 58 °C for 1 min and 72 °C for 10 min (35 cycles), followed by 10 min at 72 °C. The PCR products were used as templates for the second PCR with the primer pair FLR3/FLR4 under the same PCR condition. The PCR products were run on 2 % agarose gel in 1 X TAE buffer and visualised under UV light after staining with ethidium bromide.

2.8.6. DNA purification and sequencing

The PCR products generated from roots of *Holcus lanatus* using the primers FLR3 and FLR4 were purified using GenElute PCR Clean-up Kit (Sigma) with a final elution volume of 30 μ l, and then sequenced on MegaBace using the DYEnamic ET Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit following the manufacturer's instructions. Sequences were compared to known sequences using BLASTN.

Using the sequence information we designed using Citing Primer3 software the primer pair to specifically amplify five disjunctive groups of AMF (Table 2). The primers were synthesized from Sigma-Genosys Ltd

Primer name	DNA sequence in 5' - end to 3' - end orientation	Targeted specificity	Product length (base pairs)
GetuR	ACG GTC TGG TGC ACT TTT GT	Glomus etunicatum	253
GetuL	CAG GTG GAA CAG CCC TAA AG		
GintR	ACA CCG TTC ATG TTT TGC AT	Glomus intraradices	339
GintL	ATC CGT TGC AAT CCT CAA TC		
GmosL	GGA TTG GGA TCT CTC GGT GT	Glomus mosseae	268
GmosR	CTT TCA ACA TCA AGG CAA CG		
GclaR	TGA CAA CTC CCG TCT GTG AC	Glomus claroideum	329
GclaL	TTC AAT CTT TTC CCC TCA CG		
GmicL	ATG ATC GGA GGA ATG TAC GC	Glomus microaggregatum	267
GmicR	TCA TGG ATG ACC GTA AGC AA		

Table 2.	Specificity	and	length	of th	e expected	fragment	with	primers	developed	for	identification	of
AMF in p	lant roots.											

2.8.7. Molecular identification of AMF in the roots

DNA extracted from the 80 *H. lanatus* samples roots collected from field sites, was first used in the same nested PCR protocol as previously described to confirm the AMF presence on roots. After that, five separated PCR reactions were performed with five different primer pairs (Table 2) on each DNA sample. Presence/absence of reaction product was scored after electrophoresis of a 5 μ l aliquot on 2% agarose gel in 1 x buffer and visualised under UV light after staining with ethidium bromide.

2.9. Data analysis

The sampling design was nested hierarchical design, with sampling date nested within field sites and field sites nested within land use. Then, to investigate the variation on percentage of colonisation of different AMF structures between land uses, between field sites within each land use and between sampling dates within each sites we used Nested ANOVA (Minitab, version 13.31, 2000). AMF diversity was estimated via the number of bands with different positions in the acrylamide gel per sample and subsequently per field site and land use. Then, a Nested ANOVA was performed to estimate de variation on species richness between land uses, between field sites within each land use and between sampling dates within each field site. The same proceed was made to investigate the variation on occurrence of five AMF species (Glomus etunicatum, Glomus intraradices, Glomus mosseae, Glomus claroideum and Glomus microaggregatum) between land uses, between field sites within each land use and between sampling dates within each field site. All data were tested for normality, and data of percentage of colonisation of different AMF structures were arcsine-transformed when required to fulfil assumptions of the Nested ANOVA. Since only complete abiotic data were available for the year 2007, the correlation analyses between the abiotic factors and the proportion of colonisation of different AM structures and between occurrence of five AMF species (G. etunicatum, G. intraradices, G. mosseae, G. claroideum and G. microaggregatum) were only performed for the 2007 data using the Pearson correlation coefficient.

3. Results

3.1. Root colonisation

Over this study the percentage of AMF colonisation was strongly influenced by the land use and the month/season in which the harvest took place within each local (Table 3). Thus, for the first year of study (2006), we found that the percentage of AMF colonisation varied significantly between land use (Nested Anova: F= 31.43; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001), with the sampling time (Nested Anova: F= 5.72; d.f= 4. 72; p< 0.001) as well as between field sites with each land use (Nested Anova: F= 4.43; d.f=2. 4; p= 0.01) (Table 3). The average percentage of AMF colonisation was higher in the first sampling date (July, 2006) than the second (September, 2006) in the semi-natural land use especially in TB field site (Fig. 2 a; 2 b). The same result was obtained to percentage of AMF anova: F= 33.61; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001), with the sampling time (Nested Anova: F= 5.86; d.f= 4. 72; p< 0.01) as well as between field site (July, 2006). The average percentage percentage of AMF colonisation was obtained to percentage of AMF anova: F= 4.53; d.f=2. 4; p= 0.01). (Table 3). The average percentage of significantly between land use (Nested Anova: F= 5.86; d.f= 4. 72; p< 0.001) as well as between field sites with each land use (Nested Anova: F= 5.86; d.f= 4. 72; p< 0.001) as well as between field sites with each land use (Nested Anova: F= 4.53; d.f=2. 4; p= 0.01) (Table 3). The average percentage of AMF colonisation was higher in the first sampling date (July, 2006) than the second (September, 2006) in the semi-natural land use especially in TB field site (Fig. 2 a; 2 b).

The percentage of AMF vesicle colonisation varied significantly between land use (Nested Anova: F= 39.10; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001) and between field sites within each land uses (Nested Anova: F=5.07; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.009) (Table 3). The average percentage of AMF vesicle colonisation was higher in the semi-natural than in the intensive land use particularly in PX field site (Fig. 2 a; 2 b).

Table 3. F - and p values from nested ANOVA of dependent variables (% AMF colonisation, % AMF hyphal colonisation, % AMF vesicle colonisation and % AMF arbuscule colonisation) to significance between land use (semi-natural and intensive), field site within land use (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2) and time sampling within field site (July/September; August/November 2007). * P< 0.05; * P< 0.01;*** P< 0.001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	p	
a) Year 2006 Percent AME colonisation			
Land use	31.43	***	
Field site within land use	4.43	*	
Time sampling within field site	5.72	***	
Percent AMF hyphal colonisation			
Land use	33.61	***	
Field site within land use	4.53	*	
Time sampling within field site	5.86	***	
Percent AMF vesicle colonisation			
Land use	39.10	***	
Field site within land use	5.07	**	
Time sampling within field site	0.79	n.s	
Percent AMF arbuscule colonisation			
Land use	5.89	*	
Field site within land use	7.93	**	
Time sampling within field site	0.18	n.s	
b) Year 2007 Percent AMF colonisation			
Land use	151.18	***	
Field site within land use	4.68	*	
Time sampling within field site	4.97	**	
Percent AMF hyphal colonisation			
Land use	95.67	***	
Field site within land use	3.68	*	
Time sampling within field site	5.46	**	
Percent AMF vesicle colonisation			
Land use	26.53	***	
Field site within land use	3.35	*	
Time sampling within field site	4.29	**	
Percent AMF arbuscule colonisation			
Land use	13.36	***	
Field site within land use	2.94	n.s	
Time sampling within field site	5.64	*	

However, there were no significant differences between sampling dates in each field sites (Nested Anova: F= 0.79; d.f= 4. 72; p= 0.54). The same pattern of results was observed for the percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation, which varied significantly between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 7.93; d.f= 2, 4; p= 0.001) and between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 5.89; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.02) (Table 3). The average percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation was higher in the semi-natural than in the intensive land use especially in TB field site (Fig. 2a, b). However, there were no significant differences between sampling dates in each field sites (Nested Anova: F= 0.18; d.f= 4. 72; p= 0.95).

For the second year of harvesting (2007) the AMF colonisation also varied significantly between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 151.18; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001), with the sampling date in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 4.97; d.f= 4. 72; p= 0.001) (Table 3), and between field sites with each land use (Nested Anova: F= 4.68; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.01) (Table 3).

In fact, the average percentage of AMF colonisation in the first sampling date (August, 2007) was higher than in the second (November, 2007) in all field sites, and was also higher in sites of semi-natural pasture compared to the sites of intensive pasture (Fig. 2c; 2d). The same result was observed in the percentage of AMF hyphal colonisation, which varied significantly between land use (Nested Anova: F= 95.67; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001), with the harvest date in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 5.46; d.f= 4. 72; p= 0.001) and between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 3.68; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.03) (Table 3). The average percentage of AMF hyphal colonisation in the semi-natural land use was higher than in intensive particularly in the summer harvest (August, 2007) in all field sites (Fig. 2c, 2d). The percentage of AMF vesicle varied significantly between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 26.53; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001), with the sampling time in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 3.35; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.04) (Table 3).

%Total AMF colonisation



88



40

30

20

10

0

ΡX

ΤВ

Semi-natural

RP1

RP2

Intensive

July sampling of 2006

a)

30

20

10

0

PΧ

Figure 2. Average percent of total AMF, hyphae, vesicles and arbuscules colonisation during 4 sampling times (a, b, c, and d) from two different pasture management regimes (semi-natural and intensive). Standard errors of the mean (n= 10) are shown. Values of percent are arcsinetransformed. Nested ANOVA p-values are presented in Table 3.

RP1

Intensive

RP2

ΤB

Semi-natural

The average percentage of AMF vesicle colonisation in the semi-natural land use was higher than in the intensive in the first harvest (August, 2007) in all field sites, especially in PX (Fig. 2 c). Finally, the percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation also varied significantly between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 13.36; d.f= 1. 2; p< 0.001) and with the time of sampling within each field site (Nested Anova: F= 5.64; d.f= 4. 72; p= 0.001) (Table 3).

The average percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation in the semi-natural land use was higher than in the intensive especially in the first harvest (August, 2007). However, there were no significant differences between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 2.94; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.06) (Table 3).

3.2. Species richness

A total of 80 root collected in 2006/2007 was subjected to DNA extraction. PCR products of the expected size were obtained from a total of 66 samples (82.5% of roots). The 80 root samples produced a total of 214 bands of AMF, 58% of them in 2007.

Table 4. F - and p values from nested ANOVA of Species Richness to significance between land use (semi-natural and intensive), field site within land use (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2) and time sampling within field site (July/September; August/November 2007) * P< 0,05; * P< 0,01;*** P< 0,001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	p	
a) Year 2006			
Percent AMF colonisation			
Land use	1.51	n.s	
Field site within land use	7.47	**	
Time sampling within field site	5.00	**	
b) Year 2007			
Percent AMF colonisation	_		
Land use	0.36	n.s	
Field site within land use	10.10	***	
Time sampling within field site	4.31	**	

Over the two years of study the species richness exhibited the same pattern of result. Thus, in the first year (2006) the species number varied significantly between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 7.47; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.002) and with the sampling time in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 4.30; d.f= 4. 29; p= 0.003) (Table 4). The average of species richness was higher in PX and RP1, especially in the second sampling time (September). Indeed, bands of AMF were detected in 100 % of September samples, but only in 35 % of the samples taken in July.

Although the number of detected AMF bands having been higher in semi-natural (51 bands) than in intensive (42 bands), we did not found significant differences between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 1.51; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.23) (Table 4). However, the number of bands/sample was higher in the semi-natural land use than in the intensive (Fig. 3 a). In the second year (2007) the species number also varied significantly between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 10.10; d.f= 2. 4; p< 0.001) and with the sampling time in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 4.31; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.007) (Table 4). The average of species richness was higher in TB and in RP1, especially in the first sampling time (August). Indeed, in August we detected 83 bands of AMF against 47 detected in November, i.e. about the double of the bands were detected in summer.

Again, there were no significant differences between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.36; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.55) (Table 4). In fact the number of bands per land use was very similar, a total of 69 and 61 bands of AMF were detected in semi-natural and intensive land uses respectively. Nevertheless, the number of bands/sample was in the semi-natural land use than in intensive Fig. 3 b). Thus, seems that in the intensive land use the plants are colonised by dominant AMF species.




Figure 3. Number of bands/sample during two sampling times of 2006 (a) and two sampling time of 2007 (b) from two different pasture management regimes (semi-natural and intensive).

3.3. Incidence of *Glomus etunicatum*, *Glomus. intraradices*, *Glomus mosseae*, *Glomus claroideum* and *Glomus microaggregatum*.

In the first year of study, the presence of the 5 AMF species analysed (Fig. 4 a; 4 b) did not vary significantly between field sites within each habitat (Nested Anova: F= 2.83; d.f= 2, 4; p= 0.07) (Table 5), or with sampling time in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 1.07; d.f= 4, 32; p= 0.39) (Table 5), as well as between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.20; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.66) (Table 5).

However, when we separately analysed the presence of each species there were significant differences between sampling dates. In the first year of our study the presence of *G. etunicatum* varied significantly with the harvest date within each field site (Nested Anova: F= 2.67; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.05) (Table 5). The occurrence of *G. etunicatum* in the first sampling date (July, 2006) was higher than the in second (September, 2006) in all field sites (Fig 5 a). *G. etunicatum* was one of the dominant species, present in 100% of all samples in July, and only in 70% in September. However, there were no significant differences between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.89; d.f=1. 2; p= 0.35) (Table 5) or between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 0.89; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.42). The occurrence of *G. intraradices* varied significantly with the sampling time in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 4.50; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.005), between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 4.17; d.f=1. 2; p= 0.02) (Table 5). In fact, this species was mostly found in the second month of sample collection particularly in the intensive land use (Fig. 5 b).

The presence of *G. intraradices* in all the samples increased from 15% in July to 60% in September.

Moreover, the occurrence of *G. mosseae* (Fig. 5 c) did not vary with the sampling date within each field site (Nested Anova: F= 1.00; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.42) (Table 5), or between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 1.00; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.38) (Table 5), as well as between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0; d.f= 1. 2; p= 1.00) (Table 5). Like *G. etunicatum*, this species was one of the dominants, being present in the same frequency of occurrence (95%) in two sampling dates. *G. claroideum* (Fig. 5 d) presence varied significantly between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 5.33; d.f=1. 2; p= 0.03) and with the date of harvest within each site (Nested Anova: F= 2.67; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.05) (Table 5).

Table 5. F - and p values from nested ANOVA of dependent variables (Total species occurrence, occurrence of *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microaggregatum*) to significance between land use (semi-natural and intensive), field site within land use (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2) and time sampling within field site (July/September 2006). * P < 0,05; ** P < 0,01; *** P < 0,001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	р	
Year 2006			
Total species occurrence	_		
Land use	0.20	n.s	
Field site within land use	2.83	n.s	
Time sampling within field site	1.07	n.s	
Occurrence of G. etunicatum	_		
Land use	0.89	n.s	
Field site within land use	0.89	n.s	
Time sampling within field site	2.67	*	
Occurrence of G. intraradices	-		
Land use	4.17	*	
Field site within land use	4.17	*	
I me sampling within field site	4.50	**	
Occurrence of G. mosseae			
Land use	0.00	n.s	
Field site within land use	1.00	n.s	
I me sampling within field site	1.00	n.s	
Occurrence of G. claroideum			
Land use	5.33	*	
Field site within land use	0,00	n.s	
I me sampling within field site	2.67		
Occurrence of G. microaggregatum			
Land use	0.25	n.s	
Field site within land use	1.25	n.s	
I me sampling within field site	2.25	n.s	

In fact, this species only occurred in semi-natural land use in the first year of study, and its frequency of occurrence was higher in the second sampling date (10% in September) than in the first (5 % in July). The presence of *G. microaggregatum* (Fig. 5 e) did not vary significantly with the sampling date in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 2.25; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.09) (Table 5) or between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 1.25; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.30) (Table 5), as well as between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.25; d.f=1. 2; p= 0.62) (Table 5).

In the second year of study (2007) the seasonal effect was more evident. In this year the total occurrence of the five AMF species analysed varied significantly with the

harvesting date in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 11.65; d.f= 4. 32; p< 0.001) and between field sites within each habitat (Nested Anova: F= 7.85; d.f=2. 4; p= 0.002) (Table 6). The total species occurrence in first month of sampling (August, 2007) was higher than in the second in all field sites, especially in the semi-natural field sites (Fig. 4 c; 4 d) However, there were no significant differences in total species occurrence between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 2.45; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.13) (Table 6).

Table 6. F - and p values from nested ANOVA of dependent variables (Total species occurrence, Presence of *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microaggregatum*) to significance between land use (semi-natural and intensive), field site within land use (PX, TB, RP1 and RP2) and time sampling within field site (August/November 2007). * P < 0,05; ** P < 0,01; *** P < 0,001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	p
Year 2007		
a) Total species occurrence		
Land use	2.45	n.s
Field site within land use	7.85	**
Time sampling within field site	11.65	***
b) Occurrence of G. etunicatum		
Land use	0.67	n.s
Field site within land use	2.67	n.s
Time sampling within field site	3.00	*
c) Occurrence of G. intraradices		
Land use	0,00	n.s
Field site within land use	2.86	n.s
Time sampling within field site	2.57	*
d) Occurrence of G. mosseae		
Land use	0.13	n.s
Field site within land use	0.67	n.s
Time sampling within field site	0.93	n.s
e) Occurrence of G. claroideum		
Land use	0.33	n.s
Field site within land use	0.33	n.s
Time sampling within field site	1.00	n.s
f) Occurrence of G. microaggregatum		
Land use	32.67	***
Field site within land use	6.00	**
Time sampling within field site	19.33	***

Regarding the presence of our 5 species, we verified that the occurrence of *G. etunicatum* varied significantly with the sampling date in each field site (Nested Anova: F=3,00; d.f= 4. 32; p< 0.03) (Table 6). The occurrence of this species in the first date of harvest was higher than in the second in TB and RP2, but the opposite was found in sites PX and RP1 (Fig. 6 a). *G. etunicatum* remained the dominant species, with a frequency of occurrence of 80% in August and 70% in November.

However, no significant differences were found in the presence of *G. etunicatum* between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 2.67; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.09) (Table 6), or between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.67; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.42) (Table 6).

A similar result was found to *G. intraradices*; the presence of this species varied significantly with the sampling date in field each site (Nested Anova: F= 2.57; d.f= 4. 32; p < 0.05) (Table 6). The occurrence of this species in the first date of harvest was higher than the second in PX and RP1, but it was found the opposite in sites TB and RP2 (Fig. 6 b). However, no significant differences were detected in the presence of *G. intraradices* between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 2.86; d.f= 2. 4; p = 0.07) or between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0; d.f= 1, 2; p = 1.00) (Table 6). The presence of *G. mosseae* (Fig. 6 c) did not vary significantly with the sampling date within each field site (Nested Anova: F= 0.93; d.f= 4. 32; p = 0.46) or between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 0.52) as well as between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.13; d.f= 1. 2; p = 0.72) (Table 6). As in the first year of study, *G. mosseae* continued to be one of the dominant species, and showed little changes in its occurrence between the two harvesting dates (80% in August and 70% in November).

A similar result was found for *G. claroideum* (Fig. 6 d), which did not vary significantly with the harvest date in each field site (Nested Anova: F= 1.00; d.f= 4. 32; p= 0.42) or between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F= 0.33; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.72) as well as between land uses (Nested Anova: F= 0.33; d.f= 1. 2; p= 0.57) (Table 6). Finally, the presence of *G. microaggregatum* varied significantly between land uses (Nested Anova: F=32.67; d.f= 1. 2; p<0.001) with the sampling date within each field site (Nested Anova: F=19.33; d.f= 4. 32; p< 0.001) and between field sites within each land use (Nested Anova: F=6.00; d.f= 2. 4; p= 0.006) (Table 6). This species was only present in the first harvest date in semi-natural field sites, showing a frequency of occurrence of 35 % in PX and TB (Fig. 6 e).



Figure 4. Proportion of occurrence of *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microagreggatum* present in each local (*n*=5): Pico Galhardo (PX), Terra Brava (TB), RP1 Agualva (RP1) and RP2 Agualva (RP2) during 4 sampling times (a, b, c, and d) from two different pastures management regimes (semi-natural and



Figure 5. Frequency of occurrence of *G. etunicatum* (a), *G. intraradices* (b), *G. mosseae* (c), *G. claroideum* (d) and *G. microagreggatum* (e) present in each local (n=5) Pico Galhardo (PX), Terra Brava (TB), RP1 Agualva (RP1) and RP2 Agualva (RP2) during 2 sampling times (July and September 2006) from two different pastures management regimes (semi-natural and intensive).



Figure 6. Frequency of occurrence of *G. etunicatum* (a), *G. intraradices* (b), *G. mosseae* (c), *G. claroideum* (d) and *G. microagreggatum* (e) present in each local (n=5) Pico Galhardo (PX), Terra Brava (TB), RP1 Agualva (RP1) and RP2 Agualva (RP2) during 2 sampling times (July and September 2007) from two different pastures management regimes (semi-natural and intensive).

3.4. Soil nutrient parameters

The correlation coefficient of soil nutrient parameters which influenced the percentage of AMF colonisation during the first sampling date of 2007 (August) is present in Table 7. The percentage of AMF colonisation was significantly correlated with all soil nutrients except phosphorus. The percentage of AMF colonisation was significantly positive correlated with K (r= 0.793), N (r= 0.624), OM (r= 0.708), Ca (r= 0.836), Mg (r= 0.805) and OC (r= 0.699) at p< 0.001. A similar result was obtained with the percentage of hypal colonisation, which was significantly correlated with K (r= 0.713, p< 0.001), N (r= 0.449, p< 0.01), OM (r= 0.532, p< 0.001), Ca (r= 0.698, p< 0.001), Mg (r= 0.805, p< 0.001) and OC (r= 0.711, p< 0.001). The percentage of vesicle colonisation also exhibited significant correlation with K (r= 0.344, p< 0.05), OM (r= 0.307, p< 0.05), Ca (r= 0.380, p< 0.05), Mg (r= 0.366, p< 0.05) and OC (r= 0.314, p< 0.05). At the same time, percentage of arbuscule colonisation was significantly positive correlated with K (r= 0.468, p< 0.01), N (r= 0.385, p< 0.05), OM (r= 0.438, p< 0.01), Ca (r= 0.509, p< 0.01), Mg (r= 0.496, p< 0.01) and OC (r= 0.442, p< 0.01).

	Microbial				Soil nutrien	ts				
	% AMCol	% HypCol	% VesCol	% ArbCol	Р	К	Ν	OM	Ca	Mg
Ρ	0.143	0.294	-0.059	0.041						
К	0.793***	0.713***	0.344*	0.468**	0.389*					
Ν	0.624***	0.449**	0.257	0.385*	0.408**	0.610***				
OM	0.708***	0.532***	0.307*	0.438**	0.346*	0.712***	0.986***			
Са	0.836***	0.698***	0.380*	0.509**	0.278	0.942***	0.805***	0.889***		
Mg	0.805***	0.640***	0.366*	0.496**	0.265	0.852***	0.906***	0.963***	0.976***	
ос	0.711***	0.531***	0.314*	0.442**	0.306*	0.704***	0.982***	0.999***	0.888***	0.965***

*. Correlation is significant at the 0,05 level (2 tailed) **. Correlation is significant at the 0,01 level (2 tailed). Correlation is significant at the 0,001 level (2 tailed) ***.

% AMCol- Percentage of AMF colonisation; % HypCol- percentage of Hyphal colonisation; % VesCol- Percentage of Vesicle colonisation; % ArbCol- Percentage of Arbuscule colonisation; P- Phosphorus; K- Potassium; N- Nitrogen; OM- Organic matter; Ca- Calcium; Mg- Magnesium; OC- Organic carbon.

The phosphorus content of soil expressed significant positive correlation with K (r= 0.389, p< 0.05), N (r= 0.408, p< 0.01) OM (r= 0.346, p< 0.05) and OC (r= 0.439, p< 0.01). The potassium content also showed positive and significant correlation with N (r= 0.610), M.O (r= 0.712), Ca, Mg (r= 0.906) as well as with OC (r= 0.733) all at p< 0.001. At the same time nitrogen content was significant correlated with OM (r= 0.986, p< 0.001), Ca (r= 0.805, p< 0.001), Mg (r= 0.906, p< 0.001) and OC (r= 0.986, p< 0.001). Soil organic matter was significant correlated with Ca (r= 0.889, p< 0.001), Mg (r= 0.963, p< 0.001), and OC (r= 0.995, p< 0.001). The calcium content also had a positive and significant correlation with Mg (r= 0.976) and OC (r= 0.887) at p< 0.001. Finally, the magnesium content of soil was significantly correlated with OC (r= 0.906, p< 0.001).

For the same sampling period, we also analysed the correlation between soil nutrients level and the total species occurrence of *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microaggregatum* present in each site within each land use (Table 6). The total species occurrence was significantly correlated with N (r= 0.444); M.O (r= 0.505), Ca (r= 0.523), Mg (r= 0.554) and C.O (r= 0.456) at p< 0.05. However when we analysed each species separately, only the presence of two species seemed to be affected by soil nutrients, especially phosphorus (Table 8). This way, the occurrence of *G. etunicatum* was significantly and negative related with P (r= -0.558, p< 0.05), and also the occurrence of *G. intraradices* had a negative and significant correlation with P (r= -0.574, p< 0.01).

The phosphorus content of soil expressed significant positive correlation with OC (r= 0.439, p< 0.05). The potassium content was positively correlated with N (r= 0.610, p< 0.01), OM (r= 0.712, p< 0.001), Ca (r= 0.942, p< 0.001), Mg (r= 0.852, p< 0.001) as well as with OC (r= 0.986, p< 0.001). At the same time N level was significantly positive correlated with OM (r= 0.986), Ca (r= 0.805) Mg (r= 0.906) and OC (r= 0.955) at p< 0.001. The organic matter of soil had positive and significant correlation with Ca (r= 0.889, p< 0.001), Mg (r= 0.963, p< 0.001) and OC (r= 0.995, p< 0.001). The calcium content was significantly positive correlated with Mg (r= 0.976, p< 0.001) and with OC (r= 0.984, p< 0.001). Finally Mg content was significantly positive correlated with OC (r= 0.987, p< 0.001).

	Microbial					Soil nutrie	ents				
	Total number of species		Presence c	of species							
	AMF	Getunic	Gintrar	Gmoss	Gclaroid	Р	K	Ν	OM	Са	Mg
Р	0.243	-0.558*	-0.574**	-0.274	-0.304						
К	0.375	0.188	-0.043	0.066	-0.05	0.389*					
Ν	0.444*	0.094	-0.238	-0.115	0,000	0.408**	0.610***				
OM	0.505*	0.179	-0.165	-0.063	0.021	0.346*	0.712***	0.986***			
Са	0.523*	0.288	-0.024	-0.053	0.02	0.278	0.942***	0.805***	0.889***		
Mg	0.554*	0.281	-0.06	0.016	0.039	0.265	0.852***	0.906***	0.963***	0.976***	
OC	0.524*	0.206	-0.548	-0.052	0.035	0.306*	0.704***	0.982***	0.999***	0.888***	0.965***

 Table 8. Correlation coefficient of total species occurrence and occurrence of five AMF species with soil nutrient levels

*. Correlation is significant at the 0,05 level (2 tailed) **. Correlation is significant at the 0,01 level (2 tailed). Correlation is significant at the 0,001 level (2 tailed) ***.

Getunic- *Glomus etunicatum*; Gintrar- *Glomus intraradices*, Gmoss- *Glomus mosseae*; *Gomus claroideum*; P-Phosphorus; K- Potassium; N- Nitrogen; OM- Organic matter; Ca- Calcium; Mg- Magnesium; OC- Organic carbon.

4. Discussion

Fungal intraradical structures

For the first time in the Azores we provided key insights into patterns of root colonisation by AMF, which was strongly constrained by land use type. Over the two years of study, root colonisation was always higher in semi-natural land use than in intensively management pastures. This result is in agreement with those found by several authors. Among others, Eason *et al.* (1999) reported that AMF root colonisation was lower in grassland soils with a history of high-input and, conventional management than in soil with a low-input or organic management. Kahiluoto *et al.* (2001) demonstrated reduced AMF colonisation of roots and reduced AMF spore density in soil with increasing P fertilization for several crops on two soils with low and intermediate concentrations of available P. Similarly, Oehl *et al.* (2003) found higher colonisation levels in plants grown on organic soils compared to ones grown conventionally. Also Gryndler *et al.* (2006) found that long-term mineral fertilisation and manure addition had a negative effect on AMF root colonisation, measured by AMF hyphal length in soil.

The abundance of fungal structure also showed a marked seasonality, particularly in the second year of study. This could have been related to nutrient exchanges, host plant phenology, host metabolic pathways and climatic variations (Titus and Leps, 2000; Lugo **124**

and Cabello, 2002; Lugo *et al.*, 2003; Bohrer *et al.*, 2004; Heinemeyer and Fitter, 2004; Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.*, 2007). In the studied semi-natural and intensive pastures *H. lanatus* was the dominant species. This species is a weakly mycotrophic species as it is a C_3 plant (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2001). Allen and Allen (1988) postulated that the presence of facultative mycorrhizal plant species can result in increased mycorrhizal inoculum levels in disturbed soils, which may help obligatory mycorrhizal plant species to become established later in the succession. Egerton-Warburton *et al.* (2007) found a higher hyphal length in C_3 plants than in C_4 plants, and they suggested that this could be related with the greater energetic investment for carbon (C) and P acquisition from soil by C_3 plants. Another possibility is the that phenological differences between C_3 and C_4 plants enhance the preemption of space; in other words, AMF in C_3 plants take over any soil space vacated by AMF associated with C_4 plants.

All fungal structures (hyphae, vesicles and arbuscules) were more abundant in summer harvests. This result is consistent with Titus and Leps (2000) and Lugo *et al.* (2003). These authors found that in *B. subaristata* (C_3) root colonisation measured as the number of arbuscules and vesicles changed with season and reached at maximum in summer.

The abundance of intraradical structures is usually closely related to host growth, flowering and fruit production (Smith and Read, 1997). Thus the high percentage of AMF root colonisation in our summer sampling periods matches the start of the reproductive phase of *Holcus lanatus* at the sites. During flowering and/or fruiting the phosphorus demand is high and thus AMF colonisation levels were also high. This can also be demonstrated by the higher percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation during this season. Likar *et al.* (2009) also found another peak in arbuscule formation during flowering, in *Cruciata laevipes* and *Mentha piperata* and argue that the rate of arbuscule formation can be enhanced during periods of extensive productivity in plants, such flowering. Arbuscules are the places where nutrients are exchanged between a plant and fungus, and a high percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation indicates intense symbiotic activity (Titus and Leps, 2000; Greipsson and DiTommaso, 2006).

Molecular diversity

We found that AMF diversity in semi-natural pastures had a marked seasonal pattern. Over the two years of the study larger number of DGGE bands was found during the summer, coinciding with the flowering and /fruiting phase of *H. lanatus*, i.e., the phenological stage during each nutrient demands are highest.

However, among the two managements systems established there was a higher AMF diversity in semi-natural pastures than in intensively managed pastures, though the difference was not significant. Several authors reported larger AMF diversity for organically managed fields compared to conventionally managed fields. Among these, Oehl *et al.* (2003; 2004) found that the intensification of land use and conventional farming practices, as opposed to organic farming practices cause a reduction in AMF spore abundance and AMF species richness in agroecosystems of Central Europe. Rodriguez-Echeverria and Freitas (2006) also reported that the diversity associated with *Ammophila arenaria* ssp. *arundinacea* was higher in the least disturbed sites. However, our result is consistent with the work by Börstler *et al.* (2006) that found a similar diversity in intensively farmed fields (with 11 species) compared with the non-intensively farmed ones (with 10 species). Similarly, Galván *et al.* (2009) also found that AMF

The similarity in species richness between land uses could be related to: a) the fact that the AMF communities are highly generalist; b) the levels of intensification of the well-managed intensive pastures are low enough to allow similar patterns to semi-natural pastures. In Terceira, the influence of human activities on the simplification of ecosystems is quite dramatic with very few endemic arthropods occurring in intensive pastures (Cardoso *et al.*, 2009). In fact, it is known that the input of fertilisers and pesticides and several other management practices (e.g., grazing intensity) are important in defining the quality of the pasturelands for AMF (e.g. Gange *et al.*, 1993; Dhillion and Gardsjord, 2004). However, the input of fertilisers to Azorean pastureland is lower than average inputs to pastures on the European mainland (Garcia & Furtado, 1991). This fact gives support to our second hypothesis, which means that at Terceira, both semi-natural and intensive pastures are reasonably benign habitats for AMF.

On the other hand, certain lanes in some gels produced double bands. This is a wellknown and common problem when using DGGE, in which two bands with the same sequence can appear very close to each other (Ma *et al.*, 2005; Santos *et al.*, 2006). This observation may complicate the interpretation of field DGGE profiles, because any AMF isolate may represented by two or more bands. Therefore, the actual number of AMF in a field DGGE profile may be less than half of what is visually detected by DGGE. Moreover, the molecular identification system used in this study is known to miss certain groups of AMF (Krüger *et al.*, 2009). In general, the LSU rDNA region allows for species-level resolution, and thus, the LSU primer pair FLR3–FLR4 (Gollotte *et al.*, 2004) was used for species level community analyses. However, FLR4 in particular is not phylogenetically inclusive (Gamper *et al.*, 2009) and it does not amplify many lineages, including *Diversisporales*, *Archaeosporales* and *Paraglomerales*, which results in a strong bias in community analyses towards the *Glomeraceae*. The primer FLR3 binds to the DNA of many non-target fungi. It has no mismatch to more than 1300 basidiomycete sequences and some ascomycete sequences in the public databases (Krüger *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, it is very likely that this study has missed a considerable portion of the AMF diversity.

Although AMF diversity did not differ between management systems, it varied between field sites within each land use. Our data unequivocally show that some arable soils show an unexpectedly high diversity of AMF (especially RP1), which is in strong contrast to the studies by Helgason et al. (1998) and Daniell et al. (2001). Hijri et al. (2006) also reported variation in AMF diversity within management systems. Despite having checked for differences between organic and conventional field sites, they also reported differences between two organic field sites. At lower AMF diversity was observed in conventional field sites and in one organic field site. These authors argue that, in some agroecosystems, the farming systems do not influence AMF diversity, but rather the specific management practices (e.g., crop rotation, tillage) or environmental conditions (pH, P) may contribute to the maintenance of a more diverse AMF community. In fact, RP1 had the lower level of phosphate in the soil and the two seminatural field sites had the higher levels. Thus, as high phosphate concentration is known to reduce AMF root colonisation, it is very likely that AMF diversity is concurrently reduced in these field sites. Moreover, in RP1, Trifolium repens is one of the most abundant species of plants, and it is know that the continuous cultivation of this plant might favour the presence of more AMF species in the long term (Gosling et al. 2006; Hijri et al. 2006).

Occurrence of G. etunicatum, G. intraradices, G. mosseae, G. claroideum and G. microaggregatum.

In the present study, we only found isolates from the Glomaceae in *H. lanatus* roots. Previous studies have also showed that the genus *Glomus* is usually a dominant group in AMF communities in agricultural soil ecosystems (Helgason *et al.*, 1998; Daniell *et al.*, 2001; Jansan *et al.*, 2002; Oehl *et al.*, 2003, 2004; Mathimaran *et al.*, 2005). Some *Glomus* species have high plasticity to a range of habitats and are present even in the most intensively managed fields. These species are typically called "AMF generalists" (Oehl *et al.*, 2003).

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi have distinct colonisation strategies that are related to taxonomic differences at the family level (Daniell *et al.*, 2001). Hart and Reader (2002) showed that isolates of Glomaceae were faster colonisers than Acaulosporaceae and Gigasporaceae because they regenerate primarily from hyphal fragments and produce an extensive mycelium in roots rather than in soil. Furthermore, Giovannetti *et al.* (1999) have shown that *Glomus* (but not *Gigaspora* or *Scutellospora*) readily form anastomoses between mycelia and might therefore have the ability to re-establish an interconnected network after mechanical disruption. Such differences can explain the dominance of the Glomaceae over members of the Gigasporaceae in disturbed environments. On the other hand, the Glomales have traditionally been thought to be non-specific, but there is evidence suggesting that, while there may not be host specificity per se, partners may show preferences (van der Heijden *et al.*, 1998).

Finally, the absence of other AMF species in this study could be related also to other factors, like the number of cycles of trap culture, sampling times, local environmental factors or host plant regulation of carbon expenditure, that enable the species to produce spores and persist as infective hyphae in roots or soil (Douds and Millner, 1999).

The total species occurrence (of the detected *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microaggregatum*) *H. lanatus* roots only varied with sampling date in the second year of study. Probably, the proximity of sampling periods in the first year (July and September) contributed to the lack of an evident seasonal pattern. Species occurrence was highest in August, coinciding with the reproductive phase of *H. lanatus* (Smith and Read, 1997; Titus and Leps, 2000; Lugo *et al.*, 2003) and with the highest colonisation levels.

The occurrences of five AMF species varied with sampling time over the two years of study. *Glomus mosseae* was the most abundant and constant species, and it was the only species for which the frequency did not change with sampling time. Helgason *et al.* (1998) also found that in arable field sites the dominant arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal type was a putative *G. mosseae*. The same authors argue that the absence of this species in the woodland studied was related to differences in propagative units between glomalean families. In fact, this species sporulates abundantly and colonises readily from spores, which may be more important in a field that is ploughed annually than in a woodland.

G. claroideum and *G. microaggregatum* were less abundant, both spatially and temporally, and can be considered as rare species in some of the sites sampled. The symbiotic performance of AMF isolates depends on two main parameters; colonisation ability and efficiency. The rate of colonisation is influenced by the ability of AMF to spread rapidly and extensively across plants and is affected by factors linked to spore germination, presymbiotic mycelial growth and appressorium formation (Avio *et al.*, 2006). In fact, *G. mosseae* and *G. etunicatum* were the two dominant species at all sampling dates; this may be related to competitive advantages for carbon uptake during early root colonisation by these species (Jansa *et al.*, 2008).

Jansa *et al.* (2008) observed that *G. mosseae* was the most effective competitor out of three AMF species (*G. mosseae*, *G. intraradices*, and *G. claroideum*) due to its fast rate of colonisation and early peak in colonisation. According to this same study, *G. claroideum* was the weakest competitor, and *G. intraradices* was intermediate between the two of them.

Farmer *et al.*, (2007) noted that in a study done under field conditions, *G. etunicatum* introduced either as a pure inoculum or mixed with *G. mosseae* and *G. intraradices* had great success and was, detected in the roots of nearly all samples. However, our results suggest that the high efficiency of *G. etunicatum* in establishing a mycorrhizal symbiosis could explain the cross contamination of *G. mosseae* during inoculation production.

Soil parameters and root colonisation

AMF root colonisation levels have been associated with soil nutrient acquisition in perennial grasses (Jackson and Caldwell, 1996). In fact, the percentage of all fungal structure and the total species occurrence (considering *G. etunicatum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. mosseae*, *G. claroideum* and *G. microaggregatum*) were positively correlated with

soil nutrient levels. Thus, the improvement of soil fertility, especially the availability of K, N, Ca and Mg, provided a favourable environment for mycorrhizal formation and function in these systems. A similar result was found by Oliveira and Oliveira (2005). These authors observed a strong influence of edaphic factors, such as soil moisture, pH, Mg, K and Mn on symbiotic associations in the acidic soils and nutrient-limited soils of Central Amazonia. Khanam et al. (2006) also noted a positive correlation between root colonisation and soil moisture, OM, total N and K. However, as shown in other studies (Mathimaran et al., 2005; Ezawa et al., 2005; Rodriguez-Echeverria et al., 2009), a correlation between the percentage of AMF colonisation and soil P content was not found. The two investigated land uses (semi-natural and intensive pastures) had a soil P content clearly above the P concentrations that limit AMF colonisation and within the P concentrations that limit plant growth (P< 10 ppm). Miller (2000) has speculated that the narrow ranges of P (0–35.8 ppm and 2.5–15.7 ppm, respectively) in their study sites caused the lack of a significant correlation between AMF colonisation and soil P. Johnson et al. (2003) reported an increased allocation to AMF structures with nitrogen enrichment in mesic grasslands where ambient soil nitrogen was highest and phosphorus availability lowest. These same authors point out that AMF responses to N and P enrichment are mediated by ambient N and P availability, and this response could be caused by allocation plasticity within individual AM fungal taxa, changes in the species composition of the AMF community, or both.

Because the soil P levels are so low, and the range in soil P is so small in our study, it is not possible to speculate on whether or not large fluxes of P in other pastures habitats would significantly influence the extent of AMF colonisation at any given time.

Nevertheless, the presence of two AMF species (*G. etunicatum* and *G. intraradices*) was negatively correlated with soil P content. This result contrasts with that of Johnson (1993), who showed that fertilisation of soils tended to decrease the abundance of AMF species such as *Scutellospora calospora*, and increase others like G. *intraradices*.

In summary, this study shows that AMF diversity did not differ between semi-natural and intensively managed pastures, and that AMF communities associated with both pasture types are mainly dominated by five *Glomus* species. All of these species, except *G. mosseae*, show seasonal variations that are reflected in the variation of fungal structures found at different sampling times. These temporal changes in fungal structures are also related with plant phenology, showing that flowering is a time of high nutrient demand for the plant, which translates into a higher proportion of arbuscules

and a greater hyphal colonisation. This study also shows that the poorer soils were limiting for the development mycorrhizal fungi. Three of the five species found (*G. mosseae, G. intraradices* and *G. etunicatum*) were quite abundant in the studied systems, independent of soil management, therefore behaving as AMF generalists. The structure of mycorrhizal communities is complex even in recent habitats such as islands. Thus, to obtain a better understanding of the seasonal dynamics of AMF communities, more intensive sampling distributed throughout the season, with measures of both colonisation and species composition, as well as other ecological factors, would be necessary.

CHAPTER IV. CONTRIBUTION OF ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI TO CONTROL ROOT-FEEDING NEMATODES IN THE PERENNIAL GRASS HOLCUS LANATUS L. IN TERCEIRA ISLAND (AZORES)

1. Introduction

Nematodes are a major component of all soil food webs and thus comparisons of abundance, biomass and community structure can be made across ecosystems (Brussaard *et al.*, 1997). However, it's well know the damage that they cause to agriculture crops, which can be traduced into a decrease of plant productivity, disruption of plant nutrient and water transfer, as well as, a decrease of fruit and tuber quality and size (Sipes and Schmitt, 1994; Cofcewicz *et al.*, 2001). Some studies, also have pointed to changes in composition of plant communities as consequence of feeding herbivores (de la Peña *et al.*, 2006; Piśkiewicz *et al.*, 2008; Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.*, 2009).

De la Peña *et al.* (2006) showed that root feeding herbivores affected not only the plant performance of *Ammophila arenaria* in coastal dunes, but at same time altered the composition of plant communities. The same authors reported that mycorrhizal communities associated with the roots of *A. arenaria* were almost represented by *Glomus* sp. i.e. the genus with great plasticity to environmental disturb, and probably it represents the fraction of soil that can survive and grow to effect of root feeding herbivores. Thus, it's seems that root feeding herbivores may have a selective pressure in AMF communities, benefiting the species considered "generalist" at the expense of the species classified as "rare" (Oehl *et al.*, 2004).

An identical result was also reported by Rodriguez-Echneverria *et al.* (2009) who found that root-herbivores can alter mycorrhizal community associated to *A. arenaria*, although the total percentage of root colonisation is not affected by its presence. Since the degree of sensitive to herbivory varies among AMF species, the herbivore effect could benefit some AMF species in detriment of the other in terms of root colonisation.

Various physical, chemical, and agronomic measures have been proposed to control root-nematode disease (van der Putten *et al.*, 2006). Chemical nematicides are most effective in inhibiting nematode infestations but most of the active ingredients are prohibited due to their detrimental effects on human health and the environment. Agronomic practices including crop rotations, fallow, and cover crops can also reduce disease incidence but these methods are difficult to practice under Chinese conditions due to the limited land area and intensive cultivation systems. Biological control

techniques are preferable because of their limited effects on the environment and the land can be used continuously for economic production.

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are ubiquitous plant mutualists which represent a large fraction of fungal biomass of the rhizosphere. These symbiotic organisms are found inside roots, in the rhizosphere itself and in the bulk soil, interacting in all these zones with other organism (Fitter and Garbaye, 1994; Azcón-Aguilar et al., 2002). The internal mycelium interacts principally with the root itself, but at the same time with other organism even pathogens fungi. The AMF external mycelium developed in the soil helping plant nutrient and water uptake, interacts with many organisms such bacterial, other fungi, protozoa, nematodes, arthropods and even large animal as mammals (Fitter and Garbaye, 1994; Azcón-Aguilar et al., 2002). Then, it's well evident the several benefits that AMF may provide to their host plants, including better phosphorus (P) nutrition (Jaizme-Vega and Azcón-Aguilar, 1995; Guissou, 2009), increased abiotic stress (Augé, 2004; Smith et al., 2009) and increased disease resistance (Jaizme-Vega et al., 1998; Idoia et al., 2004; Al-Askar and Rashad, 2010). Due to these beneficial effects of AMF on host plants, they are suggested to have the potential to serve as both biological fertilisers and biological control agents (Barea et al., 2005; Mukhopadhyay and Maiti, 2009).

Both arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and root knot nematodes are indigenous soil organisms and share plant roots as resources of food. Consequently, there is interest in AM-nematode interactions because of the possibility of enhanced resistance or tolerance of AMF- infected plants to nematodes (Whipps, 2001; Hol and Cook, 2005). The mechanism proposed to explain this protective effect includes: direct competition; mechanism mediated by alteration in plant growth, nutrition and morphology; biochemical and molecular changes in mycorrhizal plants that induce pathogen resistance, and alterations in the soil microbiota and development of pathogens antagonism (Azcón-Aguilar *et al.*, 2002; Vierheilig *et al.*, 2008).

However the control mechanisms of root-feeding nematodes appear to be dependent on the feeding type of the nematode i.e. if they are ectoparasites, sedentary endoparasites or migratory endoparasites (Borowicz, 2001; Hol and Cook, 2005; Wehner *et al.*, 2010), as well as, on the species of nematode (de la Peña *et al.* 2006; Piśkiewicz *et al.* 2008). In general interactions between AMF and ectoparasitic nematodes are less strong than those endoparasites, because ectoparasites feed on superficial cells, and do not reach the cortical cells colonised by AMF. Thus, ectoparasitc nematodes are more likely to be affected indirectly by AMF-induced changes in plant physiology than directly by competition with the fungus (Hol and Cook, 2005). Sedentary endoparasites include two nematodes groups – root-knot and cyst nematodes, both induce changes in plant cells and feed on modified cells. The feeding cells induced within the vascular cylinder by these endoparasites may invade the endodermis and proliferate into the cortex, where we can find the cells colonised by AMF, occurring competition by space between these two organisms (Hol and Cook, 2005).

Finally de migratory endoparasites, such as root-lesion and burrowing nematodes feed and move within the cortex, thus they can feed on cells appropriate for AMF colonisation (Hol and Cook, 2005). On the other hand, AMF can change root morphology with consequences for penetration and movement of migratory nematodes. AMF will colonize much faster than nematode resulting in alteration of root physiology of host like increasing wall thickness and changing the chemical composition of root exudates.

Much work has been done on AMF-nematode interactions especially on specific groups on nematodes, i.e. root-knot (*Meloidogyne* spp.) and root lesion (*Pratylenchus* spp.) nematodes given its economic importance. AMF have interactions with root nematodes of many crop plant species including fruit tree (Pinochet *et al.*, 1996; Jaizme-Vega *et al.*, 2005) banana (Jaizme-Vega *et al.*, 1997; 2005), tomato (Cofcewicz *et al.*, 2001; Shreenivasa *et al.*, 2007) and cucumber plants (Zhang *et al.*, 2009).

Jaizme-Vega *et al.* (1997) noted that inoculation with *Glomus mosseae* favours growth of banana plants by enhancing plant nutrition and by suppressing *M. incognita* reproduction and galling during the early stages of plant development. Shreenivasa *et al.* (2007) also reported that decrease on plant height, dry biomass weight as well as fruit weight in tomato plants infected with root-knot *Meloidogyne incognita* was minimized in presence of AMF.

Jaizme-Vega and Pinochet (1997) point out that mycorrhizal inoculation on the first stages of banana's development could increase host tolerance to *P. goodeyi* by enhancing plant nutrition and by reducing the nematode induced lesions in the root.

Also Elsen *et al.* (2008) noted that AMF have the ability to induce systemic resistance against plant parasitic nematodes in banana root system, since AMF reduced more than 50% the populations of two nematode *Radopholus similis* and *P. coffeae*. Likewise, Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.* (2009) showed in inoculation experiment that *Ammophila arenaria* roots infection by *P. penetrans* and *P. dunensis* was reduced in all mycorrhizal plants when compared to no-mycorrhizal plants.

The Azores archipelago has an extensive area of pastures, in these agroecosystems, herbivorous nematodes take up as much as one guarter of the net primary production (Stanton 1988). Rosa et al. (1996) in a study aiming to harvest and genetic characterization of entomopathogenic agents in the Azores, namely in Terceira, reported that 33.7 % of soil samples showed nematodes, most of them of free living and phytoparasitic, and 20% of which had been collected in pastures. In Azores evident effects of endoparasite nematodes, especially root-knot, have been detected in some horticulture crops such banana (Musa sp.), cucumber plants (Cuccumis melo L.) and tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.), but there is no peer-reviewed on subject. The first record of *M. incognita* in Azores islands, especially in S. Miguel, was made by Vovlas et al. (2004) in tabaco (Nicotiana tabacum L.). Little is known about how the variation of these plants along their range affects their relationship with root-feeding nematodes, as well as, with their symbiotic organism like AMF. This way, would be interesting to evaluate the potential contribute of indigenous AMF not only on nematode control but also in increasing productivity of these crops. Thus, a study was developed to assess the contribution of AMF in reducing nematode infection and reproduction by using Holcus lanatus, due its extensive occupation in Azorean lands (Dias, 1996; Silva and Smith, 2006; Kueffer et al., 2010).

2. Material and methods

2.1. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

In July of 2006, soil was collected from the rhizosphere of ten different *H. lanatus* plants in Pico Galhardo (PX), Terra Brava (TB), Agualva RP1 (RP1) and Agualva (RP2) and used to set up trap cultures of the AMF community. The fresh soil samples were mixed with autoclaved sand and "bagacina" (volcanic soil type) in a ratio of 2:1:1. A 1.5-kg aliquot of the mixture was placed in each pot to produce trap culture from

Chapter IV

each sample. Corn (*Zea mays* L.) was used as host plant. Seeds of corn were surface sterilised by immersion in alcohol (96 %) for 30 sec, 4 % bleach for 2 min, and rinsed twice in sterile distilled water. Then, they were sown in pots on sterilized sand soil and left to germinated in the greenhouse. After one week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to pots containing the fresh soil samples mix. A total of 4 seedlings were used per plot. Trap cultures in 40 plots were grown in glasshouse for 5 months and then harvested. All pots were watered every 2 days with distilled water, and no nutrient solution was added to the pots. After 4 month of sowing we left watering the pots to stimulate the sporulation.

2.2. AMF root colonisation assessment

After 5 months, plants were harvested and root examined to confirm AMF colonisation. A portion of roots were cleared in 2.5% KOH for 1h at 90 °C. Subsequently they were left to acidify overnight in 1% HCl. Staining was done with blue ink (Parker Quink) for 30 min at 60 °C, followed by distaining in lactoglycerol. The amount of colonisation was estimated using a grid-intersect method with examination of 100 intersects under a compound microscope at 200x magnification (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990). Root-intersects that contained vesicles, arbuscules or hyphae were scored as mycorrhizal. The remaining corn roots were cut into 2-cm pieces, and disinfected by immersion in 2 % chloramines T for 3 min and in an antibiotic solution (streptomycin 200 mg Γ^1 + penicillin 100 mg Γ^1) for 3 h. After this time root were rinsed in autoclaved water and dried (de la Peña *et al.*, 2006).

2.3. Spore assessment

AMF spores produced in the trap culture were extracted by sieving and decanting (Gerdemann and Nicolson, 1963). The procedure included the passage of 50 cm³ of harvested trap culture substrate from each pot through 1000-, 500-, 250-, 100-, and 45 μ m sieves. The material retained in 250 μ m, 100 μ m and 45 μ m was collected to different petri dish and AMF spores were counted under a stereoscopic microscope (Leica MZ 12). Spores from 4 genera were detected in trap culture, namely *Acaulospora, Ambispora, Glomus* and *Scutellospora.*

2.4. Nematode inoculation procedure

The nematode inoculum consisted of a population of *Meloidogyne incognita* isolated from a culture of tomato originally collected in the North-East of Tenerife (Valle de Guerra). The nematode inoculum was prepared by macerating infected roots in a blender for 15 s at 14 500 rpm in a 0.12 - 0.15% NaClO solution (Hussey and Barker, 1973). Eggs and juveniles (J2) were collected using a 25-µm-pore sieve and rinsed with tap water. The inoculum was adjusted to deliver a suspension of 1150 nematodes per plot through two 3 cm deep holes located at 5 cm distance from the base of the plant in the nematode treatments.

2.5. Experiment

Seeds of *H. lanatus* were surface sterilised by immersion in 96% alcohol for 30 sec, 0.4% sodium hypochlorite for 2 min and rinsed twice in sterile distilled water. They were then sown in boards on a sterilised sand soil and left to germinate in greenhouse. After 2 week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to the pots. Four seedlings of *H. lanatus* were planted in 2-l pots filled with a pasteurized substrate contained, soil, sand and "bagagina" (volcanic soil type) in a ratio of 2:1:1 soil.

The experiment include four treatments with 14 replicates per treatment: an uninoculated control (C), inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), inoculation with *M. incognita* (Mi), simultaneous inoculation with AMF and *M. incognita* (AMF + Mi). At the time of *H. lanatus* seedling transplantation's each pot for inoculation with AMF, as well as, for combined inoculation with AMF and *M. incognita* received 250 spores and 1g of dried corn roots from trap cultures, which was used as AMF inoculum. We also inoculated four additional plots with AMF inoculum, to assessment the mycorrhizal colonisation after 2 weeks and 4 weeks after inoculation. Plots were disposed in the greenhouse in a completely randomised design. Every 2 days pots were watered and one time per month they were fertilized with 100 ml of half-strength modified (P-free) Hoagland's solution. Afterwards, the *H. lanatus* seedlings were left to growth for 6 additional weeks to obtain roots enough to split.



Figure 1. Experimental design in which: Control- non-mycorrhizal plants; HL+AMF- mycorrhizal plants; H.I+M.i – plants inoculated with *M. incognita*; H.I+AMF+m.i- plants inoculated with *M. incognita* and AMF.

Then, after the AMF colonisation has been confirmed the roots of each plant were placed into a new plot with a sterilised mixture composed by sand, "bagacina" and soil in a ratio of 3:1:1. The substrate surface was then covered by a volcanic ash layer in order to keep the substrate humid and avoid the contamination. Ten days later we proceed to the inoculation with *M. incognita*, which consisted in adding 10 ml of nematode suspension to each plot. The experiment was conducted from June 2007 until October 2007.

2.6. Harvest and data collection

Plants from experiment were harvested 14 weeks after nematode inoculation. The following physical parameters were measured: fresh root weight, aerial fresh root weight, total fresh root weight (aerial and root) and aerial dry weight. After taking the root fraction for assessing AMF colonisation (5% in fresh weight), the remaining plant material was dried at 72 °C for 48 h to estimate plant biomass. AMF colonisation was determined by the same method used for assess mycorrhizal infection in *H. lanatus* roots from trap culture (see above).

For nematode were estimated the following parameters: the number of nematode per gram of root, number of nematode per root and the reproduction rate (final population/initial population). The nematode extraction method from roots was similar to that used for inoculums preparation. Nematodes were concentrated using 150-, 74- and 25- μ m-pore sieves. The suspension of 25- μ m sieve was collected and concentrated in order to determine number of nematodes per ml by using a Hawksley

slide under a light microscope. Nematodes in any developmental stage were taken as a positive count.

2.7. Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA General Linear Models and Tukey's multiple range tests for overall comparison (Minitab, version 13.31, 2000). All data were tested for normality when required to fulfil assumptions of the ANOVA. AMF colonisation and nematode reproduction data were arcsine (x/100) transformed to reduce the variance in the data.

3. Results

3.1. Effect of AMF on plant development

The importance of shoot growth and aerial biomass production on *H. lanatus* seedlings inoculated with native AMF compared to the non-inoculated control plants and plants inoculated with *M. incognita* are displayed in Figures 1 and 2, respectively.



Figure 1. Effect of inoculation with an indigenous mixture of AMF or not on aerial biomass production in nursery-grow *H. Lanatus* seedlings grow for 6 months after inoculation.



Figure 2. Effect of inoculation with an indigenous mixture of AMF or not on aerial biomass production in nursery-grow *H. Lanatus* seedlings infected with *M. incognita* for 6 months after inoculation with AMF.

There were differences highly significant between treatments on fresh root weight of *H. lanatus* (Anova: F= 11.52; d.f.= 3, 52; p< 0.001) (Table 1). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test showed that average of fresh root weight was significantly greater in plants inoculated with the combination AMF and nematode ($\bar{x} = 71.25 \pm 4.44$) (Fig. 3 a), but root infection only by nematode had significantly the lowest weight (43.86 ± 1.31) (Fig. 3 a).

The fresh weight of *H. lanatus* plants also varied significantly between treatments (Anova: F= 22.80; d.f.= 3, 52; p< 0.001) (Table 1). Take in account the Tukey HSD *post hoc* test, we can observed that the mycorrhizal plants had significantly the largest average of aerial fresh weight ($\bar{x} = 86.92 \pm 5.05$) (Fig. 3 b), and the nematode presence caused a decreased of about 50% on average of aerial fresh weigh of *H. lanatus* plants. Furthermore, in treatment with inoculation of nematode and AMF, although average of aerial fresh weight of plants ($\bar{x} = 67.16 \pm 3.24$) had been lower than only in presence of AMF, did not differ significantly from the weight of non-mycorrhizal plants (Fig. 3 b).

Table 1. F- and p values from one-way ANOVA of growth response of *H. lanatus* to inoculation with AMF and 1.150 *M. incognita* per plant 6 and 4 months after AMF and nematode exposure respectively. * P< 0.05; * P< 0.01;*** P< 0.001; n.s= not significant.

Treatments	F	p
Fresh root weight	11.53	***
Aerial fresh weight	22.80	***
Total fresh weight	18.07	***
Aerial dry weight	12.22	***
Nematodes/gr of root	321.54	***
Nematodes/root	211.40	***
Reproduction rate	207.29	***

The total fresh weigh was similar to previous, i.e. there were significant differences in average of total fresh weight of *H. lanatus* plants among treatments (Anova: F= 18.07; d.f.= 3, 52; p< 0.001) (Table 1). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test showed a highly significant effect of AMF in fresh biomass of *H. lanatus* plants (Fig. 3 c). In fact, average of fresh biomass of mycorrhizal plants ($\bar{x} = 139.55 \pm 7.82$) was higher than in the other all, and the plants inoculated with nematode alone had the lowest average of total fresh weight ($\bar{x} = 86.96 \pm 2.81$). By other side, there were not significant differences between total fresh weight of plants simultaneously inoculated with AMF and nematode and non-mycorrhizal plants, as well as, between mycorrhizal plants.

The aerial dry weight of *H. lanatus* plants followed the same trend, had being significantly different between treatments (Anova: F= 10.06; d.f.= 3, 52; p< 0.001) (Table 1). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test revealed a significantly great of AMF effect on average of aerial dry weight of *H. lanatus*, which was higher in mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 27.50 ± 2.58) than in the other treatments (Fig. 3 d). Adding, in the presence of nematode the average of aerial dry weight decreased about 40% (Fig. 3 d).



Figure 3. Experimental inoculation. Average of fresh root weight (a), aerial fresh weigh (b), total fresh weight (c) and aerial dry weight (d) of *H. lanatus* from four different treatments: non-mycorrizal plants (control); mycorrizal plants (AMF); inoculation with *M. incognita* (Mi) and simultaneous inoculation with AMF and nematode (AMF+Mi). Standard errors of the mean (n= 14) are shown. Values of percent are arcsine-transformed. For each parameter, different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between treatments after one-way ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test (P≤ 0.05).

3.2. Effect of AMF on root-feeders

Concerning to effect of AMF in the number of nematode per gram of root, there were significant differences between the mycorrhizal plants and the plants infected only by nematode (Anova: F= 321.54; d.f.= 1. 26; p< 0.001) (Table 1). In fact, the average of number of nematode per gram of root was drastically reduced by the presence of AMF than in its absence (Fig. 4 a), in other words, AMF cause a reduction of 323 individuals per gram of root in plants of *H. lanatus* infected by nematode.

The same result was obtained in relation to the number of nematode on *H. lanatus* root which also varied among the 2 treatments (Anova: F= 211.14; d.f.= 1. 26; p< 0.001) (Table 1) with the micorrhizal plants had the lower average number of nematode on root ($\bar{x} = 339 \pm 339$) than plants infected only by nematode ($\bar{x} = 14521 \pm 915$) (Fig. 4 b), i.e, the number of individuals was less than 13606 in plants infect by nematode and AMF.

These results were reflected in reproduction of nematode which also varied significantly among the 2 treatments (Anova: F= 207.29; d.f.= 1. 26; p< 0.001). Again, the AMF had a significant effect in reducing the reproduction rate of nematode which range between 0.3 % and 13% in presence and absence of AMF respectively (Fig. 4 c).



Figure 4. Experimental inoculation. Average of nematode/gr of root (a), nematodes/root and nematode reproduction rate of *H. lanatus* from two different treatments: inoculation with *M.incognita* (Mi) and simultaneous inoculation with AMF and nematode (AMF+Mi). Standard errors of the mean (n= 14) are shown. Values of percent are arcsine-transformed. One-way ANOVA *P*-values are presented in Table 1.

3.3. Mycorrhizal colonisation

Mycorrhizal colonisation was detected 4 weeks after inoculation with AMF. The average percentage of AMF colonisation ranged between 50 % and 60% at the end of experiments in treatments with simultaneous inoculation with AMF and nematode, and in treatments inoculated with AMF respectively (Fig.). However, although *H. lanatus* treated with nematode showed a lower mycorrhizal colonisation percentage, no significant differences of the presence of nematode were observed on percentage of root colonised by AMF (Anova: F= 3.81; d.f.= 1. 26; p= 0.062).



Figure 5. Percentage of *H. lanatus* roots infected by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and percentage of of *H. lanatus* infected by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and *M. incognita* (AMF+Mi). Standard errors of the mean (n= 14) are shown. Values of percent are arcsine-transformed.

4. Discussion

In general native AMF reduced *M. incognita* population in *H. lanatus* plants. This confirmed previous works on a wide variety of crops. Among them, Jaizme-Vega *et al.* (1997) reported that the association between AMF and the banana plantlet increased the host tolerance to *M. incognita*, compensating for de damaged caused by nematode, mainly by enhancing plant nutrition.

Jaizme-Vega *et al.* (2005) in a study with papaya also showed that *M. incognita* infection was significantly reduced in mycorrhizal plants. Shreenivasa *et al.* (2007) found that application of *Glomus fasciculatum* increased yield of tomato in plants inoculated with *M. incognita*, whose population was reduced about half in the presence of AMF.

Zhang *et al.* (2009) also reported in a study to investigate the tolerance of cucumber plants (*Cucumis sativus* L.) to root-knot nematode *M. incognita*, that the number of root galls and the number of egg masses, eggs and J2 were significantly lower on plants inoculated with *Glomus intradices*, indicating that *G. intraradices* has the potential to confer enhanced tolerance to root-knot nematode infestation to cucumber.

Many hypotheses have been proposed on the mechanism of the AMF-induced resistance against plant pathogens (Azcón-Aguilar *et al.*, 2002; Hol and Cook, 2005, Vierheilig *et al.*, 2008). Based on our results we can suggest that increased capacity for nutrient uptake by the mycorrhizal association may allow host plant to be more vigorous and, consequently, more resistant or tolerant of pathogen attack (Azcón-Aguilar *et al.*, 2002). In fact, root biomass of *H. lanatus* plants simultaneously inoculated with AMF and *M. incognita* was significantly higher than in the others treatments. The AMF presence may have promoted this increase in root biomass to compensate tissue damage and decay of root sections by the pathogen and consequently reduce significantly disease symptoms. This result was consistent with found by Cofcewicz *et al.* (2001) who found that the increase of number of galls in tomato roots simultaneously inoculated with AMF and *M. AMF* and *M. javanica* could be related with increase of root systems promote by AMF, which put at disposal of nematode a greater number of sites for infection.

Furthermore competition for host colonisation sites and photosynthates may also explain our results. Really, the lack of significant differences in AMF root colonisation

between mycorrhizal plants and plants with combined inoculation, suggest that there was a competitive interaction between *M. incognita* and AMF on *H. lanatus* plants by space. AMF might occupy infection sites on the root surface needed by *M. incognita* to penetrate root, or cells in the root already occupied by the AMF cannot be colonised any further by the root-knot. This result was consisted to found by others authors. Between them, de la Peña *et al.* (2006) reported that when both AMF and *P. penetrans* were together in the same root compartment of *A. arenaria* occurred competition between these organisms, although root colonisation by AMF was not affect the nematode. Also Rodriguez-Echeverria *et al.* (2009) showed that suppression of *P. penetrans* and *P. dunensis* could be explain trough direct competition, one time this is one of the mechanisms which regulated the relative abundance of nematodes in the rhizosphere of *A. arenaria*.

Adding like AMF, *M. incognita* growth also depends on carbon from photosynthesis. Since plants colonised by AMF much carbon is used by the symbiotic AMF, less carbon could be available for nematode colonisation (Azcón-Aguilar *et al.*, 2002; Vierheilig *et al.*, 2008). Our findings were similar to the results obtained by Osman *et al.* (1991), who associated the decreased of *M. incognita* population in *Phaseolus vulgaris* colonised by AMF, to a mechanism of competition for space and food supply in the root systems between the two organism. Also Jaizme-Vega *et al.* (1997) point out that the suppression of *M. incognita* on micropropagated banana inoculated with *Glomus mosseae* could be associated with competition for space or physiological changes in the root that make it an unfavorable food source for the nematode.

A significant increase on plant growth was observed in mycorrhizal plants compared to the others treatments, which is in agreement as observed in other work (Jaizme-Vega and Azcón-Aguilar, 1995; Regvar *et al.*, 2003; Al-Askar and Rashad, 2010).

Regvar *et al.*(2003) showed that an indigenous mixture of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) containing *Glomus mosseae*, *Glomus fasciculatum*, *Glomus etunicatum*, *Glomus intraradices* and *Scutellospora* sp. significantly increased the plant biomass parameters of pepper, and parsley and the root biomass of carrots.

The main AMF benefits to the plants it's the growth improvement due to enhanced nutrient uptake, particularly immobile nutrients like phosphorus, because the hyphae can reach farther that the nutrient depleted zones that build up around plant roots
(Smith and Read, 1997; Clark and Zeto, 2000). Furthermore, in mycorrhizal plants nematode presence did not appear to have affected plant development. In fact, either aerial fresh weight or total fresh weight and dry weight of *H. lanatus* plants simultaneously inoculated with AMF and nematode were higher than in non-mycorrhizal plants or in plants only inoculated with nematode. A same result was found by Shreenivasa *et al.* (2007) who reported that maximum plant height, dry shoot and root weighties, as well as, total dry weight and fruit weight per plant were higher in tomato plants simultaneously inoculated with *Glomus fasciculatum* and *M. incognita* than in control or in plant only inoculated by nematode.

This study concludes that inoculation with native AMF could be a new nematode management approach in Azores ecosystems by increasing plant resistance (a case of induced resistance) to the nematode where root galling and nematode reproduction is negatively affected and plant growth enhanced by the endophyte. However, due to the complexity of AMF-nematode interactions more nematodes species should be tested and the mechanism need to be further elucidated.

CHAPTER V. THE PRODUCTIVITY OF THE AZOREAN PASTURES BENEFITS

FROM THE INDIGENOUS ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI (AMF)

1. Introduction

Associations between plants and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are common in natural and agricultural ecosystems (Smith and Read, 1997). In this intimate association the obligate biotrophic fungi supply inorganic nutrients to plants in return to photosynthates. Thus, the main benefit of AMF to their host is principally the increased uptake of relatively immobile phosphate ions, due to the ability of the hyphal network to grow beyond the phosphate depletion zone that quickly develops around the root (Smith and Read, 1997). However these fungi can also provide many other benefits to the host as: increased resistance to foliar-feeding insects (Wearn and Gange, 2007), improved drought resistance (Augé et al., 2001), increased resistance to soil pathogens (Filion et al., 1999; Borowicz, 2001; Idoia et al., 2004) and increased tolerance to salinity and heavy metals (Al-Karaki et al., 2001; Mohammad et al., 2003). Increased uptake of macronutrients other than P, including nitrogen (N) potassium (K) and magnesium (Mg) has also been measured (Smith and Read, 1997; Clark and Zeto, 2000) as well as increased uptake of some micronutrients (Ryand and Angus, 2003; Cho et al., 2009). Thus in face of their effects on plant fitness and soil quality, AMF may play an important role in ecosystems functioning, since their appropriate management can reduce the use of chemical and energy in agriculture and consequently lead to a more economical and sustainable production systems (Barea et al., 2005). Therefore, it's important to increase our understanding about the ecological functioning of these mutualistic microbial symbionts, in order to facilitate its manipulation as inoculants because not all plants species form AMF associations and not all AMF plant show an evident nutritional improvement from colonisation by AMF under all growth conditions (van der Heijden et al., 1998; Hart and Reader, 2002).

AMF show varying degrees of host specificity, even in colonisation ability or functioning, since the outcome of the symbiotic interaction is affected by factors related to host plant and fungal symbiont genotypes (van der Heijden *et al.*, 1998; Hart and Reader, 2002).

The symbiotic performance of AMF isolates depends on two main parameters: colonisation ability and efficiency. The rate of colonisation is influenced by the ability of AMF to spread rapidly and extensively in plant roots, and is affected by factors linked

to spore germination, presymbiotic mycelial growth and appressorium formation (Hart and Reader, 2002). However, the ability of particular AMF genotype to infect and colonise root systems may depend on the presence of particular host plant species (Croll et al., 2008). Hart and Reader (2002) found that Acaulosporaceae isolates were superior only in presence of *Poa annua*, a plant species considered as unresponsive to AMF (Gange et al., 1999; Smith et al., 1999). This suggests that host genotypes influence the response to mycorrhizal symbiosis both in terms of plant growth or protections against pathogens (Azcón-Aguilar et al., 2002). Thus, depending on the species of plant two general anatomical groups can be distinguished in mycorrhizal colonisation, namely Arum-type and Paris-type (Smith and Read, 1997; Brundrett, 2004; Peterson et al., 2004). In the Arum-type arbuscular mycorrhiza, the hypha that penetrates into the epidermis generally forms a coil either in the epidermal cell or first cortical cell layer before it enters the intercellular spaces of the cortex. In this type, roots can become rapidly colonized along the root axis due to the free movement of hyphae in the intercellular spaces. In the Paris-type mycorrhiza, the intraradical hyphae pass from cell to cell, forming complex coils in both epidermal and cortical cells. Species of plants developing Paris-type mycorrhizas lack conspicuous intercellular spaces in the root cortex so that the growth of hyphae in the longitudinal direction of the root is slower than in the Arum-type (Smith and Read, 1997; Brundrett, 2004; Peterson et al., 2004).

Turn, efficiency of colonisation is correlated with the ability of different isolates to promote plant growth by improving mineral nutrition and increasing tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses (Giovannetti and Avio, 2002; Jakobsen *et al.*, 2002). There is evidence that intra-family variation in mycelium size and host specificity, may affect the relationship between mycelial size and host benefit, indicating that family with the largest internal mycelium (Glomaceae) confer the most host benefit. (Hart and Reader, 2002). Furthermore, Koch *et al.* (2004) obtain 16 different isolates of one AMF species, *Glomus intraradices*, from one site. They observed that these isolates (which were genetically different from each other) varied from each other in that they produced different amounts of hyphae. Therefore in face to exposed, plant communities may often include species with varying response to the presence of AMF. According to their response to mycorrhizal colonisation, they may be classified in 3

categories (Brundrett and Abbott, 2002), i.e. i) obligate mycorrhizal: are defined as those which will not survive to reproductive maturity without being associated with mycorrhizal fungi in their natural habitats; ii) facultative mycorrhizal: plants that benefit from mycorrhizas only in infertile soils or iii) non-mycorrhizal: plants with roots that are resistant to colonisation by mycorrhizal fungi.

Mycorrhizal dependency is defined by Gerdemann (1975) as 'the degree to which a plant is dependent on the mycorrhizal condition to produce its maximum growth on yield at a given level of soil fertility'. Growth responses to AMF associations are measured by comparing the growth of plants with and without mycorrhizas in a particular soil. (Brundrett and Abbott, 2002). The morphological as well as physiological properties of root system can influence the P absorption of plants in soil, and therefore the beneficial effects observed on mycorrhizal plants. Therefore, root architecture and morphology has been as one of the most sensitive indicators of plant response to mycorrhizal. Plants with facultative or non-mycorrhizal mycorrhizal associations normally have much finer roots and longer root hairs than obligate mycorrhizal plants showed a greater shoot production, and consequently a lower root:shoot ratio in response to a greater increment of shoot mass relative to root mass (Azcón-Aguilar and Barea, 1997).

However, despite these discrepancies between different plant growth responses to AMF, there is some evidence that it may be temporally variable and age-dependent (Dodd *et al.*, 2000; van der Heijden *et al.*, 2006). Santo-González *et al.* (2007) noted in semi-natural grassland that AMF community not only varied significantly among *Prunella vulgaris* and *Antennaria dioica*, but also through growing season. *P. vulgaris* showed a high AMF diversity along the entire growth season while the level of AMF richness associated to *A. dioica* decreased dramatically in autumn. This pattern of host specificity has been observed in many systems, including agricultural fields (Douds and Miller, 1999). Accumulating evidence indicates that mycorrhizal associations can be important determinants of diversity in ecosystems and can modify the structure and functioning of plant communities in complex ways (Grime *et al.* 1987; Wilson and Hartnett, 1997; Van der Heijden *et al.* 1998; Hartnett and Wilson 1999; Eom *et al.* 2000; Hart *et al.*, 2003).

Grime et al. (1987) found that community structure could be significantly altered by mycorrhizal activity in species-rich mixtures of plants in experimental microcosm. The presence of mycorrhizas can increase floristic diversity (Grime et al., 1987) and species richness (Gange et al., 1990). However, this may depend on identity and mycorrhizal responsiveness of dominant plant species (Smith et al. 1999; O' Connor et al., 2002; Vogelsang et al., 2006; Jansa et al., 2008)). Consequently, host-specific changes in the AMF community could lead to increases in the relative growth rates of the most abundant plant species (i.e., positive feedback) or to decreases in the relative growth rates of the most abundant (i.e., negative feedback). These two dynamics lead to very different predictions for the community. Positive feedback causes strengthening of the mutualism between plant and fungal guilds, but a decline in species diversity. Negative feedback causes a weakening of the mutualism, but can contribute to the coexistence of competing plant species (Bever, 2002; Hart et al., 2003). Then, differential responses of AMF to host plant species may play an important role in regulation of plant intraspecific interactions as well as in the composition of plant communities (Hartnett and Wilson, 1999; Smith et al., 1999). Smith et al. (1999) reported that removal of the dominant warm-season C_4 grass species in tall prairie, which exhibits high mycorrhizal responsiveness, increased plant diversity, once the dominant species declined in abundance, and number of subdominant cool-season C₃ grass and forb species increased in abundance. Thus AMF may affect plant community indirectly by influencing the pattern and strength of plant competitive interactions. Eom et al. (2000) also point out that the different level of responses of host plant species to mycorrhizas may result in differences in AMF community structure. The same authors report that four of the host plant species examined in their studies, Solidago missouriensis Nutt., Baptisia bracteata Muhl. ex Ell., Panicum virgatum L., and Sporobolus heterolepis (A. Gray) A Gray, are obligate mycotrophs and are highly responsive to mycorrhizal colonisation. By contrast, Poa pratensis L. is non-mycorrhiza-dependent and shows no significant growth response to mycorrhizal colonisation. O' Connor et al. (2002), also found that plant species diversity increased when mycorrhizal colonisation was suppressed because growth of the highly mycorrhiza-responsive dominant Medicago minima was reduced and subordinate plant species were released from competition. More recently, Karanika et al. (2008) argued that AMF suppression declined the growth of subordinate, more mycotrphic and P demanding perennial forbs and most legumes with compensatory increases of the less P demanding *Doricnium herbaceum* L. and less mycotrophic and P demanding C_3 grass. Grasslands can be characterized by the composition of their plant community (Rodwell, 1992) with unimproved (typically *Agrostis*, *Festuca* dominated), semi-improved (*Holcus* dominated) and improved (*Lolium* dominated) grasslands often found adjacent to each and maintained through different levels of management (particularly inputs of lime and fertiliser). In the Azores, upland semi-natural and intensive pastures are usually dominated by the grass species *Holcus lanatus*. In contrast, *L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne* are characteristic of lowland improved pastures receiving regular imputs of fertilizer (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1999). These three plant species are C_3 and their mycorrhizal responses may range from facultative to non mycorrhizal plants (Wilson and Hartnett, 1998).

Mycorrhizal dependency among species has potentially important applications to agroecosystems functioning and management. The purpose of current study was to assess patterns of interspecific variation in host-plant benefit (i.e., growth response) from the symbiosis with AMF among the three most abundant grasses used in pastures of the Azores.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study plants

The Azorean pastures are dominated by *Holcus lanatus* L. and *Lolium perenne* L. (Dias, 1996; Silva and Smith, 2006). These two grasses are among the thirty nonindigenous vascular plants with high importance value, whose frequencies in pastures are 50.5% and 54.2 % respectively to *L. perenne* and *H. lanatus* (Silva and Smith, 2006). Although less dominant, *Lolium multiflorum* Lam. is also widely distributed along the nine islands of the Azores archipelago (Silva *et al.*, 2005). *L. multiflorum* is usually used in crop rotation with *Zea mays* L. in lowland pastures during the winter given its high productivity and diseases resistance under adverse climatic conditions (Fernandes *et al.*, 2006).

2.2. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi collection and culture

In July of 2006, soil was collected from the rhizosphere of ten different *H. lanatus* plants in Pico Galhardo (PX), Terra Brava (TB), Agualva RP1 (RP1) and Agualva 159

(RP2) and used to set up trap cultures of the AMF community. The fresh soil samples were mixed with autoclaved sand and "bagacina" (volcanic soil type) in a ratio of 2:1:1. A 1.5-kg aliquot of the mixture was placed in each pot to produce trap culture from each sample. Corn (*Zea mays* L.) was used as host plant. Seeds of corn were surface sterilised by immersion in alcohol (96 %) for 30 sec, 4 % bleach for 2 min, and rinsed twice in sterile distilled water. Then, they were sown in pots on sterilized sand soil and left to germinated in the greenhouse. After one week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to pots containing the fresh soil samples mix. A total of 4 seedlings were used per plot. Trap cultures in 40 plots were grown in glasshouse for 5 months and then harvested. All pots were watered every 2 days with distilled water, and no nutrient solution was added to the pots. One month before harvested, we left watering the pots to stimulate the sporulation.

2.3. AMF root colonisation assessment

After 5 months, plants were harvested and root examined to confirm AMF colonisation. A portion of roots was cleared in 2.5% KOH for 1h at 90 °C. Subsequently roots were left to acidify overnight in 1% HCl. Staining was done with blue ink (Parker Quink) for 30 min at 60 °C, followed by distaining in lactoglycerol. The amount of colonisation was estimated using a grid-intersect method with examination of 100 intersects under a compound microscope at 200x magnification (McGonigle *et al.*, 1990). Root-intersects that contained vesicules, arbuscules or hyphae were scored as mycorrhizal. The remaining corn roots were cut into 2-cm pieces, and disinfected by immersion in 2 % chloramines T for 3 min and in an antibiotic solution (streptomycin 200 mg l^{-1} + penicillin 100 mg l^{-1}) for 3 h. Then, roots were rinsed in autoclaved water and dried (de la Peña *et al.*, 2006).

2.4. Spores assessment

AMF spores produced in the trap culture were extracted by sieving and decanting (Gerdemann and Nicolson, 1963). The procedure included the passage of 50 cm³ of harvested trap culture substrate from each pot through 1000-, 500-, 250-, 100-, and 45 μ m sieves. The material retained in 250 μ m, 100 μ m and 45 μ m was collected to different petri dishes and AMF spores were counted under a stereoscopic microscope

(Leica MZ 12). Spores from 4 genera were detected in the trap culture, namely *Acaulospora*, *Ambispora*, *Glomus* and *Scutellospora*.

2.5. Experimental design

The experiment was performed with the three grasses with the widest application in the pastures of the Azores, i.e. *H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* Lam and *L. perenne*. Seeds of these three plant species were surface sterilised by immersion in 96% alcohol for 30 sec, 0.4% sodium hypochlorite for 2 min and rinsed twice in sterile distilled water. They were then sown in boards on a sterilised sand soil and left to germinate in greenhouse. After 2 week of growth, seedlings were transplanted to the pots. Four seedlings of each plant species were planted in 2-I pots filled with a pasteurized substrate contained, soil, sand and "bagagina" (volcanic soil type) in a ratio of 2:1:1 soil. To each plant species was made two treatments with 14 replicates per treatment: an uninoculated control (C) and an inoculation with a mixture of native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Fig. 1). The experience included a total of 84 pots.



Figure 1. Experimental design in which: H.L – *H. lanatus*; L.m. - *L. multiflorum* and L.p. - *L. perenne*; AMF - arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi.

At the time of transplantation each pot containing 4 seedlings of each plant species for inoculation with AMF, received 250 spores and 1g of dried corn roots from trap cultures, which was used as AMF inoculum. Pots were covered by a volcanic ash layer in order to keep the substrate humid and avoid the contamination, and then arranged in the greenhouse in a completely randomised design. Every 2 days pots were watered and once per month they were fertilized with 50 ml of half-strength modified (P-free) Hoagland's solution. The experiment was conducted from June 2007 until October 2007.

2.6. Harvest and data collection

Plants were harvested 16 weeks after mycorrhizal inoculation. The following physical parameters were measured: fresh root weight, aerial fresh root weight, total fresh root weight (aerial and root) and aerial dry weight. After taking the root fraction for assessing AMF colonisation (5% in fresh weight), the remaining plant material was dried at 72 °C for 48 h to estimate plant biomass. AMF colonisation was determined by the same method used to assess mycorrhizal infection in *Z. mays* roots from trap culture (see above).

2.7. Data analysis

The statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA (Minitab, version 13.31, 2000) to compare between the 3 plant species species (*H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne*) for percentage colonisation of all mycorrhizal structures. These data were arcsine (x/100) transformed to reduce the variance in the data. We also used a two-way ANOVA to test for treatment (non-mycorrhizal plants - control and mycorrhizal plants -AMF) and plant species (*H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne*) and all interactions on the fresh root weight, aerial fresh weight, total fresh weight and aerial dry weight. For *post hoc* comparison we used the Tukey's multiple range tests (Minitab, version 13.31, 2000). Mycorrhizal dependency (DM) was calculated for each plant species as follows. Percentage mycorrhizal responsiveness 5 [(dry mass mycorrhizal plant 2 dry mass nonmycorrhizal plant)/dry mass mycorrhizal plant] 3 100 (Hetrick *et al.*,1992).

Pearson correlations coefficients were calculated between mycorrhizal root colonisation and plant growth parameters (fresh root weight, aerial fresh weight, total fresh weight and aerial dry weight), as well as, between mycorrhizal dependency (DM) and root colonisation.

3. Results

3.1. Mycorrhizal colonisation

Non-mycorrhizal control plants showed no colonisation. The AMF root colonisation was well establish and ranged between 60 % and 30 % in *H. lanatus* and *L. multiflorum* respectively, and most of the observed fungal structures corresponded to hyphae and vesicles (Table 1; Fig. 1). Furthermore, percentage of root colonisation by AMF was strongly affected by the host plant. Thus, we found that AMF total colonisation varied significantly with plant spp. (Anova: F= 23.17; d.f.= 2, 39; p< 0.001). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test showed that average percentage of AMF total colonisation was significantly higher in *H. lanatus* ($\bar{x} = 0.62 \pm 0.035$) than in *L. perenne* ($\bar{x} = 0.40 \pm 0.041$) and *L. multiflorum* ($\bar{x} = 0.31 \pm 0.025$). Moreover, there were no significant differences in average percentage of AMF total colonisation between *L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne* (Fig. 2 a).

Table 1. *F* - and *P*- values from ANOVA of dependent variables (AMF total colonisation, AMF hyphal colonisation, AMF vesicle colonization and AMF arbuscule colonisation) to significance between plant spp. (*H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne*). * P < 0,05; ** P < 0,01; *** P < 0,001; n.s= not significant.

Source	F	p
AMF total colonisation	23.17	***
AMF hyphal colonisation	7.01	**
AMF vesicle colonisation	12.78	***
AMF arbuscule colonisation	6.79	**

The percentage of AMF hyphal colonisation also varied significantly among plant species. (Anova: F= 7.01; d.f.= 2, 39; p= 0.003) (Table1). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test revealed significant differences in average of AMF hypal colonisation among the 3 plants inoculated, which was significantly higher in *H. lanatus* ($\bar{x} = 0.43 \pm 0.035$) than in the *L. multiflorum* ($\bar{x} = 0.27 \pm 0.021$), but did not differ significantly from *L. perenne* ($\bar{x} = 0.39 \pm 0.032$) (Fig. 2 b).



Figure 2. Average percent of total AMF, hyphae, vesicles and arbuscules colonisation from *H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne*. Standard errors of the mean (n= 14) are shown. Values of percent are arcsine-transformed. For each parameter, different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between treatments after two-way ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test ($P \le 0.05$). ANOVA *P*-values are presented in Table 1.

The same result was obtained with the percentage of AMF vesicles colonisation, which differed significantly with the host plant (Anova: F= 12.78; d.f.= 2, 39; p< 0.001) (Table 1). In fact, vesicles were present in approximately half of the micorrhizal colonisation of *H. lanatus*, hence this plant species had significantly greater average percentage of AMF vesicles colonisation ($\bar{x} = 0.26 \pm 0.042$) than *L. perenne* ($\bar{x} = 0.10 \pm 0.033$) or *L. multiflorum* ($\bar{x} = 0.04 \pm 0.014$) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05) (Fig. 1 c). However, no significant differences were found between *L. perenne* and *L. multiflorum* (Fig.2 c).

The percentage of arbuscule colonisation followed the same trend, i.e. varied significantly with the plant species (Anova: F= 6.79; d.f.= 2, 39; p= 0.003) (Table 1). The Tukey HSD *post hoc* test showed that average percentage of AMF arbuscule colonisation was significantly higher in *H. lanatus* ($\bar{x} = 0.11 \pm 0.018$) than in *L. multiflorum* ($\bar{x} = 0.04 \pm 0.015$), but did not differ significantly from *L. perenne* ($\bar{x} = 0.07 \pm 0.010$) (Fig. 2 d).

3.2. Mycorrhizal dependency

L. perenne showed the greater response to mycorrhizal colonisation compared with the remaining plant species. Mycorrhizal dependency (MD) values were about 62 %, 40 % and 27 %, respectively, in *L. Perenne*, *H. lanatus* and *L. multiflorum*. Moreover, the relationship between mycorrhizal dependency and root colonisation was significantly positive (r= 0.306, P< 0.05).

3.3. Effects of AMF species on plant growth

The importance of native AMF inoculation on aerial biomass production of *H. lanatus*, *L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne* seedlings are displayed on Figure 3.



Figure 3. Experimental inoculation. *H. lanatus* mycorrhizal (AMF) and control plants (a); *L. multiflorum* mycorrhizal (AMF) and control plants (b); *L. perenne* mycorrhizal (AMF) and control plants (c).

The two-way Anova showed that the type of treatment as well as the plant species had a significant influence on plant parameters (Table 2).Thus there were highly significant effects of treatments (two-way Anova: F= 21.87; d.f.= 1, 78; p< 0.001), plant species (two-way Anova: F= 34.70; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.001) and the interactions between these 2 factors (two-way Anova: F= 10.46; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.001) on the fresh root weight (Table 2). The fresh root weight was negatively correlated with AMF root colonisation (*r*= - 0.493, p< 0.001). In fact, *L. perenne* control plants (\bar{x} = 86.44 ± 2.74) had the highest fresh weigh root, and *H. lanatus* mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 52.63 ± 3.04) as well as, the *H. lanatus* control plants (\bar{x} = 54.83 ± 3.71) the lowest fresh root weight (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05) (fig. 4 a). However, fresh root weight of *L. perenne* control plants did not differ significantly from the *L. multiflorum* control (\bar{x} = 81.99 ± 3.28) or mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 76.62 ± 2.95) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05) (fig. 4 a).

Table 2. *F* - and *p*- values from two-way ANOVA of dependent variables (fresh root weight, aerial fresh weight, total fresh weight and aerial fresh weight) to significance between treatment (control and AMF), plant spp. (*H. lanatus, L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne*) and interaction treatment x plant spp. * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01; *** P < 0.001; n.s= not significant.

Main effects	Treatm	ent	Plant s	pp.	Treatment x Plant spp.
	F	р	F	p	F p
Fresh root weight	21.87	***	34.70	***	10.46 ***
Aerial fresh weight	45.81	***	36.85	***	12.15 ***
Total fresh weight	4.33	*	5.63	**	2.58 n.s
Aerial dry weight	55.78	***	55.56	***	14.03 ***

The same result was also observed in relation to aerial fresh weight, which also was significantly affected by the 2 main factors in question, as well as, by the interaction between them. This way, there were greater significant effects of treatment (two-way Anova: F= 45.81; d.f.= 1, 78; p< 0.001), plant species (two-way Anova: F= 36.85; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.001) and the interaction among these 2 factors (two-way Anova: F= 12.15; d.f.= 1, 78; p< 0.001) in aerial fresh weight among control plants and mycorrhizal plants (Table 2).



Figure 4. Experimental inoculation. Average of fresh root weight (a), aerial fresh weigh (b), total fresh weight (c) and aerial dry weight (d) from *H. lanatus, L. multiflorum and L. perenne* in non-mycorrhizal (control) and mycorrhizal (AMF) treatments. Standard errors of the mean (n= 14) are shown. For each parameter, different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between treatments after two-way ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test (P≤ 0.05).). ANOVA *P*-values are presented in Table 2.

The aerial fresh weight was significant and positively correlated with AMF root colonisation (r= 0.375, P< 0.05). Thus, the aerial fresh weight of *L. perenne* mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 89.13 ± 6.66) was significantly higher than *L. multiflorum* mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 44.33 ± 1.28) and control ones (\bar{x} = 42.88 ± 0.94) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05), but was identical to the aerial fresh weight of *H. lanatus* mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 86.92 ± 5.05) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05) (Fig. 4 b).

The total fresh weight was affected by the presence/absence of AMF and by species of plants (Table 2). Then, there were significant differences between the 3 species of plants (two-way Anova: F= 5.63; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.01) (Table 2) on total fresh weight, which was significantly more high in *L. perenne* ($\bar{x} = 141.30 \pm 3.78$) than in *L. multiflorum* ($\bar{x} = 122.91 \pm 2.64$), but it was identical to *H. lanatus* ($\bar{x} = 128.90 \pm 5.42$) (Fig. 4 c). The total fresh weight also varied significantly between the 2 treatments performed, but much less markedly (two-way Anova: F= 4.33; d.f.= 1, 78; p< 0.05) (Table 2). In fact, the total fresh weight was higher in mycorrhizal plants ($\bar{x} = 135.79 \pm 3.81$) than in control plants ($\bar{x} = 126.28 \pm 3.08$) (Fig. 4 c). However, there were no significant differences of the interaction between the 2 main factors on total fresh weight (two-way Anova: F= 2.58; d.f.= 2, 78; p= 0.08) (Table 2).

The aerial dry weight was also significantly affected by the treatments (two-way Anova: F= 55.78; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.01), plant species (two-way Anova: F= 55.56; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.01) as well as, by the interactions between these 2 factors (two-way Anova: F= 14.03; d.f.= 2, 78; p< 0.001) (Table 2). Again, the effect of AMF was evident on this parameter, i.e. aerial dry weight was significant and positively correlated with the AMF root colonisation (r= 0.534, p< 0.001). In fact, the aerial dry weight of *H. lanatus* mycorrhizal plants was significantly higher than the others combinations (\bar{x} = 27.50 ± 2.58) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05), and the opposite was observed in relation to aerial dry weight of *L. multiflorum* which was significantly lower in non-mycorrhizal plants (\bar{x} = 8.69 ± 0.20) as well as in presence of AMF (\bar{x} = 8.71 ± 0.25) (Tukey multiple comparison test p< 0.05) (Fig. 4 d).

4. Discussion

The establishment of the AMF in the root cortex is known to change many key aspects of plant physiology. These include the mineral nutrient composition of plant tissues, the hormonal balance, and the patterns of C allocation. Therefore, the AMF symbiotic status changes the chemical composition of root exudates, while the development of an AMF soil mycelium, which can act as a carbon source for microbial communities, introduces physical modifications into the environment surrounding the roots. AM-induced changes in plant physiology affect the microbial populations, both quantitatively and qualitatively, in either the rhizosphere and/or the rhizoplane. Therefore, the rhizosphere of a mycorrhizal plant can have features that differ from those of a non-mycorrhizal plant (Barea *et al.* 2005).

Root colonisation percentage

The three plant species used in this study showed multiple colonisation morphology, i.e. *Arum-type* and *Paris-type*. Thick wall of intercellular hyphae with projections and H connections and intercellular vesicles (*Arum-type*), as well as, intercellular coils and terminal arbuscules (*Paris-type*) were observed in the three host plant (Smith *et al.*, 2003). On the other hand, the three plant species displayed different, but well described physiological alterations as a result of mycorrhizal colonisation.

In fact, the percentage of colonisation of almost all AMF structures was significantly higher in *H. lanatus* followed by *L. perenne* and *L. multiflorum*. Thus *H. lanatus* and *L. perenne* behaved as a typical mycorrhiza-responsive plant species, having relatively high levels of mycorrhizal dependency (40 % and 61 % respectively). Conversely, *L. multiflorum*, was overall less responsive to mycorrhizal colonisation, whereby it had lower mycorrhizal dependency (approximately 27 %). Smith and Read (1997) reported that the extent to which typical AMF colonise root systems varies with species of plants. Also, Bever (2002) showed in a microcosm experiment evident differences of host-specific in the AMF communities between 4 host plants (*P. lanceolata, A. odoratum* and *P. sphaerocarpon*). He reported that biovolume of AMF spores after the first generation was great with *Allium* and least with *Anthoxathum*. On the other, it was also noted that there are differences in the extent of infection between genotypes of the same species (Burleigh *et al.*, 1998; 2002; Croll *et al.*, 2008). Burleigh *et al.* (2002)

demonstrated that large differences may exist between plant species in how they respond at molecular level to AMF colonisation, since seven species on AMF varied widely in their influence on the root expression of the Mt4 gene from Medicago truncatula, whose expression is down-regulated by both phosphate starvation and mycorrhizal colonisation (Burleigh et al., 1998) as well as on the expression of LePT1 and TPSI1 of Lycopersicum esculentum. The same author noted that M. truncatula colonisation by *Glomus mosseae* resulted in the greatest reduction in MtPT2 and Mt4 gene expression and the highest level of P uptake and growth, but the opposite occurred in *M. Truncatula* root colonisation by *Gigaspora* rosea. However, little variation was detected in the expression of LePT1 and TPSI1 within roots of the seven mycorrhizas. Mathimaran et al. (2005) observed that host plant was an important determinant of AMF species composition, once Glomus intraradices and Glomus caledonium showed significant preferences to leek and sunflower respectively. Recently, Croll et al., (2008) found that among four different trap host species (Allium porrum, Plantago lanceolata, Glycine max and Helianthus annuus) the number of AMF genotypes was significantly higher in A. porrum and H. annus both with 9 isolates, than in G. max and P. lanceolata with 4 and 1 isolates respectively. They concluded that this fact could provide in field site a heterogeneous environment, since host plant may encourage certain genotypes.

Plant productivity

Mycorrhizal colonisation affects a wide range of morphological parameters in development root systems, a greater root branching being the most described effect (Regvar *et al.*, 2003; Cho *et al.*, 2009). Sohn *et al.* (2003) reported at transplanting stage of chrysanthemum plant (*Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat), that inoculation of AMF resulted in greater height, number of lateral roots, tap root length, and fresh and dry weight of shoots and roots compared to non-AMF treatment. Turkmen *et al.* (2008) noted that fresh and dry weights of shoots and roots of pepper seedlings were increased in presence of AMF species. However, our result did not agree with the previous work, we detected a decrease on fresh root weight of the 3 plants species in the mycorrhizal treatment compared to the control. A similar result was also found by Azcón and Ocampo (1981) who reported that mycorrhizal dependency among 13 wheat cultivars decreased as the root weight increased. Also Saif (1987) noted that

inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi favored the development of shoots more than roots, leading to a significant decrease in the root/shoot ratio of fourteen host plants. According to Azcón-Aguilar and Barea (1997) plants forming mycorrhizae tend to have a lower root:shoot (R:S) ratio, which means a greater biomass efficiency, since less energy is directed to root formation. Using micropropagated pineapple, Guillemin et al. (1992) were even able to demonstrate the existence of a negative correlation between the mycorrhizal effects on root and shoot development. According to the authors, the higher the root:shoot ratio, the less efficient the system for shoot production. This mycorrhizal effect on root development is partly due to architectural changes in the root system, as has been demonstrated in particular for micropropagated woody species such as grapevine (Schellenbaum et al., 1991) and Prunus (Berta et al., 1995). These studies show that mycorrhiza formation changes root topology from a herringbone pattern to a more dichotomous pattern, the latter being more efficient for scavenging of the soil nutrients. Pacovisky et al. (1986) reported that P-deficient plants lacking AMF symbiosis tend to have a high root:shoot ratio, which is usually associated with nutrient-stressed plants. More recently, van der Heijden et al. (2006) also noted in an experimental grassland microcosm with different AMF taxa and host plants, that root biomass was, on average, 26 % higher in control microcosm compared with microcosm inoculated with AMF.

It has been well documented that morphology of root is extremely important factor in determining mycorrhizal dependency. Plants with roots that are comparatively thick, with little branching and few or no root hairs tend to show greater positive growth responses to mycorrhizal colonisation than plants with fine, highly branched long roots with numerous root hairs (Hetrick *et al.*, 1992; Wilson and Hartnett, 1998). Research has showed that the length and the density of roots hair are indicator of the mycorrhizal dependency (MD) of plants species or cultivar (Janos, 2007). Our result followed this trend, since fresh root weight was negatively correlated with AMF root colonisation, i.e. *L. multiflorum* had the largest root biomass and it was less mycorrhizal dependent than *H. lanatus* and *L. perenne*. Moreover, a significant correlation between root colonisation and mycorrhizal dependency was observed which may suggest that plant that do not rely on the symbiosis regulate mycorrhizal colonisation in some way and, thus, control carbon expenditure of the fungus (Wilson

and Hartnett (1998). In fact, the three grasses are described as cool-season (C_3), and particularly *L. multiflorum* was the less responsive and also the less colonised by the fungi.

The symbiosis with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) increases the performance of plants by improving nutrient acquisition, resulting in positive effects on growth and reproduction (Smith and Read 1997). In fact, the intensity of root mycorrhizal colonisation, which quantify the biomass of AMF in plants roots significantly differ between the 3 grasses. The high root colonisation observed in *H. lanatus* as well as in *L. perenne*, although less marked, promoted a significant increase in aerial fresh root, total fresh weight as aerial dry weight. This result could be associated with the increase of nutrient uptake by mycorrhizal roots. As the colonisation. This result was consistent to previous works, among them Jaizme-Vega and Azcón-Aguilar (1995) who reported that growth of some tropical and subtropical cultures, like avocado, papaya, pineapple and banana, improved when they were inoculated with selected AMF during the first phase of growth. Likewise, Regvar *et al.* (2003) showed a significant increase on biomass parameters of pepper and parsley as a result of mycorrhizal inoculation.

Guissou (2009) also found a significant increase in shoot growth, total dry weight and nutrient uptake in seedlings of jujube (*Ziziphus mauritiana* Lam.) plants as result of the high rate of root colonisation observed in this plant.

Conversely, significantly lower total aerial fresh weight was recorded in *L. multiflorum* plants inoculated with AMF compared with non-mycorrhizal plants. Reduced growth as a result of mycorrhizal colonisation was also observed in some *Tagetes* cultivars (Linderman and Davis, 2004). No effect of root inoculation with *Glomus intraradices* on shoot biomass was earlier recorded in *Callistephus chinensis* grown in P-deficient soil under field conditions (Gaur and Adholeya, 2005). It is well known that mycorrhizal colonisation can depress plant growth primarily by sink competition for photosynthates (Douds *et al.* 1998). Some studies have indicated that plant growth depression due to mycorrhizal colonisation is attributed to greater carbon expenditure in a colonised root system (Peng *et al.*, 1993).

In field cultivation mycorrhizal roots can explore more soil volume than nonmycorrhizal ones, due to their extramatricial hyphae (Sawaki and Saito, 2001); it is impossible in pot culture in very limited volume of growing media. Results obtained on *Typha latifolia* (Dunham *et al.*, 2003) also suggest that under greenhouse conditions, AMF act to reduce plant growth despite increased mineral nutrition and photosynthetic activity. On the other hand, the time period of seedlings could have been too short to record a higher colonisation percentage, and consequently their effects on aerial biomass, since the root system infected normally increases with time sigmoidally (Smith and Read, 1997). Adding, according to van der Heijden *et al.* (2006) plant growth responses to AMF were temporally variable and some species obtained the highest biomass with different year, thus it may be beneficial for plant to be colonised by different AMF taxa in different seasons. However, though *L. multiflorum* is a weakly mycotrophic plant, there is evidence that it can maintain a viable AMF community in monoculture even when more strongly mycorrhizal plants are lacking (Teutsch *et al.*, 2006).

To sum up, the inoculation with a mix of native AMF inoculum increased plant productivity. This agrees with other studies which show that native AMF are important contributors to plant biodiversity and ecosystem productivity (van der Heijden *et al.*, 1998; Requena *et al.*, 2001, Klironomos, 2003; Regvar *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, our results indicate that mycorrhizal inoculated at the first phase of development of the plant production system confer the greatest benefit to these plant species (Jaizme-Vega and Azcón, 1995; Regvar *et al.*, 2003). However, the three grasses responded differently to AMF inoculation indicating that AMF is host-dependent (Eason *et al.*, 1999; Hartnett and Wilson, 1999; Bever, 2002). This result underlines to the impact that cropping with a weak or non-mycorrhizal crop may have on AMF colonisation, nutrient uptake and yield of subsequent AMF reliant crop, especially if it is highly mycorrhizal dependent (Douds *et al.*, 1997; Miller, 2000).

Our findings are of crucial importance to the agriculture systems of the Azores archipelago, a region where more than 80 % of the useful agricultural surface (SAU) is occupied by permanent pastures, where *L. perenne* and *H. lanatus* are the dominants plant species (Dias, 1996; Borges, 1997; Lopes, 1999). In these systems we have

assisted to a loose of biological diversity caused by the increasing input of fertilizers and pesticides to respond to the needs of high number of animals per

hectare ("livestock"). Therefore, in face to the relevant mycorrhizal responses of *L. perenne* and *H. lanatus*, the appropriate management of this symbiosis could enable the reduction of chemical fertilizer and pesticide inputs, a key aim of sustainable grassland plant production approaches (Azcón-Aguilar and Barea, 1997).

CHAPTER VI. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

General conclusions

Arbuscular mycorrhiza is an ancient symbiosis between the majority of land plants and fungi from the phylum Glomeromycota. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) colonise plant roots and contribute to the mineral nutrient uptake of the hosts in exchange for carbohydrates. AMF species diversity and identity was reported to have a decisive influence on the composition and productivity of natural plant communities. Only around 200 glomeromycotan species described so far were thought to colonise the majority of higher plant species and thus, their host specificity was thought to be very low. Determining how AMF biological communities are assembled and the factors that influence its distributions are fundamental challenges in ecology.

It is well documented that agricultures practices can affect the structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal communities. These changes reflect not only in species diversity but also in species composition, with the most of studies indicating a decrease with the level of land use intensification. However, our study showed that diversity of AMF spores as well as the diversity of AMF on Holcus lanatus L. roots did not change between the semi-natural and intensive land uses. The absence of different patterns of AMF species diversity, between the two land uses types could be related with the low level of land use intensification. In fact, it is known that the input of fertilisers and pesticides and several other management practices (e.g. grazing intensity) are important in defining the quality of the pasturelands for AMF. However, the input of fertilisers to Azorean pastureland is lower than average inputs to pastures on the European mainland, which enables the occurrence of endemic species even in most intensive land uses. On the other hand, striking differences in AMF spore composition were found between semi-natural and intensive land uses. Species in Glomus were dominant in intensive pastures, not only as reproductive spores but also in roots of H. lanatus, which conferred its status of "generalist" species due its high ecological plasticity occurring in a wide range of habitats inclusive in the most disturbed. In contrast, Acaulospora and Scutellospora were the two most representative genera in semi-natural pastures. Many of these species appeared to prefer or even to be restricted to a land use intensity or field site, and thus characterised as "specialist". This was the case for most species of Acaulospora sp. and Ambispora sp. only found in semi-natural land use, while Glomus etunicatum and Paraglomus sp. just found in intensive ones. This suggests that these species have specific and rather narrow niches. Distinct colonisation strategies adopted by AMF, even at family level and nutrient availability could explain these differences on species composition between land uses. Members of Glomaceae have a highly infective extra-radical mycelium that could allow colonising immediately plant roots. Hence, *G. mosseae* and *G. etunicatum* dominance may be related to competitive advantages for carbon uptake, which make them the most effective competitor due to its fast rate of colonisation and early peak in colonisation. Moreover, *Glomus* forms anastomose between mycelia therefore has the ability to re-establish an interconnected network after mechanical disturbance. Conversely members of Gigasporaceae, those are only capable of propagation via spore dispersal colonise plant roots more slowly than members of Glomaceae.

In order to better understand the role of AMF in natural ecosystems, as well as their basic biology, it is important to document seasonal changes of mycorrhizal colonisation. The fungal structure quantification in *H. lanatus* roots such as arbuscules, vesicles and hyphae was higher in semi-natural land use than in intensive ones, and showed a marked seasonality. This could be related with plant phenology and metabolic pathway, as well as with climatic conditions. Fungal structures were more abundant in the summer, the season with high temperature as well as solar radiation. Moreover, the higher abundance of fungal structure in *H. lanatus* root during this season could be related with plant phenology. This period matches with the start of the reproductive phase of *Holcus lanatus* at the sites. During flowering and/or fruiting the phosphorus demand is high and thus AMF colonisation levels were also high. This can also be demonstrated by higher percentage of AMF arbuscules colonisation during this season. Arbuscules are the place for exchange of nutrients between plant and fungus, and its high percentage of colonisation indicates an intense symbiotic activity.

Nutrient availability also affects the species composition and root colonisation of AMF communities. The density of spore of the most representative genera – *Glomus, Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora*, was correlated with soil nutrients. The percentage of AMF root colonisation showed the same pattern. Thus, the improvement of soil fertility, especially the availability of K, N, Ca and Mg, provided favourable environment for mycorrhizal formation and function in these systems. Among soil nutrients, phosphorus is widely known to inhibit the composition and diversity of AMF communities as well as spore and mycelium densities. However, a correlation between percentage of AMF colonisation and spore density with soil P content was not found. This may be due to low soil Pcontent in semi-natural and intensive pastures, which is

above the P concentrations that limit AMF colonisation and plant growth (P< 10 ppm), that could affect the absorption of other soil nutrients. Under P limited conditions, the investment of a host plant in AMF genus or species should be strengthened to maintain the uptake of limiting nutrients. So, as predicted by the functional equilibrium model, in low P soil, relative allocation to arbuscules, coils and extraradical hypae is generally increased by N enrichment and vice-versa. Then, changes in AMF community may be explained by changes in the soil N:P ratio.

In fact, the spore densities of *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* were positively correlated with N soil nutrient, but the opposite occurred with spore density of *Glomus* genus, which was reflected in a greater abundance of genera *Acaulospora* and *Scutellospora* in semi-natural pastures, as well as, in higher abundance of *Glomus* genus in the intensively managed pastures.

The main AMF benefits to the plants is the growth improvement due to enhanced nutrient uptake, particularly immobile nutrients like phosphorus, because the hyphae can reach farther that the nutrient depleted zones that build up around plant roots. Thus, AMF may play an important role in ecosystems functioning, since their appropriate management can reduce the use of chemical and energy in agriculture and consequently lead to a more economical and sustainable production systems. However, host genotypes influence the response to mycorrhizal symbiosis both in terms of plant growth or protections against pathogens. According to their response to mycorrhizal colonisation, host plant can be classified in 3 categories: obligate, facultative or non-mycorrhizal depending if they show high, intermediate or non level of arbuscular mycorrhizal colonisation. Mycorrhizal response is usually measured in terms of mycorrhizal dependency. The tree plant studied – H. lanatus L., Lolium *multiflorum* Lam. and *Lolium perenne* L. are facultative mycorrhizal plants, but showed different degrees of response to native AMF inoculation. L. perenne was the most mycorrhizal dependent plant, followed by *H. lanatus*, which reflected in a higher root colonisation and thus higher plant biomass production. In contrast, *L. multiflorum* was the less responsive and also the less colonised by the fungi, which resulted in lower plant productivity when combined with mycorrhiza.

Mycorrhizal dependency among species has potentially important applications to agroecosystems functioning and management. In the Azores, upland semi-natural and intensive pastures are usually dominated by the grass species *Holcus lanatus*. In contrast, *L. multiflorum* and *L. perenne* are characteristic of lowland improved pastures

receiving regular imputs of fertiliser. Moreover, in lowland during the winter *L. multiflorum* is usually used in crop rotation with *Zea mays* L. an obligate mycorrhizal plant. Our findings suggest that in this soil management called "outonos" the AMF root colonisation of highly mycorrhizal dependant crop (*Z. may*), and subsequent production, can be committed due to lower AMF infectivity resulting from the previous weak mycorrhizal crop (*L. multiflorum*). In addition to increased inorganic nutrient acquisition, other potential benefits of AMF colonisation to host plant include enhanced resistance or tolerance to biotic stress, such as nematodes and root pathogens. In fact, the inoculation with native AMF increased the tolerance of *H. lanatus* to root-knot *Meloidogyne incognita*. Among the mechanism proposed to explain the protective effect of AMF, we suggest that plant growth promotion by AMF, and direct competition for host colonisation sites and photosynthates between AMF and nematode were involved.

AMF indigenous inoculum promoted the growth of the host plant, which was evident in a higher fresh and dry foliar biomass of mycorrhizal plants than in others treatments. Thus, there was an apparent increase in the vigor of the mycorrhizal plants that made them more resistant to nematode infection. However, root biomass was higher when plants were inoculated simultaneously with the two organisms, indicating that in presence of the nematode, AMF increase root biomass to compensate tissue damage and decay of root sections by the pathogen and consequently prevent significantly disease symptoms.

Both AMF and root-knot *M. incognita* share the same ecological niche, i.e. root of host plants. However, the nematode presence did not cause a decrease on mycorrhizal colonisation, indicating that probably a competitive interaction occurred between these two organisms on *H. lanatus* roots by space. On the other hand, as in mycorrhizal plants much carbon is used by the symbiotic AMF, less carbon could be available for nematode colonisation, preventing the infection by the nematode.

This was the first study about AMF community structure in Azores. It provides basic information about AMF species diversity and composition in semi-natural and intensive pastures of Azores, as well as the main factors that can contribute to differences between them. Moreover, the results also underline to the role of indigenous AMF as potential inoculums in pastures, either by its contribute to plant productivity or protection against nematodes. Thus, the correct use of AMF will help to decrease

fertiliser input yet maintain the same level of growth and production, which will be the crucial importance from the point of view of sustainable agriculture. However, much works will be needed to better clarify the patterns of AMF distributions in these systems. It will be interesting to further investigate whether these AMF differ in other functional traits that are of agronomic importance.

REFERENCES

- Abbott L K, Robson A D (1981) Infectivity and effectiveness of five endomycorrhizal fungi: competition with indigenous fungi in field soils. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 32: 621–630
- Agwa HE, Al-Sodany YM (2003) Arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi (Glomales) in Egypt. III: Distribution and ecology in some plants in El-Omayed Biosphere Reserve Egyptian. Journal of Biology 5: 19-26
- Ahulu EM, Gollotte A, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Nonaka M (2006) Cooccurring plants forming distinct arbuscular mycorrhizal morphologies harbor similar AM fungal species. Mycorrhiza 17: 37-49
- Al-Askar AA, Rashad YM (2010) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: A biocontrol agent against common bean *Fusarium* root rot disease. Plant Pathology Journal 9: 31-38
- Alkan N, Gadkar V, Coburn J, Yarden O, Kapulnik Y (2004) Quantification of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* in host tissue using real-time polymerase chain reaction. New Phytologist 161: 877-885
- Alkan N, Gadkar V, Yarden O, Kapulnik Y (2006) Analysis of quantitative interactions between two species of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, *Glomus mosseae* and *G. intraradices*, by real-time PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72: 4192-4199
- Al-Karaki GN, Clark RB (1999) Mycorrhizal influence on protein and lipid of durum wheat grown at different soil phosphorus levels. Mycorrhiza 9: 97-101
- Al-Karaki GN, Hammad R, Rusan M (2001) Response of two tomato cultivars differing in salt tolerance to inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi under salt stress. Mycorrhiza 11:43-47
- Allen EB, Allen MF (1988) Facilitation of succession by the nonmycotrophic colonizer *Salsola kali* (Chenopodiaceae) on a harsh site: effects of mycorrhizal fungi. American Journal of Botany 75: 257-266
- Allen MF (1991) The ecology of mycorrhizae. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Allen SE (1989) Chemical Analysis of Ecological Materials. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Oxford
- Altieri MA (1998) Agroecology, The Science of sustainable Agriculture. Intermediate Techonlogy Publications. London
- Ames RN, Schneider RW (1979) *Entrophospora*, a new genus in the Endogonaceae. Mycotaxon 8: 347-352
- Appoloni S, Lekberg Y, Tercek MT, Zabinski CA, Redecker D (2008) Molecular Community Analysis of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Roots of Geothermal Soils in Yellowstone National Park (USA). Microbial Ecology 56: 649-659

- Armas JL (1982) Produção de Carne nos Açores sua comercialização. Instituto Histórica da Ilha Terceira. Boletim XL. Angra do Heroísmo
- Augé RM (2004) Water relations, drought and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza 11: 3-42
- Augé RM, Stodola AJW, Tims JE, Saxton AM (2001) Moisture retention properties of a mycorrhizal soil. Plant and Soil 230: 87-97
- Avio L, Pellegrino E, Bonari E, Giovannetti M (2006) Functional diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal isolates in relation to extraradical mycelial networks. New Phytologist 172: 347-357
- Azcon-Aguilar C, Barea JM (1997) Applying mycorrhiza biotechnology to horticulture: significance and potential. Scientia Horticulturae 68:1-24
- Azcon-Aguilar C, Encina CL, Azcon R, Barea JM (1994) Mycotrophy of *Annona cherimola* and the morphology of its mycorrhizae. Mycorrhiza 4:161-168
- Azcón-Aguilar C, Jaizme-Vega MC, Calvet C (2002) The contribuition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to the control of soil-borne plant pathogens. In: Gianinazzi S, Schüepp H, Barea JM, Haselwandler K, eds. Mycorrhizal Technology in Agriculture. Switzerland/Birkäuser Verlag, 187-197
- Azcon R, Ocampo JA (1981) Factors affecting the vesiculararbuscular infection and mycorrhizal dependency of thirteen wheat cultivars. New Phytologist 87: 677-685
- Azevedo E (1996) Modelação do clima insular à escala local. Modelo CIELO aplicado à ilha Terceira. Ph.D. Thesis, Universidade dos Açores, Angra do Heroísmo
- Azevedo EB, Pereira LS, Itier B (1999) Modelling the local climate in island environments: water balance applications. Agricultural Water Management 40: 393-403
- Bago B, Pfeffer PE, Shachar-Hill Y (2000) Carbon Metabolism and Transport in Arbuscular Mycorrhizas. Plant Physiology 124: 949-957
- Barea JM, Jeffries P (1995) Arbuscular mycorrhizas in sustainable soil plant systems. In: B. Hock and A. Varma (ed.), Mycorrhiza structure, function, molecular biology and biotechnology. pp. 521–559.Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany
- Barea JM, Pozo MJ, Azcón R, Azcón-Aguilar C (2005) Microbial co-operation in the rhizosphere. Journal of Experimental Botany, 56: 1761-1778
- Bécard G, Taylor LP, Douds DD, Pfeffer PE, Doner LW (1995) Flavonoids are not necessary plant signal compounds in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. Molecular Plant Microbe Interact 8: 252-258
- Bentivenga SP, Morton JB (1995) A Monograph of the Genus Gigaspora, Incorporating Developmental Patterns of Morphological Characters. Mycologia 87: 19-731

- Berch SM, Fortin JA (1983) *Endogone pisiformis*: axenic culture and associations with *Sphagnum, Pinus sylvestris, Allium cepa*, and *Allium porrum*. Canadian Journal Botany. 61:899-905
- Berta G, Trotta A, Fusconi A, Hooker JE, Munro M, Atkinson D, Giovannetti M, Morini S, Fortuna P, Tisserant B, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Gianinazzi S (1995) Arbuscular mycorrhizal induced changes to plant growth and root system morphology in *Prunus cerasifera*. Tree Physiology 15: 281-293
- Bever JD (2002) Host-specificity of AM fungal population growth rates can generate feedback on plant growth. Plant and Soil 244: 281-290
- Bever JD, Morton J (1999) Heritable variation and mechanisms of inheritance of spore shape within a population of *Scutellospora pellucida*, an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. American Journal of Botany 86: 1209-1216
- Bever JD, Schultz PA, Pringle A, Morton JB (2001) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: More diverse than meets the eye, and the ecological tale of why. Bioscience 51: 923-931
- Bhadalung N, Suwanarit A, Dell B, Nopamornbodi O, Thamchaipenet A, Rungchuang J (2005) Effects of long-term NP-fertilization on abundance and diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under a maize cropping system. Plant and Soil 270: 371-382
- Bianciotto V, Bonfante P (1992) Quantification of the Nuclear-DNA Content of 2 Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi. Mycological Research 96: 1071-1076
- Blanke V, Renker C, Wagner M, Fülner K, Held M, Kuhn A, Buscot F (2005) Nitrogen supply affects arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of *Artemisa vulgaris* in a phosphate-polluted field site. New Phytologist 166: 981-992
- Boddington CL, Dodd JC (2000) The effect of agricultural practices on the development of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. I. Field studies in an Indonesian ultisol. Plant and Soil 218: 137-144
- Böhrer KE, Friese CF, Amon JP (2004) Seasonal dynamics of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in differing wetland habitats. Mycorrhiza 14: 329-337
- Bonfante P, Perotto S (1995) Strategies of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi when infecting host plants. New Phytologist 130: 3-21
- Borges PAV (1997) Pastures arthropod community structure in azorean Island of different geological age. Ph.D. Thesis, Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, London
- Borges PAV, Brown VK (2001) Phytophagous insects and web-building spiders in relation to pasture vegetation complexity. Ecography 24: 68-82
- Borges PAV, Hortal J, Gabriel R, Homem N (2009) Would species richness estimators change the observed species area relationship? Acta Oecologica 35: 149-156
- Borges PAV, Pereira F, Silva A (1993) Caves and pits from the Azores. II An annotated Checklist. Açoreana, 7: 555-574
- Borges PAV, Ugland KI, Dinis FO, Gaspar C (2008) Insect and spider rarity in an oceanic island (Terceira, Azores): true rare and pseudo-rare species. In: S. Fattorini (Ed.). Insect Ecology and Conservation. pp. 47-70. Research Sign post, Kerala, India
- Borie F, Rubio R, Rouanet JL, Morales A, Borie G, Rojas C (2006) Effects of tillage systems on soil characteristics, glomalin and mycorrhizal propagules in a Chilean Ultisol. Soil and Tillage Research 88: 253-261
- Borowicz VA (1997) A fungal root symbiont modifies plant resistance to an insect herbivore. Oecologia 112: 534-542
- Borowicz VA (2001) Do arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alter plant–pathogen relations? Ecology 82: 3057-3068
- Börstler B, Renker C, Kahmen A, Buscot F (2006) Species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in two mountain meadows with differing management types and levels of plant biodiversity. Biol Fertil Soils 42:286–298
- Bradley K, Drijberb RA, Knopsc J (2006) Increased N availability in grassland soils modifies their microbial communities and decreases the abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 1583-1595
- Brito RS, Poeira ML (1991) Didáctica da Geografia. Universidade Aberta. Lisbon
- Brundrett MC (2002) Coevolution of roots and mycorrhizas of land plants. New Phytologist 154: 275-304
- Brundrett M (2004) Diversity and classification of mycorrhizal associations. Biological. Reviews 79: 473-495.
- Brundrett MC, Abbott (2002) Arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant communities. In: Microorganisms in Plant Conservation and Biodiversity (eds.) Sivasithamparam K, Dixon KW, Barrett, RL), pp. 151–193. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht
- Brundrett MC, Abbott LK, Jasper DA (1999) Glomalean mycorrhizal fungi from tropical Australia. I. Comparison of the effectiveness and specificity of different isolation procedures. *Mycorrhiza* 8: 305-314
- Bruns TD, White TJ, Taylor JW (1991) Fungal molecular systematics. Annual Review of Ecology System 22: 525-564
- Brussaard L *et al.* (1997) Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning in Soil. Ambio 26: 563-570
- Burleigh SH, Cavagnaro T, Jakobsen I (2002) Functional diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizas extends to the expression of plant genes involved in P nutrition. Journal of Experimental Botany 53: 1593-1601

- Burleigh SH, Harrison MJ (1998) Characterization of the Mt4 gene from *Medicago truncatula*. Gene 216: 47-53
- Busso CA, Bolletta A, Flemmer AC, Montani T (2008) Influence of soil water on arbuscular mycorrhizas in three perennial grasses in central Argentina. Annales Botanici Fennici 45: 453-447
- Cardoso P, Henriques SS, Gaspar C, Crespo LC, Carvalho R, Schmid JB, Sousa P, Szűts (2009) Species richness and composition assessment of spiders in a Mediterranean scrubland. Journal of Insect Conservation 13: 45-55
- Castillo CG, Rubio R, Rouanet JL, Borie F (2006) Early effects of tillage and crop rotation on arburscular mycorrhizal fungal propagules in an ultisol. Plant and Soil 43: 83-92
- Cavagnaro TR, Jackson LE, Six J, Ferris H, Goyal S, Asami D, Scow KM (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizas, microbial communities, nutrient availability, and soil aggregates in organic tomato production. Plant and Soil 282: 209–225
- Cho EJ, Lee DJ, Weea CD, Kim HL, Cheong YH, Cho JS, Sohn BK (2009) Effects of AMF inoculation on growth of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer seedlings and on soil structures in mycorrhizosphere. Scientia Horticulturae 122: 633-637
- Clapp JP, Young JPW, Merryweather JW, Fitter AH (1995) Diversity of fungal symbionts in arbuscular mycorrhizas from a natural community. New Phytologist 130: 259-265
- Clark RB, Zeto SK (2000) Mineral acquisition by arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. Journal of Plant Nutrition 23: 867-902
- Clark RB, Zobel RW, Zeto SK (1999) Effects of mycorrhizal fungus. Isola 9: 167-176
- Cofcewicz ET, Medeiros CAB, Carneiro RMDG, Pierobom CR (2001) Interição dos fungos micorrízicos arbusculares *Glomus etunicatum* e *Gigaspora margarita* e o nematóide das galhas *Meloidogyne javanica* em tomateiro. Fitopatologia Brasileira 26: 65-70
- Collins CD, Foster BL (2009) Community-level consequences of mycorrhizae depend on phosphorus availability. Ecology 90: 2567-2576
- Community Analysis Package (Seaby et al. 2004) Seaby, R.M.H., P.A. Henderson & J.R. Prendergast 2004. Community Analysis Package. Version 3.01. Pisces Conservation Ltd.
- Cornelissen JHC, Aerts R, Cerabolini B, Werger MJA, van der Heijden MGA (2001) Carbon cycling traits of plant species are linked with mycorrhizal strategy. Oecologia 129: 611-619
- Croll D, Wille L, Gamper HA, Mathimaran N, Lammers PJ, Corradi N, Sanders IR. 2008. Genetic diversity and host plant preferences revealed by simple sequence repeat and mitochondrial markers in a population of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*. New Phytologist 178: 672–687

- Daniell TJ, Husband R, Fitter AH, Young JPW (2001) Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonising arable crops. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 36: 203-209
- De la Peña E, Echeverría SR, Van der Putten WH, Freitas H, Moens M (2006) Mechanism of control of root-feeding nematodes by mycorrhizal fungi in the dune grass *Ammophila arenaria*. New Phytologist 169: 829-840.
- Dhillion, SS, Gardsjord TL (2004) Arbuscular mycorrhizas influence plant diversity, productivity, and nutrients in boreal grasslands. Canadian Journal Botany 82: 104-114
- Dias E (1996) Vegetação Natural dos Açores: Ecologia e Sintaxonomia das Florestas Naturais. Ph.D. Thesis, Universidade dos Açores, Angra do Heroísmo
- Díez J, Manjón JL, Martin F (2002) Molecular phylogeny of the mycorrhizal desert truffles (*Terfezia* and *Tirmania*), host specificity and edaphic tolerance. Mycologia 94: 247-259
- Dodd JC, Boddington CL, Rodriguez A, Gonzalez-Chavez C, Mansur I (2000) Mycelium of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) from different genera: form, function and detection. Plant and Soil 226: 131-151
- Douds DD, Galvez L, Bécard G, Kapulnik Y (1998) Regulation of arbuscular mycorrhizal development by plant host and fungus species in alfalfa. New Phytologist 138: 27-35
- Douds DD, Galvez L, Franke-Snyder M, Reider C, Drinkwater LE (1997) Effect of compost addition and crop rotation point upon VAM fungi. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 65: 257-266
- Douds Jr DD, Millner PD (1999) Biodiversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agroecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 74: 77-93
- DROTRH (2008) Carta de ocupação do solo da região Autónoma dos Açoresprojecto SUEMAC. Secretaria Regional do Ambiente. Direcção Regional do Ordenamento do território e dos Recursos Hídricos, Ponta Delgada
- Dunham RM, Ray AM, Inouye RS (2003) Growth, physiology, and chemistry of mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal *Typha latifolia* seedlings. Wetlands 23:890–896
- Eason WR; Scullion J, Scott EP (1999) Soil parameters and plant responses associated with arbuscular mycorrhizas from contrasting grassland management regimes. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 73: 245-255
- Egerton-Warburton LM, Allen EB (2000). Shifts in the diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi along an anthropogenic nitrogen deposition gradient. Ecological Applications 10: 484- 496
- Egerton-Warburton LM, Johnson NC, Allen EB (2007) Mycorrhizal community dynamics following nitrogen fertilization: a cross-site test in five grasslands. Ecological Monographs 77: 527-544

- Elsen A, Gervacio D, Swennen R, De Waele D (2008) AMF-induced biocontrol against plant parasitic nematodes in Musa sp.: a systemic effect. Mycorrhiza 18: 251-256
- Eom A, Hartnett DC, Wilson GWT (2000) Host plant species effects on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in tallgrass prairie. Oecologia 122: 435-444
- Evans D G, Miller M H (1990) The role of the external mycelia network in the effect of soil disturbance upon vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal colonisation of maize. New Phytologist. 114: 65-71
- Ezawa T, Cavagnaro TR, Smith SE, Smithand FA, Ohtomo R (2004) Rapid accumulation of polyphosphate in extraradical hyphae of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus as revealed by histochemistry and a polyphosphate kinase/luciferase system. New Phytologist 161: 387-392
- Ezawa T, Hayatsu M, Saito M (2005) A New Hypothesis on the Strategy for Acquisition of Phosphorus in Arbuscular Mycorrhiza: Up-Regulation of Secreted Acid Phosphatase Gene in the Host Plant. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 18: 1046-1053
- Ezawa T, Smith SE, Smith FA (2001) Differentiation of polyphosphate metabolism between the extra-and intraradical hyphae of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist. 149: 555-563
- Ezawa T, Smith SE, Smith FA (2002) P metabolism and transport in AM fungi. Plant and Soil 244: 221–230
- Farmer MJ, Li X, Feng G, Zhao B, Chatagnier O, Gianinazzi S, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, van Tuinen D (2007) Molecular monitoring of field-inoculated AMF to evaluate persistence in sweet potato crops in China. Applied Soil Ecology 35: 599–609
- Fernandes RP, José J. Melo JJ, Monjardino P (2006) Efeito de densidades de sementeira na produtividade de misturas de cultivares à base de Lolium Multiflorum Pastagens e Forragens 26/27: 109-117
- Ferrol N, Barea JM, Azcon-Aguilar C (2002) Mechanisms of nutrient transport across interfaces in arbuscular mycorrhizas. Plant and Soil 244: 231-237
- Filion M, St-Arnaud M, Fortin JA (1999) Direct interaction between the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* and different rhizosphere microorganisms. New Phytologist 141: 525-533
- Finlay RD (2008) Ecological aspects of mycorrhizal symbiosis: with special emphasis on the functional diversity of interactions involving the extraradical mycelium. Journal of Experimental Botany 59 (5): 1115–1126
- Fitter AH, Garbaye J (1994) Interactions between mycorrhizal fungi and other soil organisms. Plant and Soil 159: 123-132
- Fortin JA, Becard G, Declerck S, Dalpe Y, St-Arnaud M, Coughlan AP, Piche Y (2002) Arbuscular mycorrhiza on root-organ cultures. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique 80:1-20

- Franco, J.A. (1984) Nova Flora de Portugal (Continente e Açores). Vol.II Clethraceae - Compositae. Sociedade Astória, Ltd., Lisbon
- Frank DA, Gehring, CA, Machut L, Phillips M (2003) Soil community composition and the regulation of grazed temperate grassland. Oecologia 137: 603-609
- Franke M, Morton J (1994) Ontogenic Comparisons of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Scutellospora-heterogama and Scutellospora-pellucida - Revision of Taxonomic Character Concepts, Species Descriptions, and Phylogenetic Hypotheses. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique 72: 122-134
- Gabriel (1994) Briófitos de pastagem algumas noções de ecologia. Universidade dos Açores. Angra do Heroísmo
- Gai JP, Christie P, Cai XB, Fan JQ, Zhang JL, Feng G, Li XL (2009) Occurrence and distribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal species in three types of grassland community of the Tibetan Plateau. Ecological Restoration (2009) 24: 1345-1350
- Gai JP, Feng G, Cai XB, Christie P, Li XL (2006) A preliminary survey of the arbuscular mycorrhizal status of grassland plants in southern Tibet. Mycorrhiza 16:191-196
- Gai JP, Liu RJ (2003) Effect of soil factors on AMF in the rhizosphere of wild plants. Chin Journal Applied Ecology 14: 470–472
- Gallaud I (1905) Études sur les mycorrhizes endotrophes. Revue Générale de Botanique 17:5-48, 66-83, 123-136, 123-239, 313-325, 425-433, 479-500
- Galvez,L, Douds DD, Drinkwater LE, Wagoner P (2001) Effect of tillage and farming system upon vam fungus populations and mycorrhizas and nutrient uptake of maize. Plant and Soil 228: 299-308
- Gamper H, Walker C, Schüßler A. (2009) *Diversispora celata* sp. nov.: molecular ecology and phylotaxonomy of an inconspicuous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. New Phytologist 182: 495–506
- Gange AC, Bower E, Brown VC (1999) Positive effects of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus on aphid life history traits. Oecologia 120:123-131
- Gange AC, Brown VK, Farmer LM (1990). A test of mycorrhizal benefit in an early successional plant community. New Phytologist 115: 85-91
- Gange AC, Brown VK, Sinclair GS (1993) Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: a determinant of plant community structure in early succession. Functional Ecology 7: 616-622
- Gange AC, West HM (1994) Interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and foliar-feeding insects in *Plantago lanceolata* L..New Phytologist 128: 79-87
- Garcia JP, Wortmann CS, Mamo M, Drijber R, Tarkalson D (2007) One-Time Tillage of No-Till: Effects on Nutrients, Mycorrhizae, and Phosphorus Uptake. Published online June 26, 2007

- Garcia V, Furtado M (1991) Desenvolvimento agrícola dos ecossistemas insulares açoreanos. 1ªs Jornadas Atlânticas de Protecção do Meio Ambiente Açores, Madeira, Canárias e Cabo Verde (eds E. Dias, J.P. Carretas & P. Cordeiro), pp. 5-8. Secretaria Regional do Turismo e Ambiente, Angra do Heroísmo
- Gaur A, Adholeya A (2005) Diverse response of five ornamental plant species to mixed indigenous and single isolate arbuscular-mycorrhizal inocula in marginal soil amended with organic matter. Journal of Plant Nutrition 28: 707-723
- Gavito ME, Olsson PA, Rouhier H, Medina-Penafiel A, Jakobsen I, Bago A, azcón-Aguilar C (2005). Temperature constraints on the growth and functioning of root organ cultures whith arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 168: 179-188
- Gavito ME, Pérez-Castillo D, González-Monterrubio CF, Vieyra-Hernández T,Martínez-Trujillo M (2008) High compatibility between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities and seedlings of different land use types in a tropical dry ecosystem. Mycorrhiza 19: 47-60
- Gehring CA, Whitham TG (1994) Interactions between aboveground herbivores and the mycorrhizal mutualists of plants. TREE 9: 251-255
- Gemma JN, Koske RE (1997) Arbuscular mycorrhizae in sand dune plants of the north atlantic coast of the us: Field and greenhouse inoculation and presence of mycorrhizae in planting stock. Journal of Environmental Management 50: 251-264
- Genre A, Chabaud M, Timmers T, Bonfante P, Barker DG (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in *Medicago truncatula* root epidermal cells before infection. Plant Cell 17: 3489-3499
- Gerdemann JW (1975) Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza. In: Torrey, JG, Clarkson, D. (Eds.). The development and function of root. pp. 575-591. Academic Press, New York
- Gerdemann JW, Nicolson TH (1963) Spores of mycorrhizal Endogone species extracted from soil by wet sieving and decanting. Mycological Research Transactions of the British Mycological Society 46: 235-244.
- Gerdemann JW, Trappe JM (1974) Endogonaceae in the Pacific Northwest. Mycologia Memoirs 5: 1-76
- Gianinazzi S, Huchette O, Gianinazzi-Pearson V (2008) New outlooks in mycorrhiza applications. In: Baar J, Estaun V, Ortas I, Orfanoudakis M, Alifragis D (eds) Proceedings of the COST870 meeting "Mycorrhiza application in sustainable agriculture and natural systems", 17–19 September 2008, Thessaloniki, Greece. pp 20–22
- Gianinazzi-Pearson V (1996) Plant cell responses to arbuscular mycorhizal fungi: getting to the roots of the symbiosis. Plant Cell 8: 1871-1883
- Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Arnould C, Oufattole M, Arango M, Gianinazzi S (2000) Differential activation of H+-ATPase genes by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus in root cells of transgenic tobacco. Planta 211: 609-613

- Giovannetti M, Gianinazzi-Pearson V (1994) Biodiversity in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Mycological Research 98:705–715
- Giovannetti M, Sbrana C, Logi C (1994) Early processes involved in host recognition by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 127 :703–709.
- Giovannetti M, Sbrana S (1998) Meeting a non-host: the behaviour of AM fungi. Mycorrhiza 8: 123–130
- Gollotte A, van Tuinen D, Atkinson D (2004) Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonising roots of the grass species *Agrostis capillaris* and *Lolium perenne* in a field experiment. Mycorrhiza 14: 111–117
- Gomes A (2010) Performance of Lolium perenne x Trifolium repens and spontaneous grasses x Trifolium repens, In: H. Schnyder, J. Isselstein, F. Taube, J. Schellberg, M. Wachendorf, A. Herrmann, M. Gierus, K. Auerswald, N. Wrage, A. Hopkins (eds). Grassland Science in Europe. pp. 952-954
- Gonzalez-Chavez C, Harris PJ, Dodd J, Meharg AA (2002) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi confer enhanced arsenate resistance on *Holcus lanatus*. New Phytologist 155: 163-171
- Gosling P, Hodge A, Goodlass G, Bending GD (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and organic farming. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 113: 17–35
- Goverde M, van der Heijden MGA, Wiemken A, Sanders IR, Erhardt A (2000) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence life history traits of a lepidopteran herbivore. Oecologia 125: 362-369
- Greipsson S, DiTommaso A (2006) Invasive non-native plants alter the occurrence of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and benefit from this association. Ecological Restoration 24: 236-241
- Grime JP, MacKey JM, Hillier SH, Read DJ (1987) Floristic diversity in a model system using experimental microcosms. Nature 328: 420–422
- Gryndler M, Hrselova H, Cajthaml T, Havrankova M, Rezacova V, Gryndlerova H, Larsen J (2009) Influence of soil organic matter decomposition on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in terms of asymbiotic hyphal growth and root colonization. Mycorrhiza, 19: 255-266
- Gryndler M, Larsen J, Hrselova H, Rezacova V, Gryndlerova H, Kubat J (2006) Organic and mineral fertilization, respectively, increase and decrease the development of external mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a longterm field experiment. Mycorrhiza 16:159–166
- Guillemin JP, Gianinazzi S, Trouvelot A (1992) Screening of arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi for establishment of micropropagated pineapple plants. Agronomie 12: 831-836
- Galván GA, Parádi I, Burger K, Baar J, Kuyper TW, Scholten OE, Chris Kik C (2009) Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in onion roots from organic and conventional farming systems in the Netherlands Mycorrhiza 19: 317-328

- Guissou T (2009) Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to growth and nutrient uptake by jujube and tamarind seedlings in a phosphate (P)-deficient soil. African Journal of Microbiology Research 3: 297-304
- Hart MM, Reader RJ (2002) Host plant benefit from association with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: variation due to differences in size of mycelium. Biology Fertility of Soils 36: 357-366
- Hart MM, Reader RJ, Klironomos JN (2001) Lifehistory strategies of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in relation to their successional dynamics. Mycologia 93: 1186-1194
- Hart MM, Reader RJ, Klironomos JN (2003) Plant coexistence mediated by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 18:
- Hartnett DC, Wilson GWT (1999). Mycorrhizal influence plant community structure and diversity in tallgrass prairie. Ecology 80: 1187-1195
- Hartnett DC, Wilson GWT (2002) The role of mycorrhizas in plant community structure and dynamics: Lessons from grasslands. Plant and Soil 244 (12): 319-331
- Hartnett DC, Wilson WT (1999) Mycorrhizae influence plant community structure and diversity in tall grass prairie. Ecology 80: 1187-1195
- Heinemeyer A, Fitter AH (2004) Impact of temperature on the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis: growth responses of the host plant and its AM fungal partner. Journal of Experimental Botany 396: 525-534
- Helgason T, Daniell TJ, Husband R, Fitter AH, Young JPW (1998) Ploughing up the wood-wide web? Nature 394-431
- Helgason T, Watson IJ, Young JPW (2003) Phylogeny of the Glomerales and diversisporales (Fungi: Glomeromycota) from actin and elongation factor 1alpha sequences. FEMS Microbiology Letters 229: 127-132
- Hempel S, Renker C, Buscot F (2007) Differences in the species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in spore, root and soil communities in a grassland ecosystem. Environmental Microbiology 9: 1930-1938
- Hempel S, Stein C, Unsicker SB, Renker C, Auge H, Weisser WW, Buscot F (2009) Specific bottom-up effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi across a plantherbivore-parasitoid system. Oecologia 160: 267-277
- Hetrick BAD, Wilson GWT, AND Todd TC 1992 (1992) Relationships of mycorrhizal symbiosis, rooting strategy, and phenology among tallgrass prairie forbs. Canadian Journal of Botany 70: 1521-1528
- Hijri I, Sykorova Z, Oehl F, Ineichen K, Mader P, Wiemken A, Redecker D (2006) Communities of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in arable soils are not necessarily low in diversity. Molecular Ecology 15: 2277-2289
- Hijri M, Sanders IR (2005) Low gene copy number shows that arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inherit genetically different nuclei. Nature 433: 160-163

- Hol WHG, Cook R (2005) An overview of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi–nematode interactions. Basic and Applied Ecology 6: 489-503
- Horta Lopes DJ (1999) Tomada de decisão no combate ao escaravelho japonês Popillia japónica Newman (Coleoptera Scarabidae). PhD. Thesis, Universidade dos Açores. Angra do Heroísmo
- Husband R, Herre EA, Turner SL, Gallery R, Young JPW (2002) Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and patterns of host association over time and space in a tropical forest. Molecular Ecology 11: 2669-2678
- Idoia G, Nieves G, Jone A (2004) Plant phenology influences the effect of mycorrhizal fungi on the development of *Verticillium*-induced wilt in pepper. European Journal of Plant Pathology 110: 227-238
- Jaizme-Vega MC, Azcon R (1995) Response of some tropical and subtropical cultures to endomycorrhizal fungi. Mycorrhiza 5: 213-217
- Jaizme-Vega MC & Pinochet J (1997) Growth response of banana to three mycorrhizal fungi in *Pratylenchus goodeyi* infested soil. Nematropica 27: 69-76
- Jaizme-Vega MC, Rodriguez-Romero AS, Núñez LAB (2005) Effect of combined inoculation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) infected with the root-knot nematode *Melodogyne incognita*. Fruits 61:151-162
- Jaizme-Vega MC, Sosa-Hernández B, Hernández-Hernández J (1998) Interaction of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and the soil pathogen <u>Fusarium oxysporum</u> f.sp. *cubense* (FOC) on the first stages of micropropagated Grande Naine banana. Acta Horticulturae 490, ISHS: 285-295
- Jaizme-Vega MC, Tenoury P, Pinochet J, Jaumot M (1997) Interactions between the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Glomus mosseae* in banana. Plant and Soil 196: 27-35
- Jackson RB, MM Caldwell (1996) Integrating resource heterogeneity and plant plasticity: modeling nitrate and phosphate uptake in a patchy soil environment. Journal of Ecology 84: 891-903
- Jakobsen I, Smith SE, Smith FA (2002) Function and diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizae in carbon and mineral nutrition. In: van der Heijden MGA, Sanders IR, eds. pp 75-92. Mycorrhizal ecology. Heidelberg, Germany: Springer Verlag
- Janos DP (2007). Plant responsiveness to mycorrhizas differs from dependence upon mycorrhizas. Mycorrhiza 17:75-91
- Jansa J, Mozafar A, Anken T, Ruh R, Sanders IR, Frossard E (2002) Diversity and structure of AMF communities as affected by tillage in a temperate soil. Mycorrhiza 12: 225-234
- Jansa J, Mozafar A, Anken T, Ruh R, Sanders IR, Frossard E (2003) Soil Tillage Affects The Community Structure Of Mycorrhizal Fungi In Maize Roots. Ecological Applications 13:1164-1176

- Jansa J, Smith AF, Smith SE (2008) Are there benefits of simultaneous root colonization by different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi? New Phytologist 177: 779-789
- Jefwa JM, Sinclair R, Maghembe JA (2006) Diversity of glomale mycorrhizal fungi in maize/sesbania intercrops and maize monocrop systems in southern Malawi. Agroforestry Systems. 67: 107-114
- Johnson D, Vandenkoornhuyse PJ, Leake JR, Gilbert L, Booth RE, Grime JP, Young JPW, Read DJ (2004) Plant communities affect arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity and community composition in grassland microcosms. New Phytologist 161: 503-515
- Johnson NC (1993) Can fertilization of soil select less mutualistic mycorrhizae? Ecological Applications 3: 749-757
- Johnson NC, Rowland DL, Corkidi L, Egerton-Warburton LM, Allen EB (2003) Nitrogen enrichment alters mycorrhizal allocation at five mesic to semiarid grasslands. Ecology 84: 1895-1908
- Johnson NC, Zak DR, Tilman D, Pfleger FL (1991) Dynamics of vesiculararbuscular
- Jones SJ, Riddle DL, Pouzyrev AT, Velculescu VE, Hillier L, Eddy SR, Stricklin SL, Baillie DL, Waterston R, Marra MA (2001) Changes in gene expression associated with developmental arrest and longevity in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Genome Res. 11: 1346-1352
- Kachi N, Rorison IH (1990) Effects of nutrient depletion on growth of *Holcus lanatus* L. and *Festuca ovina* L. and on the hability of their roots to absorb nitrogen at warm and cool temperatures. New Phytologist 115: 531-537
- Kahiluoto H, Ketoja E, Vestberg M, Saarela I (2001) Promotion of AM utilization through reduced P fertilization 2. Field studies Plant and Soil 231: 65-79.
- Karanika ED, Voulgari OK, Mamolos AP, Alifragis DA, Veresoglou DS (2008) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in northern Greece and influence of soil resources on their colonization. Pedobiologia 5: 409-418
- Khanam D, Mridha MAU, Solaiman ARM, Hossain T (2006) Effect of edaphic factors on root colonization and spore population of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Bulletin of Institute of Agriculture 29: 97-104
- Kim KY, Sohn BK, Chung SJ, Kim WS, Park SM, Kang JG, Rim YS, Cho JS, Kim TH, Lee JH (2003) Effect of the different timing of AMF inoculation on plant growth and flower quality of chrysanthemum. Scientia Horticulturae 98: 173-183
- Kirk JL, Beaudettea LA, Hart M, Moutoglis P, Klironomos JN, Lee H, Trevors JT (2004) Methods of studying soil microbial diversity. Journal of Microbiological Methods 58: 169-188
- Kjøller R, Rosendahl S (2000) Detection of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomales) in roots by nested PCR and SSCP (single stranded conformation polymorphism). Plant and Soil 226: 189-196

- Klironomos JN (2003) Variation in plant response to native and exotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Ecology 89: 2292-2301
- Klironomos JN, McCune J, Hart M, Neville J (2000) The influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on the relationship between plant diversity and productivity. Ecology Letters 3:137-141
- Koch AM, Kuhn G, Fontanillas P, Fumagalli L, Goudet J, Sanders IR (2004). High genetic variability and low local diversity in a population of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101(8), 2369-2374
- Koide RT, Schreiner RP (1992) Regulation of the vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Molecular Biology 43: 557-581
- Kosuta S, Chabaud M, Lougnon G, Gough C, Dénarié J, Barker DG, Bécard G (2003) A diffusible factor from arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi induces symbiosisspecific *MtENOD11* expression in roots of *Medicago truncatula*. Plant Physiology 131: 952-962
- Kowalchuk GA, De Souza FA, van Veen JA (2002) Community analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with *Ammophila arenari*. Dutch coastal sand dunes. Molecular Ecology 11: 571–581.
- Krüger M, Stockinger H, Krüger C, Schüßler A (2009) DNA-based species level detection of Glomeromycota: one PCR primer set for all arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 183: 212-223
- Kueffer C, Daehler CC, Torres-Santana CW, Lavergne C, Meyer J, R Otto, Silva L (2010) A global comparison of plant invasions on oceanic islands. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematic 12 (2): 145-161
- Lanfranco L, Bianciotto V, Lumini E, Souza M, Morton JB, Bonfante PA (2001) combined morphological and molecular approach to characterize isolates of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in Gigaspora (Glomales). New Phytologist 152: 169-179
- Lee J, Lee S, Young JPW (2008) Improved primers for the detection and identification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 65: 339-349
- Li H, Smith SE, Holloway RE, Zhu Y, Smith FA (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi contribute to phosphorus uptake by wheat grown in a phosphorus-fixing sol even in the absence of positive growth reponses. New Phytologist 172: 536-543
- Li LF, Zhang Y, Zhao ZW (2007) Arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization and spore density across different land-use types in a hot and arid ecosystem, Southwest China. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil 170: 419-425
- Likar M, Regvar M, Mandic-Mulec I, Stres B Bothe H (2009) Diversity and seasonal variations of mycorrhiza and rhizosphere bacteria in three common plant species at the Slovenian Ljubljana Marsh. Biology and Fertility of Soils 45: 573-583

- Linderman, RG, Davis EA (2004) Varied response of marigold (*Tagetes* spp.) genotypes to inoculation with different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Scientia Horticulturae, 99: 67-78
- Lugo MA, Cabello MN (2002) Native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) from mountain grassland (Córdoba, Argentina) I. Seasonal variation of fungal spore diversity. Mycologia 94: 579-586
- Lugo MA, Ferrero M, Menoyo E, Estévez C, Siñeriz F, Anton A (2008) Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Rhizospheric Bacteria Diversity Along an Altitudinal Gradient in South American Puna Grassland. Microbial Ecology 55: 705–713
- Lugo MA, Maza MEG, Cabello MN (2003) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a mountain grassland II: Seasonal variation of colonization studied, along its relation to grazing and metabolic host type. Mycologia 95: 407-415
- Ma WK, Siciliano SD, Germida JJ (2005) A PCR-DGGE method for detecting arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in cultivated soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37: 1589–1597
- Mangan SA, Eom AH, Adler GH, Yavitt JB, Herre EA (2004) Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi across a fragmented forest in Panama: insular spore communities differ from mainland communities. Oecologia 141:687-700
- Marler MJ, Zabinskica CA, Callaway RM (1999) Mycorrhizae indirectly enhance competitive effects of an invasive forb of a native bunchgrass. Ecology 80: 1180-1186
- Martins A.M.F. (1993) The Azores Westernmost Europe: Where evolution can be caught red-handed. Boletim do Museu Municipal do Funchal (2) 181-198
- Masters GJ, Brown VK (1997) Host-plant interactions between spatially separated herbivores: effects on community structure. In Gange AC, Brown VK, eds. Multitrophic interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. The 36th Symposium of the British Ecological Society. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Science, 117-138
- Mathimaran M, Ruh R, Vullioud P, Frossard E, Jansa J (2005) Glomus intraradices dominates arbuscular mycorrhizal communities in a heavy textured agricultural soil. Mycorrhiza 16: 61–66
- Mcgonigle TP, Millers MH, Evans DG, Fairchild GL, Swan JA (1990) A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 115: 495-498
- Miller RM, Kling M (2000) The importance of integration and scale in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Plant and Soil 226: 295-309
- Miller RM, Reinhardt DR, Jastrow JD (1995) External hyphal production of vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in pasture and tallgrass prairie communities. Oecologia 103, 17-23

MINITAB v13 (2000) MINITAB 2000. Statistical software. Version 13. Minitab Inc.

- Mohammad MJ, Malkawi HI, Shibli R (2003) Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and phosphorus fertilization on growth and nutrient uptake of barley grown on soils with different levels of salts. Journal of Plant Nutrition and soil 26:125-137
- Morton JB (1995) Taxonomic and phylogenetic divergence among five Scutellospora species based on comparative developmental sequences. Mycologia 87:127–137
- Morton JB, Benny GL (1990) Revised classification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Zygomycetes) - A new order, Glomales, 2 new suborders, Glomineae and Gigasporineae, and 2 new families, Acaulosporaceae and Gigasporaceae, with an emendation of Glomaceae. Mycotaxon 37:471-491
- Morton JB, Bentivenga SP, Bever J (1995) Discovery, measurement, and interpretation of diversity in mycorrhizal endomycorrhizal fungi (Glomales, Zygomycetes). Canadian Journal Botany 73: 25-32
- Morton JB, Msiska Z (in press) Phylogenies from genetic and morphological characters do not support a revision of Gigasporaceae (Glomeromycota) into four families and five genera. Mycorrhiza: doi 10.1007/s00572-010-0303-9
- Morton JB, Redecker D (2001) Two new families of Glomales, Archaeosporaceae and Paraglomaceae, with two new genera *Archaeospora* and *Paraglomus*, based on concordant molecular and morphological characters. Mycologia 93: 181-195
- Mukhopadhyay S, Maiti SK (2009) Biofertiliser: Vam Fungi A future prospect for biological reclamation of mne degraded lands. Indian Journal Environmental Protection 29: 801-809
- Muyzer G, Smalla K (1998) Application of denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) in microbial ecology. Antonie Leeuwenhoek 73: 127-141
- Nielsen KB, Kjøller R, Olsson PA, Schweiger PF, Andersen FØ, Rosendahl S (2004) Colonisation and molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the aquatic plants Littorella uniflora and Lobelia dortmanna in southern Sweden. Mycological Research 108 (6): 616-625
- O'Connor PJ, Smith SE, Smith EA (2002) Arbuscular mycorrhizas influence plant diversity and community structure in a semiarid herbland. New Phytologist 154: 209-218
- Odum EP (2001). Fundamentos de Ecologia. Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian. 6ª Edição. Lisboa
- Oehl F, de Souza FA, Sieverding E (2008) Revision of *Scutellospora* and description of five new genera and three new families in the arbuscular mycorrhiza-forming Glomeromycetes. Mycotaxon 106: 311-360
- Oehl F, Laczko E, Bogenrieder A, Stahr K, Bösch R, van der Heijden MGA, Sieverding E (2010) Soil type and land use intensity determine the composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42: 724-738

- Oehl F, Sieverding E (2004) *Pacispora*, a new vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal genus in the Glomeromycetes. Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality 78: 72-82
- Oehl F, Sieverding E, Ineichen K, Mäder P, Boller T, Wiemken A (2003) Impact of Land Use Intensity on the Species Diversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Agroecosystems of Central Europe. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 2816-2824
- Oehl F, Sieverding E, Ineichen K, Ris EA, Boller T, Wiemken A (2005) Community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at different soil depths in extensively and intensively managed agroecosystems. New Phytologist 165:273-283
- Oehl F, Sieverding E, Mäder P, Dubois D, Ineichen K, Boller T, Wiemken A (2004) Impact of long-term conventional and organic farming on the diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Oecologia 138: 574-583
- Ohtomo R, Saito M (2005) Polyphosphate dynamics in mycorrhizal roots during colonization of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. New Phytologist 16 : 571-578.
- Oliveira AN; Oliveira LAS (2005) Seasonal Dynamics of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Plants of *Theobroma Grandiflorum* Schum and *Paullinia Cupana* Mart. of an Agroforestry System in Central Amazonia, Amazonas State, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology 36: 262-270
- Oliveira JNB (1989) A pastagem permanente da ilha de S. Miguel (Açores): Estudo fitossociológico e primeira abordagem do ponto de vista agronómico. Tese de doutoramento. Universidade dos Açores. Departamento de Biologia. Ponta Delgada
- Olsen S R, Sommers LE (1982). Phosphorus. In: Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2: Chemical and Microbiological Properties. Page AL, Miller RH, Keeney DR (Eds). pp. 403-427. American Society of Agronomy, Madison
- Öpik M, Moora M, Liira J, Zobel M (2006) Composition of root-colonizing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in different ecosystems around the globe. Journal of Ecology 94: 778-790
- Osman HA, Korayem AM, Ameen HH, Badr-Eldin SMS (1991) Interaction of root-knot nematode and mycorrhizal fungi on common bean *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. In Anz. Schädlingskde, Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz. pp 129-131. Verlag Paul Parey, Berlin und Hamburg
- Pawlowska TE, Taylor JW (2004) Organization of genetic variation in individuals of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Nature 427: 733-737
- Pawlowska TE, Taylor JW (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi-hyphal fusion and multigenomic structure. Reply. Nature 433: E4–E5
- Peng S, Eissenstat DM, Graham JH, Williams K, Hodge NC (1993) Growth depression in mycorrhizal citrus at high-phosphorus supply. Plant Physiolology 101: 1063-1071

- Peterson RL, Massicotte HB, Melville LH (2004) Mycorrhizas: Anatomy and Cell Biology. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Canada
- Pfeffer PE, Bago B, Shachar-Hill Y (2001) Exploring mycorrhizal function with NMR spectroscopy. New Phytologist 150: 543-553
- Pfeffer PE, Douds DD, Bécard G, Shachar-Hill Y (1999) Carbon uptake and the metabolism and transport of lipids in an arbuscular mycorrhiza. Plant Physiology 120: 587-598
- Pinheiro JF (1990) Estudo dos principais solos da Ilha Terceira (Açores). Ph.D. Thesis, Universidade dos Açores, Angra do Heroísmo
- Pinheiro JF, Madruga JS, Sampaio JF (1987) Carta de capacidade de uso dos solos da Ilha Terceira, Açores. Universidade dos Açores, Angra do Heroísmo
- Pinochet J, Calvet C, Camprubí A, Fernández C (1996) Interactions between migratory endoparasitic nematodes and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in perennial crops: A review. Plant and Soil 185: 183-190
- Piotrowski JS, Denich T, Klironomos JN, Graham JM, Rilling MC (2004) The effects of arbuscular mycorrhizas on soil aggregation depend on the interaction between plant ad fungal species. New Phytologist 164: 365-373
- Piskiewicz AM, Duyts H, van der Putten WH (2008) Multiple species-specific controls of root-feeding nematodes in natural soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40:2729-2735
- Porras-Alfaro A, Herrera J, Natvig DO, Sinsabaugh RL (2007) Effect of long-term nitrogen fertilization on mycorrhizal fungi associated with a dominant grass in a semiarid grassland . Plant Soil 296: 65-75
- PRA (2001) Direcção Regional do Ordenamento do Território e dos Recursos Hídricos/ Secretaria Regional do Ambiente. Plano Regional da Água. Versão para consulta pública
- PROTA (2000) Direcção Regional do Ordenamento do Território e dos Recursos Hídricos/ Secretaria Regional do Ambiente (2000). Plano Regional do Ordenamento do Território dos Açores. Versão para consulta pública
- Purina S, Filho OK, Stürmer SL (2006) Mycorrhizae activity and diversity in conventional and organic apple orchards from Brazil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 1831-1839
- Redecker D (2000) Specific PCR primers to identify arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within colonized roots. Mycorrhiza 10: 73-80
- Redecker D, Hijri I, Wiemken A (2003) Molecular identification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in roots: perspectives and problems. Folia Geobotanica 38, 113-124
- Redecker D, Kodner R, Graham LE (2000) Glomalean fungi from the Ordovician. Science 289:1920-1921

- Redecker D, Raab P (2006) Phylogeny of the Glomeromycota (arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi): recent developments and new gene markers. Mycologia 98: 885-895
- Redecker D, Raab P, Oehl F, Camacho FJ, Courtecuisse R (2007) A novel clade of sporocarp-forming species of glomeromycotan fungi in the Diversisporales lineage. Mycolological Progress 6: 35-44
- Reeves FB, Wagner D, Moorman T, Kiel J (1979) Role of endomycorrhizae in revegetation practices in the semiarid west .1. Comparison of incidence of mycorrhizae in severely disturbed vs natural environments. American Journal of Botany 66: 613-620
- Regvar M, Vogel-Mikus K, Severkar T (2003) Effect of AMF inoculum from field isolates on the yield of green pepper, parsley, carrot, and tomato. Folia Geobotanica 38: 223-234
- Remy W, Taylor TN, Hass H, Kerp H (1994) Four hundred-million year-old vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91: 11841-11843
- Renker C, Blanke V, Börstler B, Heinrichs J, Buscot F (2004) Diversity of *Cryptococcus* and *Dioszegia* yeasts (Basidiomycota) inhabiting arbuscular mycorrhizal roots or spores. FEMS Yeast Research 4: 597-603
- Renker C, Heinrichs J, Kaldorf M, Buscot F (2003) Combining nested PCR and restriction digest of the internal transcribed spacer region to characterize arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on roots from the field. Mycorrhiza 13:191–198
- Requena N, Breuninger M, Franken P, Ocón A (2003) Symbiotic Status, Phosphate, and Sucrose Regulate the Expression of Two Plasma Membrane H_-ATPase Genes from the Mycorrhizal Fungus *Glomus mosseae*. Plant Physiology 132: 1540–1549
- Requena N, Perez-Solis E, Azcón-Aguilar C, Jeffries P, Barea JM (2001) Management of Indigenous Plant-Microbe Symbioses Aids Restoration of Desertified Ecosystems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67: 495-498
- Rillig MC, Ramsey PW, Morris S, Paul EA. Glomalin, an arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungal soil protein, respond to land-use change. Plant and Soil 253: 293-299
- Robinson-Boyer L, Grzyb I, Jeffries P (2009) Shifting the balance from qualitative to quantitative analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal communities in field soils. Fungal Ecology 2: 1-9
- Rodriguez A, Clapp JP, Robinson L, Dodd JC (2005) Studies on the diversity of the distinct phylogenetic lineage encompassing *Glomus claroideum* and *Glomus etunicatum*. Mycorrhiza 15:33-46
- Rodriguez-Echeverria S, Freitas H (2006) Diversity of AMF associated to *Ammophila arenaria* ssp. *arundinacea* in Portuguese sand dunes. Mycorrhiza. 16, 543-552
- Rodriguez-Echeverria S, de la Peña E, Moens M, Feitas H, van der Putter WH (2009) Can root-feeders alter the composition of AMF communities?

Experimental evidence from dune grass *Ammophila arenaria*. Basic and Applied Ecology 10: 131-140

- Rodriguez-Echeverria S, Hol WHG, Freitas H, Eason WR, Cook R (2007) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi of Ammophila arenaria (L.) Link: Spore abundance and root colonisation in six locations of the European coast. European Journal of Soil Biology 44 (1): 30-36
- Rodriguez-Romero AS, Guerra MSP, Jaizme-Vega MC (2005) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and rhizobacteria on banana growth and nutrition. Agron.Sustain.Dev. 25: 395-399
- Rodwell JS (Editor) 1992 British Plant Communities. Volume 3. Grasslands and montane communities. Cambridge University Press
- Ronsheim ML, Anderson SE (2001) Population-level specificity in the plantmycorrhizae association alters intraspecific interactions among neighboring plants. Oecologia 128: 77-84
- Rosa JS, Amaral JJ, Reis J, Aguear P, Martins A, Simões NS (1996) Pesquisa de agentes entomopatogenicos na ilha Terceira (Açores). Relatorio Departamento Biologia 23: 20-26
- Rosendahl S, Matzen HB (2008) Genetic structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal populations in fallow and cultivated soils. New Phytologist 179: 1154-1161
- Rosendahl S, Stukenbrock EH (2004) Community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in undisturbed vegetation revealed by analyses of LSU rDNA sequences. Molecular Ecology 13: 3179–3186
- Ross DJ, Tate KR, Newton PCD, Clark H (2003) Carbon mineralization in an organic soil, with and without added grass litter, from a high-CO2 environment at a carbon dioxide spring. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 35: 1705–1709
- Ryan MH, Angus JF (2003) Arbuscular mycorrhizae in wheat and field pea crops on a low P soil: increased Zn-uptake but no increase in P-uptake or yield. Plant and Soil 250: 225-239
- Saif SR (1987) Growth responses of tropical forage plant species to vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizae. I. Growth, mineral uptake and mycorrhizal dependency Plant and Soil 97: 25-35
- Sanders FE (1975) The effect of foliar-applied phosphate on the mycorrhizal infections of onion roots. In: Endomycorrhizas. Sanders, B Mosse, PB Tinker (Eds). pp. 261-276. Academic Press, London
- Sanders IR (2002) Ecology and evolution of multigenomic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. American Naturalist 160: S128-S141
- Sanders IR, Alt M, Groppe K, Boiler T, Wiemken A. (1995). Identification of ribosomal DNA polymorphisms among and within spores of the Glomales: application to studies on the genetic diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities. New Phytologist 130: 419-427

- Sanders IR, Ravolanirina F, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Gianinazzi S, Lemoine MC (1992) Detection of specific antigens in the vesicular—arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi *Gigaspora margarita* and *Acaulospora laevis* using polyclonal antibodies to soluble spore fractions. Mycological Research 96: 477-480
- Santos JC, Finlay RD, Tehler A (2006) Molecular analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonizing a semi-natural grassland along a fertilisation gradient. New Phytologist 172:159-168
- Santos-González JC, Finlay RD, Tehler A (2007) Seasonal dynamics of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in roots in a seminatural grassland. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73: 5613-5623
- Sawaki H, Saito M (2001) Expressed genes in the extraradical hyphae of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus, *Glomus intraradices*, in the symbiotic phase. FEMS Microbiology Letters 195:109-113
- Schalamuk S, Velazquez S, Chidichimo H, Cabello M (2006) Fungal spore diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with spring wheat: effects of tillage. Mycologia 98: 16-22
- Schardl CL, Craven KD (2003) Interspecific hybridization in plant-associated fungi and oomycetes: a review. Molecular Ecology 12: 2861-2873
- Schenck NC, Smith GS (1982) Additional new and unreported species of Mycorrhizal fungi (Endogonaceae) from Florida. Mycologia 77: 566-574
- Schülβler A, Schwarzott D, Walker C (2001) A new fungal phylum, The *Glomeromycota*: phylogeny and evolution. Mycological Research 105: 1413-1421
- Schüβler A, Mollenhauer D, Schnepf E, Kluge M (1994) *Geosiphon pyriforme*, an endosymbiotic association of fungus and cyanobacteria: the spore structure resembles that of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi. Botanica Acta 107: 36-45
- Schwarzott D, Walker C, Schüßler A (2001) *Glomus*, the largest genus of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomales), is nonmonophyletic. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 21: 190-197
- Scullion J, Eason, WR, Scott, EP (1998). The effectivity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from high input conventional and organic grassland and grass–arable rotations. Plant Soil 204: 243-254
- Shi ZY, Zhang LY, Li XL, Feng G, Tian CY, Christie P (2007) Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with desert ephemerals in plant communities of Junggar Basin, northwest China. Applied Soil Ecology 35: 10-20
- Shreenivasa KR, Krishnappa K, Ravichandra NG (2007) Interaction Effects of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus *Glomus fasciculatum* and Root –Knot Nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* on Growth and Phosphorous Uptake of Tomato. Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 20(1): 57-61
- Sieverding E (1989) Ecology of VAM fungi in tropical agrosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 29: 369-390

- Sieverding E, Oehl F (2006) Revision of *Entrophospora* and description of *Kuklospora* and *Intraspora*, two new genera in the arbuscular mycorrhizal Glomeromycetes. Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality 80: 69-81
- Silva L, Pinto N, Press B, Rumsay F, Carine M, Henderson S, Sjögren E (2005) List of vascular plants (Pteridophyta and Spermatophyta) In A list of the terrestrial fauna (Mollusca and Arthropoda) and flora (Bryophyta, Pteridophyta and Spermatophyta) from the Azores (eds P.A.V. Borges, R. Cunha, R. Gabriel, A.M.F. Martins, L. Silva, & V. Vieira). pp 131-155. Direcção Regional de Ambiente e do Mar dos Açores and Universidade dos Açores, Horta, Angra do Heroísmo and Ponta Delgada
- Silva L, Smith CW (2006) A quantitative approach to the study of non-indigenous plants: an example from the Azores Archipelago. Biodiversity and Conservation 15:1661-1679
- Simon L, Lalonde M, Bruns TD (1992) Specific amplification of 18S fungal ribosomal genes from vesicular-arbuscular endomycorrhizal fungi colonizing roots. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58: 291-295
- Sipes BS, Schmitt DP (1994) Evaluation of pineapple, Ananas comosus, for hostplant resistance and tolerance to Rotylenchulus reniformis and Meloidogyne javanica. Nematropica 24: 112-121
- Sjoberg J, Persson P, Martensson A, Mattsson L, Adholeya A, Alstrom S (2004) Occurrence of Glomeromycota spores and some arbuscular mycorrhiza fungal species in arable fields in Sweden. Acta Agric Scand B Soil Plant Sci 54:202– 212
- Smith FA, Grace EJ, Smith SE (2009) More than a carbon economy: nutrient trade and ecological sustainability in facultative arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. New Phytologist 182: 347-358
- Smith MD, Hartnett DC, Wilson GWT (1999) Interacting influence of mycorrhizal symbiosis and competition on plant diversity in tallgrass prairie. Oecologia 121: 574-582
- Smith SE, Read DJ (1997) Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Academic Press, London
- Smith SE, Smith FA (1990) Structure and function of the interfaces in biotrophic symbioses as they relate to nutrient transport. New Phytologist 114: 1–38
- Smith SE, Smith FA, Jakobsen I (2003) Mycorrhizal fungi can dominate phosphate supply to plants irrespective of growth responses. Plant Physiology 133: 16-20
- Sohn BK, Kim KY, Sohn BK, Chung SJ, Kim WS, Park SM, Kang JG, Rim YS, Cho JS, Kim TH, Lee JH (2003) Effect of the different timing of AMF inoculation on plant growth and flower quality of chrysanthemum. Scientia Horticulturae 98: 173-183
- Stanton NL (1988) The underground in grasslands. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 19: 573-589

- Stürmer SL, Morton JB (1997) Developmental patterns defining morphological characters in spores of four species in Glomus. Mycologia 89:72–81
- Stürmer SL, Morton JB (1999) Taxonomic reinterpretation of morphological characters in Acaulosporaceae based on developmental patterns. Mycologia 91:849–857
- Sykorová Z, Rydlová J, Vosátka M (2003) Establishment of mycorrhizal symbiosis in *Gentiana verna*. Folia Geobotanica 38: 177-189
- Titus JH, Leps J (2000) The response of arbuscular mycorrhizae to fertilization, mowing and removal of dominant species in a diverse oligotrophic wet meadow. American Journal of Botany 87: 392-401
- Tommerup IC, Sivasithamparam K (1990) Zygospores and Asexual Spores of Gigaspora decipiens, an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus. Mycological Research 94: 897-900
- Torsvik V, Øvreås L (2002) Microbial diversity and function in soil: from genes to ecosystems. Current Opinion in Microbiology 5:240–245
- Turkmen O, Sensoy S, Demir S, Erdinc C. (2008) Effects of two different AMF species on growth and nutrient content of pepper seedlings grown under moderate salt stress. African Journal of Biotechnology 74: 392-396
- van der Heijden MGA, Klironomos JN, Ursic M, Montoglis P, Streitwolf-Engel R, Boller T, Wiemken A, Sanders IR (1998) Mycorrhizal fungal diversity determines plant biodiversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. Nature 396: 69-72
- van der Putten, Cook WHR, Costa S, Davies KG, Fargette M, Freitas H, Hol WHG, Kerry BR, Maher N, Mateille T, Moens M, de la Pena E, Piskiewicz AM, Raeymaekers ADW, Rodriguez-Echeverria S, van der Wurff AWG (2006) Nematode interactions in nature: Models for sustainable control of nematode pests of crop plants? Advances in Agronomy 89: 227-260
- van Tuinen D, Jacquot E, Zhao B, Gollotte A, Gianinazzi-Pearson V (1998) Characterization of root colonization profiles by a microcosm community of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi using 25S rDNA-targeted nested PCR. Molecular Ecology 7: 879-887
- Vanderkoornhuyse P, Leyval C, Bonnin I (2001) High genetic diversity in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: evidence for recombination events. Heredity 87: 243-253
- Vierheilig H, Steinkellner S, Khaosaad T, Garcia-Garrido JM (2008) The Biocontrol Effect of Mycorrhization on Soilborne Fungal Pathogens and the Autoregulation of the AM Symbiosis: One Mechanism, Two Effects? In Mycorrhiza, A. Varma ed. pp- 307-320. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg
- Violi HA, Barrientos-Priego AF, Wright SF, Escamilla-Prado E, Morton JB, Menge JA, Lovatt CJ (2008) Disturbance changes arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal phenology and soil glomalin concentrations but not fungal spore composition in montane rainforests in Veracruz and Chiapas, Mexico. Forest Ecology and Management 254: 276-290

- Vogelsang KM, Reynolds HL, Bever JD (2006) Mycorrhizal fungal identity and richness determine the diversity and productivity of a tallgrass prairie system. New Phytologist 172:554-562
- Vouglas N, Simões NJO, Sasanelli N, dos Santos MCV, Abrantes IM deO (2004) Host-parasite relationships in tobacco plants infected with a root-knot (Meloidogyne incognita) population from Azores. Phytoparasitic 32: 167-173
- Walker C (1983) Taxonomic concepts in the Endogonaceae: spore wall concepts in species descriptions. Mycotaxon 18: 443-455
- Walker C (1992) Systematics and taxonomy of the arbuscular endomycorrhizal fungi (Glomales) a possible way forward. Agronomie 12: 887–897
- Walker C, Sanders FE (1986) Taxonomic concepts in the Endogonaceae: III. The separation of *Scutellospora* gen. nov. from *Gigaspora* Gerd. & Trappe. Mycotaxon 27: 169-182
- Walker C, Schüβler A (2004) Nomenclatural clarifications and new taxa in the Glomeromycota. Mycological Research 108: 981-982
- Walker C, Vestberg M, Demircik F, Stockinger H, Saito M, Sawaki H, Nishmura I, Schüβler A (2007) Molecular phylogeny and new taxa in the Archaeosporales (Glomeromycota): *Ambispora fennica* gen. sp. nov., Ambisporaceae fam. nov., and emendation of *Archaeospora* and Archaeosporaceae. Mycological Research 111: 137-153
- Wang YY, Vestberg M, Walker C, Hurme T, Zhang X, Lindström K (2008) Diversity and infectivity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agricultural soils of the Sichuan Province of mainland China. Mycorrhiza 18:59–68
- Wearn JA, Gange AC (2007) Above-ground herbivory causes rapid and sustained changes in mycorrhizal colonization of grasses. Oecologia 153: 959-971
- Wehner J, Antunes PM, Powell JR, MazukatowJ, Rillig MC (2010). Plant pathogen protection by arbuscular mycorrhizas: A role for fungal diversity? Pedobiologia 53: 197-201
- Whipps J (2001) Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. Journal of Experimental Botany, Roots Special Issue 52: 487-511
- White TJ, Bruns T, Lee S, Taylor J (1990) Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: MA Innis, DH Gelfand, JJ Sninsky, TJ White, eds. pp. 315-322. PCR protocols, a guide to methods and applications. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA
- Wilkinson DM (2001) Mycorrhizal evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 16: 64-65
- Wilson GWT, Hartnett DC (1997) Effects of mycorrhizae on plant growth and dynamics in experimental tallgrass prairie microcosms. American Journal of Botany 84: 478-482

- Wilson GWT, Hartnett DC (1997) Effects of mycorrhizae on plant growth and dynamics in experimental tallgrass prairie microcosms. American Journal of Botany 84: 478-482
- Wilson GWT, Hartnett DC (1998) Interspecific variation in plant responses to mycorrhizal colonization in tallgrass prairie. American Journal of Botany 85(12): 1732-1738
- Wilson GWT, Hartnett DC (1998) Interspecific variation in plant responses to mycorrhizal colonization in tallgrass prairie. American Journal of Botany 85: 1732-1738
- Wolfe BE, Weishampel PA, Klironomos JN (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and water table affect wetland plant community. Journal of Ecology 94: 905-914
- Wu B, Hogetsu T, Isobe K (2007) Community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a primary successional volcanic desert on the southeast slope of Mount Fuji. Mycorrhiza 17: 495-506
- Wubet T, Weiβ M, Kottke I, Teketay D, Oberwinkler F (2003) Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in *Prunus africana*, an endangered medicinal tree species in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. New Phytologist 161: 517-528
- Wyss P, Bonfante P (1993) Amplification of genomic DNA of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi by PCR using short arbitrary primers. Mycological Research 97: 1351-57
- Zbyszewski G, Medeiros AC, Ferreira OV, Assunção CT (1971) Carta Geológica de Portugal na escala de 1/50 000 - Notícia Explicativa da Folha Ilha Terceira. Serviços Geológicos de Portugal, Lisbon
- Zhang L, Zhang J, Christie P, Li X (2009) Effect of inoculation with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus Intraradices* on the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne Incognita* in cucumber. Journal of Plant Nutrition 32: 967-979.
- Zhu HH,Yao Q, Sun XT, Hu YL (2007) Colonization, ALP activity and plant growth promotion of native and exotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at low pH. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39: 942–950